LIPID PEROXIDATION: ENZYME - CATALYZED PEROXIDATION OF MEMBRANE LIPIDS AND THE ROLE OF CHELATED IRON

> Dissertation for the Degree of Ph. D. MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY JOHN A. BUEGE 1976



En 1 1 1996 SCP 2 5 1996

ABSTRACT

LIPID PEROXIDATION: ENZYME-CATALYZED PEROXIDATION OF MEMBRANE LIPIDS AND THE ROLE OF CHELATED IRON

By

John A. Buege

NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from rat liver was solubilized from the microsomal membrane with either bromelain or a crude pancreatic lipase. Lipase-solubilization of the enzyme was shown to be catalyzed by a protease contaminant of the lipase preparation, since protease inhibitors prevented solubilization. When the crude lipase preparation was subjected to gel filtration, the solubilizing activity was found only in the fractions containing protease activity. The bromelain solubilized enzyme was purified to homogeneity. An antibody directed against the purified NADPH-cytochrome c reductase inhibited both the enzyme's cytochrome c reducing activity and NADPH-dependent liver microsomal lipid peroxidation.

NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in lung microsomes was shown to occur much slower than NADPH-dependent peroxidation in liver microsomes. Since NADPH-cytochrome c reductase catalyzes NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in liver microsomes, the corresponding lung enzyme was purified and compared to the liver enzyme. Both enzymes had

John A. Buege

identical ionic strength optima and were equally inhibited in the reduction of cytochrome c and ferricyanide by antibody directed against the liver enzyme. Double diffusion immunoprecipitation on Ouchterlony plates of the detergent-solubilized liver and lung microsomes resulted in converging precipitin lines indicating similar antigenic sites. The molecular weights of the detergent-solubilized and bromelain-solubilized enzymes from both liver and lung microsomes were 79,000 and 71,000 daltons, respectively. Both enzymes were equally effective in catalyzing the peroxidation of liposomal membranes in the presence of NADPH and chelated Fe⁺⁺⁺.

Peroxidation in microsomes catalyzed by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase requires the presence of ADP chelated Fe^{+++} . However, ADP- Fe^{++} is much more effective than ADP- Fe^{+++} in catalyzing lipid peroxidation in the absence of enzyme, thus suggesting that the enzyme functions during lipid peroxidation to reduce ADP- Fe^{+++} . During the course of reductase catalyzed lipid peroxidation, lipid hydroperoxide levels build up early in the reaction, followed by a decrease in hydroperoxide levels, indicating that net breakdown of hydroperoxides is occurring.

Lipid peroxidation in liposomes catalyzed by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase and ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is greatly enhanced by the addition of Fe⁺⁺⁺ chelated by EDTA. However, EDTA-Fe⁺⁺, unlike ADP-Fe⁺⁺, has no ability to initiate lipid peroxidation in the absence of enzyme. In the presence of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ catalyzed the rapid breakdown of cumene hydroperoxides, probably through a lipid radical generating process. It is proposed that the enzyme-catalyzed reduction of

John A. Buege

ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ causes the initiation of NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation and that enzymatically reduced EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ greatly enhances lipid peroxidation via its interaction with lipid hydroperoxides to produce new lipid radicals.

Lactoperoxidase, in the presence of H_2O_2 and I^- , also catalyzes the peroxidation of microsomal and liposomal membranes. Fe⁺⁺⁺ is not required for the initiation of lipid peroxidation in this system, but does function to assist in the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides when the membranes are exposed to heat. The free radical trapper BHT abolishes the appearance of hydroperoxide breakdown products in liposomes and decreases their appearance in microsomes.

Lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation is not initiated by the formation of singlet oxygen, superoxide, hydroxyl radicals or triiodide, since scavengers of these species do not inhibit enzymecatalyzed lipid peroxidation. An oxidized product of I⁻ may be responsible for lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation.

The antibacterial activity of the lactoperoxidase, H₂O₂, I⁻ system is not mediated by the peroxidation of bacterial membrane lipids since antioxidants do not prevent lactoperoxidase-catalyzed bacterial killing. In addition, other lipid peroxide forming enzyme systems do not cause bacterial killing.

Soybean lipoxygenase catalyzes lipid hydroperoxide formation in γ -linolenic acid micelles and in detergent-solubilized microsomes and liposomes. In liposomes, the breakdown of lipoxygenase formed lipid hydroperoxides occurs primarily when the membranes are heated in the presence of Fe⁺⁺⁺. BHT blocks the appearance of lipid hydroperoxide

John A. Buege

breakdown products. In microsomes, a factor is present which facilitates the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides without the requirement for heat and Fe⁺⁺⁺.

Lipid hydroperoxides formed by lipoxygenase in microsomes interact with cytochrome P-450 to catalyze the metabolism of the drug, aminopyrine. Recent evidence suggests that cytochrome P-450 is the microsomal factor responsible for the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides during enzyme-catalyzed lipid peroxidation. The reduction of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase in liposomes may act to mimic the hydroperoxide breakdown function proposed for cytochrome P-450.

LIPID PEROXIDATION:

ENZYME-CATALYZED PEROXIDATION OF MEMBRANE LIPIDS

AND THE ROLE OF CHELATED IRON

By

John A. Buege

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to

Michigan State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Biochemistry

To Barbara

And My Parents

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to Dr. Steven D. Aust, my graduate research advisor, for his guidance, encouragement, and understanding, both within and outside of my scientific career. I would also like to express my thanks to the other members of my guidance committee, Drs. David D.McConnell, Michael W. Rathke, John C. Speck, Jr. and Willis A. Wood for their assistance throughout my graduate work at Michigan State University. My special thanks also goes to Dr. John E. Wilson for his help and encouragement at the beginning of my graduate studies. I would also like to acknowledge the collaborative assistance from my research colleagues, including Dr. Thomas Pederson, Dr. Ann Welton, Mr. Robert Moore, Mr. Fred O'Neal, Mr. Bruce Svingen, and Mrs. Poonsin Olson. Finally, I wish to express my thanks for the help and friendship I have received from the members of the Department of Biochemistry.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	٦
LITERATURE REVIEW	4
MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
Material Sources	21
Preparation of Rat Liver and Lung Microsomes	22
Lipase Solubilization of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase	22
Assay of Protease Activity	23
Assay of Lipase Activity	24
NADPH-Dependent Peroxidation of Membrane Lipids	24
Measurement of Lipid Hydroperoxides by the Iodometric Assay	25
Isolation and Measurement of Liver and Lung Microsomal NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase	26
Preparation of Antibody to Liver NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase	29
Ouchterlony Double Diffusion Analysis of the Antibody- Antigen Reaction	30
Immunoprecipitation of Liver and Lung Microsomal NADPH- Cytochrome c Reductase by Antibody	30
Sodium Dodecylsulfate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis	31
Assay of Lactoperoxidase Activity	31
Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Peroxidation of Membrane Lipids .	32
Purification of Superoxide Dismutase	32
Preparation of Bacteria	33
Determination of Bacterial Growth	34

Lipid Peroxidation Catalyzed by Lipoxygenase	34
Microsomal Drug Metabolism Assay	35
Other Methods	36
CHAPTER I. CHARACTERIZATION OF NADPH-DEPENDENT MICROSOMAL LIPID PEROXIDATION	37
The Solubilization of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase	37
Preparation of an Antibody to NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase .	43
Lung Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation	43
Isolation and Characterization of Lung Microsomal NADPH- Cytochrome c Reductase	48
The Mechanisms Involved in NADPH-Dependent Lipid Peroxidation	63
CHAPTER II. CHARACTERIZATION OF LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION	87
Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation During Iodina- tion of Membrane Protein	87
Optimum Condition for Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Peroxidation of Microsomal Membranes	89
Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in the Model System	101
The Effect of Fe ⁺⁺⁺ on Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation	107
The Effect of BHT on Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation	114
Reaction Mechanisms Capable of Promoting Lactoperoxidase- Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation	118
The Antimicrobial Activity of the Lactoperoxidase Lipid Peroxidation System	127
CHAPTER III. CHARACTERIZATION OF LIPID PEROXIDATION CATALYZED BY LIPOXYGENASE	133
Lipid Peroxidation Catalyzed by Lipoxygenase	133
Lipid Hydroperoxide Mediated Drug Metabolism	141

DISCUSSION	147
The Prooxidant Activity of Cytochrome P-450	147
The Peroxidase Activity of Cytochrome P-450	150
A Model for the Enzyme-Catalyzed Peroxidation of Membrane	
Lipids	151
SUMMARY	156
LIST OF REFERENCES	159
APPENDIX	175

LIST OF TABLES

TABL	.E	Page
1	The Effect of Soybean Trypsin inhibitor (STI) and Phenyl- methylsulfonylfluoride (PMSF) on the Solubilization of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase by Crude Pancreatic Lipase	40
2	NADPH-Dependent Lipid Peroxidation in Liver and Lung Microsomes	45
3	Effect of Microsomal Protein Concentration of Lipid Peroxidation	47
4	Lipid Peroxidation in Liposomes Catalyzed by Purified Liver and Lung NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase	62
5	NADPH-Dependent Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation as a Function of Added ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	69
6	The Effect of ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ on Ascorbate-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Liposomes	71
7	Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation Promoted by ADP-Fe ⁺⁺ or ADP-Fe ⁺⁺	72
8	The Effect of EDTA-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ on NADPH-Dependent Lipid Peroxi- dation in Liposomes	77
9	The Effect of ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ on Ascorbate- Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Liposomes	78
10	Effect of Various Fe ⁺⁺⁺ Chelators on NADPH-Dependent Lipid Peroxidation in Liposomes	80
11	Effect of Washing Microsomes on the Formation of Malondial- dehyde and Hydroperoxides in NADPH-Dependent Lipid Peroxidation	85
12	The Effect of H ₂ O ₂ Generation on Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Microsomes	93
13	The Effect of ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ and H_2O_2 on Liposomes	110
14	Effect of Catalase on Non-Enzymatic Lipid Peroxidation in Microsomes and Liposomes	114

TABLE

Page

15	The Effect of Adding ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ During or After Incubation of Membranes with the Lactoperoxidase Lipid Peroxidation System	115
16	The Effect of BHT on Membrane Lipid Peroxidation Catalyzed by Lactoperoxidase When Added After the Reaction Period	117
17	The Effect of Hydroxyl Radical Scavengers on Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation	123
18	The Effect of Singlet Oxygen Scavengers on Lactoperoxidase- Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation	125
19	Inhibition of Bacterial Growth by Lactoperoxidase, KI, and $H_2^{0}2$	130
20	The Effect of Peroxide Forming Systems on Bacterial Growth	131
21	Lipoxygenase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation of Linolenic Acid	136
22	The Effect of Detergent on Lipoxygenase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Microsomes and Liposomes	137
23	Conditions for Lipoxygenase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Microsomes	138
24	The Effect of Fe ⁺⁺⁺ and BHT on the Breakdown of Lipid Hydroperoxides formed by Lipoxygenase in Microsomes	140
25	The Effect of Fe ⁺⁺⁺ and BHT on the Breakdown of Hydroper- oxides Formed by Lipoxygenase in Liposomes	142
26	The Effect of Detergent-Solubilization of Microsomes on Both NADPH and Hydroperoxide-Dependent Drug Metabolism	144
27	Microsomal Drug Metabolism Catalyzed by Membrane Lipid Hydroperoxides	146

.

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGUR	Ε	Page
1	Standard Curve for Measuring Lipid Hydroperoxides by the Iodometric Assay	28
2	Gel Filtration of Crude Pancreatic Lipase on a Sephedex G-100 Column	42
3	Effect of Ionic Strength on the Activity of Purified NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase from Rat liver and Lung Microsomes	51
4	Inhibition of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase by Antibody to the Bromelain-Solubilized Liver Reductase	53
5	Inhibition by Antibody of the Activity of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase with Ferricyanide as the Terminal Electron Acceptor	55
6	Immunoprecipitation of the Antibody to Purified, Bromelain-Solubilized NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase from Rat Liver Microsomes with the Purified Reductase and with Detergent-Solubilized Microsomes from both Rat Liver and Lung on an Ouchterlony Double Diffusion Agar Plate	58
7	Sodium Dodecylsulfate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis Protein Profiles of Immunoprecipitates Formed from Sodium Deoxycholate-Solubilized Rat Liver and Lung Microsomes and the Reductase Antibody	60
8	Time Course of Hydroperoxide and Malondialdehyde Formation During NADPH-Dependent Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation	67
9	Time Course of Hydroperoxide and Malondialdehyde Formation During NADPH-Dependent Liposomal Lipid Peroxidation	75
10	The NADPH-Dependent Decomposition of Cumene Hydroperoxide in the Presence of Chelated Fe ⁺⁺⁺	83
11	Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Microsomes	91
12	Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation of Microsomal Lipid as a Function of Enzyme Concentration	95

FIGURE

13	Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation of Microsomal Lipids as a Function of KI Concentration	97
14	Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Microsomes as a Function of Added H ₂ O ₂	99
15	Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Liposomes	104
16	Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation of Liposomes as a Function of pH	106
17	Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in Liposomes as a Function of H ₂ 0 ₂ Concentration	109
18	Sodium Dodecylsulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis of Commercial Lipoxygenase	121
19	Reaction Mechanisms Involved in Microsomal and Liposomal Lipid Peroxidation Catalyzed by the NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase, Lipoxygenase, and Lactoperoxidase Systems	154

Page

ABBREVIATIONS

- ADP adenosine-5'-diphosphate
- BHA 2,6-di-tert-butylanisole
- BHT butylated hydroxytoluene
- CHP cumene hydroperoxide
- DBB o-dibenzoylbenzene
- DEAE- diethylaminoethyl-
- DOC sodium deoxycholate
- DPIF 1,3-diphenylisobenzofuran
- EDTA ethylenediaminetetracetate
- IgG immunoglobulin-G
- NADH reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
- NADPH reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NDHG nordihydroguarietic acid
- PMSF phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride
- SDS sodium dodecylsulfate
- STI soybean trypsin inhibitor
- TBA thiobarbituric acid
- TCA trichloroacetic acid
- TMPD N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine
- Tris Tris(hydroxymethyl) aminomethane

INTRODUCTION

Lipid peroxidation is an example of a biological, free radical process that is deleterious to living organisms. Damage to biological components, particularly unsaturated fatty acids, through a peroxidative attack by molecular oxygen has been implicated in a wide variety of pathological states and may be an integral part of the overall degenerative processes involved in aging. Both enzymatic and nonenzymatic initiators of lipid peroxidation have been discovered.

My interest in the processes involved in lipid peroxidation began in an effort to continue the work begun by Dr. Thomas Pederson on the characterization of NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in microsomes. It had been suggested that NADPH-dependent peroxidation of microsomal membrane lipids was enzymatically catalyzed by the flavoprotein, NADPH-cytochrome c reductase.

Chapter I deals with the study of the reaction mechanism involved in microsomal lipid peroxidation catalzyed by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase. This study was greatly faciliated by the development of an assay that would permit the detection of membrane lipid hydroperoxides. Prior to the development of this assay, the standard methodology for monitoring membrane lipid peroxidation permitted only the detection of the lipid peroxidation breakdown product, malondialdehyde. It could be demonstrated that malondialdehyde production was not always a valid indicator of the peroxidative events occurring during

membrane lipid peroxidation. Extensive use was also made of a model peroxidation system composed of artificial membranes containing lipids extracted from microsomal membranes. The use of the model peroxidation system permitted the precise examination of the factors involved in enzyme-catalyzed lipid peroxidation without interference from components present in the microsomal membrane.

A major problem in characterizing the mechanism involved in the initiation of enzyme-catalyzed lipid peroxidation was the catalytic, radical propagating interference demonstrated by free and chelated forms of metal ions. The NADPH-dependent peroxidation system appeared to require chelated forms of ferric ion for the initiation of membrane lipid peroxidation. The ferric ions also contributed to the free radical, chain propagation processes involved in lipid peroxidation, thus making the study of the initiation phase of the peroxidation reaction difficult. Chapters II and III deal with the characterization and the subsequent use of two new lipid peroxidation catalyzing enzyme systems to study the initiation phase of enzyme-catalyzed lipid peroxidation. Neither enzyme system appeared to require chelated metals for the initiation of membrane lipid peroxidation. It was possible, through the use of free radical trappers and metal chelators, to separate the events occurring in the initiation phase of lipid peroxidation from events occurring in later phases of lipid peroxidation.

Recent evidence is examined concerning the possible involvement of a major hemoprotein constituent of microsomes, namely cytochrome P-450, in the overall control and propagation of microsomal lipid peroxidation. A comparative study of the enzyme-catalyzed peroxidation

of microsomal membranes versus liposomal membranes permits the assignment of a new, participating role for cytochrome P-450 in microsomal membrane lipid peroxidation.

LITERATURE REVIEW

A characteristic property of unstaturated fatty acids is that in the presence of free radical initiators and molecular oxygen, they undergo oxidative deterioration (1-4). Membranes are particularly susceptible to peroxidative attack since they contain a large amount of unsaturated lipid and are bathed in an oxygen-rich, metal containing fluid (5, 6). Oxidation of unsaturated lipid involved the formation of semistable peroxides from the reaction between lipid radicals and molecular oxygen (7). The simplified scheme below illustrates the reactions leading to the formation of lipid peroxides, starting with the abstraction of a hydrogen from the lipid chain (8, 9).



Unsaturated fatty acids are usually considered the site of initiation of lipid radical formation since the divinyl methane group of the fatty acid chain is particularly susceptible to hydrogen abstraction (9-11).



The lipid radical resulting from hydrogen abstraction readily reacts with oxygen to yield a peroxy radical. Uri (7) points out that this

reaction proceeds so quickly that termination of the peroxy radical brought about by a bimolecular collision is unlikely, if oxygen is present in sufficient amount. The peroxy radical formed can abstract a hydrogen atom from a neighboring lipid to produce a lipid hydroperoxide plus another lipid radical, thus propagating the radical chain reaction (7). Lipid hydroperoxides can also form radicals either by homolytic scission (12-14);

LOOH
$$\longrightarrow$$
 LO· + ·OH

or by bimolecular recombination (15-17).

The latter two reactions are less likely to occur in biological tissues because of competition for the hydroperoxide by other oxidizable species (18). One group of oxidizable species commonly associated with lipid membranes is free or chelated metals. Metals undergo univalent redox coupling with hydroperoxides to produce radicals (12, 19-22).

Once initiated, lipid peroxidation in biological membranes could become autocatalytic and proceed until the lipid substrate was exhausted, except for the presence of tissue components which prematurely terminate the chain reaction (23-24). Water and lipid soluble radical scavengers, proteins, and nucleic acids all react with lipid radicals to interrupt the radical chain reaction. In addition, lipid radicals interact to produce non-radical recombination products (9, 25-28).



Therefore, the extent of lipid peroxidation depends on the factors governing the initiation, propagation, and termination of the radical reactions involved.

Initiation of lipid peroxidation may occur through an autoxidative attack on unsaturated fatty acids by molecular oxygen, or by formation of free radical initiators by enzymatic or non-enzymatic reactions (28-35). Compounds with allylic or benzylic hydrogens are readily oxidized by molecular oxygen to form hydroperoxides in fairly good yields (18).



This is not surprising since molecular oxygen has the electronic distribution of a diradical (36).

In addition to direct interaction of oxygen with unsaturated lipids, non-enzymatic mechanisms exist that result in initiation of lipid peroxidation via radical formation. Ionizing radation produces cation radicals and electrons as primary products, which decay to produce a variety of charged or neutral radicals (37-40). Irradiation can initiate radical reaction <u>in vivo</u>, which lead to peroxidation of unsaturated fatty acids (9, 41, 42). The primary initiation reaction <u>in vivo</u> appears to be one in which electrons, hydrogen atoms and hydroxy radicals produced by radiolysis of water react with cell constituents (43). Photolysis of chemical bonds can also produce radicals (44). In animals, individuals with light pigmentation may be particularly sensitive to sunlight. The accelerated aging of human skin in areas exposed to sunlight is a result of direct photolysis and photoinitiated autoxidation of collagen (45). Alcohols and ethers are photooxidized fairly readily by ketonic sensitizers. These reactions are probably initiated through hydrogen abstraction by sensitized ketones, resulting in free radicals (48). The resulting radicals can then react with olefins containing allylic hydrogens, as in unsaturated lipids, to give lipid radicals (49). In addition to light stimulated radical production, lipid hydroperoxides can be formed by another photodynamic process. Fatty acids and cholesterol have been shown to give photooxidation products, including hydroperoxides, in which the double bond shifts to the allylic position during an attack on the lipid by photodynamically produced singlet oxygen (50, 51).

Lipid peroxidation catalyzed by either the photoproduction of radicals or singlet oxygen is probably the cause of damage to membranes commonly reported as a result of photooxidation (52-54).

Ozone, at levels present in normal air (0.01-0.02 ppm), initiates autoxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids <u>in vivo</u> (30, 55). The peroxidation of linolenic acid exposed to 0.02 ppm ozone occurs substantially faster than control lipids exposed to pure air (43). The observed autoxidation was inhibited by radical scavengers, such a 2,6-di-tert-butylanisole (BHA) and α -tocopherol. Although ozone, unlike oxygen, does not display the characteristics of a diradical, it

does react with virtually every type of organic molecule to produce radicals (43, 56). The reaction mechanism by which ozone reacts with aldehydes, alkanes, and amines consistently includes the proposal of a radical intermediate. The reaction of ozone with polyunsaturated fatty acids yields an esr signal indicating the presence of a radical (57).

Nitrogen dioxide, like ozone, is present in normal air and is an important pollutant in smog (58, 59). It is a free radical sufficiently stable to exist in high concentrations but reactive enough to initiate free radical chain reactions. It can initiate autoxidation of olefins at levels as low as 0.1 ppm (60). Like ozone, it appears to exert its physiological effect, at least in part, by initiating radical reactions (61). Vitamin E protects rats against damage caused by exposure to nitrogen dioxide (62) and the esr signal observed in radical reactions is present when olefins react with nitrogen dioxide (63, 64).

Chlorinated hydrocarbons, such as chloroform and carbon tetrachloride, cause toxic reaction <u>in vivo</u> that are mediated by radical formation (6, 65, 66). Although these compounds are considered stable and not likely to undergo unimolecular homolysis at biological temperatures, they do appear to react with enzymes of the liver to produce radicals. Carbon tetrachloride, when added to microsomes in the presence of NADPH, results in an increase in lipid peroxidation. Recknagel suggests that the microsomal NADPH-dependent drug metabolism system forms CCl₃. radicals via the metabolism of carbon tetrachloride. These radicals subsequently attack lipid molecules and initate lipid peroxidation (67).

Ethanol metabolism may also result in free radical production. DiLuzio demonstrated that concomitant oral administration of ethanol and an antioxidant mixture containing BHT, BHA, and propyl gallate, protected rats against increased liver fat (68, 69). Since ethanol intoxication results in increased peroxide content in liver extracts, it was concluded that ethanol damage to liver occurs via lipid peroxidation (70, 71).

Metal ions (e.g. Cu^{+2} , Fe^{+2}), particularly in the presence of reducing agents like ascorbate and cysteine, catalyze an increase in lipid peroxidation (73-75). This non-enzymatic reaction may proceed via the production of perhydroxy radicals (H0₂·) or its anion ($0\frac{-}{2}$) via the interaction of reduced metal ions and molecular oxygen (6).

Enzymatic reactions are also known to produce radicals, which can diffuse from the enzyme's surface before they are oxidized or reduced to an even electron species (76). Sequential, one electron transfers resulting in a transient radical, may be an intermediate step in many two electron transfer reactions (77). The NAD \cdot radical can be produced by one electron oxidation of NADH as well as the one electron reduction of NAD⁺ (78, 79). Oxygen may react with NAD \cdot by a simple one electron transfer to produce superoxide (78).

 $\text{NAD} \cdot + \text{O}_2 \longrightarrow \text{NAD}^+ + \text{O}_2^-$

A one electron internal transfer has been postulated for the oxidation of reduced cytochrome c. The one electron oxidation results in the formation of a ferrocytochrome II cation radical with the odd electron located in the porphyrin ring (80). An electron transfer follows, resulting in ferricytochrome c.

$$Fe^{II}$$
 Cyt c $\xrightarrow{-e^{-}}$ [Fe^{II} Cyt c][†] \longrightarrow Fe^{III} Cyt c

Cyclic oxidation and reduction of the flavin coenzymes of the electron transport chains in intracellular organelles may result in flavin semiguinone radicals (81-83).

$$\mathsf{FH} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{H}} \mathsf{FH}_2 \xrightarrow{\mathsf{H}} \mathsf{FH}_3$$

Evidence exists that indicates that chelated metals effect the equilibrium between quinones and hydroquinones, and semiquinone radicals. Chelated metals strongly favor the existence of the semiquinone radical (84, 85).

Enzymes that have been demonstrated to mediate lipid peroxidation <u>in vitro</u> included NADPH-cytochrome c reductase (86-39), NADH-cytochrome b_5 reductase (87), xanthine oxidase (88-92), lipoxygenase (93-95), superoxide dismutase (96) and lactoperoxidase (97). Although the mechanisms of action of these peroxide forming reactions are not clearly understood, it is likely that the transfer of electrons resulting in the formation of radicals in involved in all these enzyme systems.

Once initiation of lipid peroxidation has begun, autocatalytic radical chain reactions occur. The radical propagation involved in lipid peroxidation, in which the net number of radicals in conserved, can be divided into three reaction types (30, 55, 98).

atom transfers
$$R \cdot + R'H \longrightarrow RH + R' \cdot$$
additions $R' \cdot + R_2 - C - CH_2 \longrightarrow R_2 - C - CH_2 - R'$ β scission $R - C - 0 \cdot \longrightarrow R - C - 0 + R' \cdot$ R' $R - C - 0 \cdot \longrightarrow R - C - 0 + R' \cdot$

Atom transfer is the most common radical reaction and virtually all radical reaction systems demonstrate this reaction (43). In autoxidation of lipids, hydrogen abstraction is an important part of the chain propagation reaction (27, 43).

L00 · + LH -----→ L00H + L ·

Under conditions where oxygen is abundant, the concentration of lipid peroxy radicals in high.

In the autoxidation of methyl linolenate, the rate of hydrogen abstraction by methyl linolenate peroxy radical is seven orders of magnitude greater than the rate for the bimolecular, self-annihilation reaction between two peroxy radicals (27).

Metals also contribute to radical chain propagation by reacting with lipid hydroperoxides and lipid radicals to produce more radicals. Metals accelerate autoxidation in a complex series of reactions leading to the transfer of electrons between lipid molecules. The ferrous ion catalyzed decomposition of hydrogen peroxide (Fenton's system) illustrates this point (18, 35, 98-100):

 $Fe^{++} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow Fe^{+++} + OH^- + OH^ Fe^{+++} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow Fe^{+++} + HO_2^{-} + H^+$ $Fe^{++} + OH^{-} \longrightarrow Fe^{+++} + OH^ Fe^{+++} + HO_2^{-} \longrightarrow Fe^{+++} + HO_2^{-}$ $Fe^{+++} + HO_2^{-} \longrightarrow Fe^{++} + O_2^{-} + H^+$ $OH^{-} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow Fe^{++} + O_2^{-} + H_2O$ $O_2^{-} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow O_2^{-} + OH^- + OH^{-}$

Hematin and hemoproteins also accelerate lipid peroxidation, but are not thought to be involved in initiation of peroxidation (55, 101-103). Many transition metal complexes which occur in cells <u>in vivo</u> catalyze the decomposition of lipid hydroperoxides (104, 105). <u>In vitro</u> studies of the autoxidation of cell membranes also indicate that metal containing compounds act as prooxidants in lipid peroxidation (106, 107). Finally, many of the symptoms of iron toxicity are similar to those conditions produced by conditions leading to <u>in vivo</u> lipid peroxidation (108, 109).

Metals may also enhance lipid autoxidation in a manner not directly dependent upon radical propagation. Experiments with autoxidized blood plasma lipids indicate that chemiluminescence results upon addition of transition metals to the peroxidizing system (110). The resulting chemiluminescence is also observed in microsomes and mitochondria when NADPH plus ferric ion or ferrous ion are used to promote lipid peroxidation (111, 112). These findings have led to the belief that metals react with lipid hydroperoxides to produce electronically excited species. Singlet oxygen (88) and excited, triplet carbonyl functions (113) have been proposed as the light emitting species. Both of these excited species are capable of interacting with unsaturated lipids to produce more hydroperoxides (114).

In view of the damaging effect radicals can have on biological systems, it is not surprising that mechanisms exist for the termination of radical-catalyzed chain reactions. As in all radical reactions, termination of free radicals may occur through collision of two radical species (25, 26). In membrane lipid peroxidation, collision of two lipid radicals would result in cross-links between lipid chains. This

could be particularly destructive, since covalent bonds between lipid chains would drastically effect the structure and properties of the membrane (115-118).

A number of endogenous substances exist <u>in vivo</u> that, at physiological concentrations, act to terminate radical processes. Watersoluble radical scavengers include vitamin C, thio containing compounds, proteins, and purine bases (119, 120). Vitamin C is commonly used as a food preservative and acts to trap two radicals in a two electron sequential reduction to form dihydroascorbate (121, 122).

Thio compounds are well known scavengers of radicals (6). Thio compounds interrupt radical processes by acting as hydrogen donors, followed by dimerization.

 $2RSH + 2L \cdot \longrightarrow 2RS \cdot \longrightarrow RSSR + 2LH$

Cysteinamine, glutathione, ergothioneine and related thios all impart radical scavenging activity (6). The sulfhydryl groups present in proteins may function in the same manner. It is noteworthy that glutathione also functions to inhibit lipid peroxidation in the presence of glutathione peroxidase. Glutathione peroxidase reduces lipid peroxides to alcohols by oxidizing reduced glutathione (23).

Purine bases may also play a role in controlling radical reactions. Uric acid, inosine and RNA have all been shown to inhibit lipid autoxidation of linolenic acid <u>in vitro</u> (124, 125). The high concentration of inosine found in the endoplasmic reticulum suggests that inosine functions to protect this membrane from peroxidative attack (126). A number of antioxidants present in plants may act as radical scavengers when ingested by animals. Gallic acid, eugenol, and nordihydroguarietic acid (NDHG) all act as plant-derived radical scavengers (6). NDHG is commonly used as a food preservative in lard, oil, and baking mixes (6).

Animals also possess a number of lipid-soluble antioxidants. Vitamin E (α tocopherol) is perhaps the most studied lipid-soluble antioxidant (127-128). It has been shown to inhibit <u>in vitro</u> lipid peroxidation. Vitamin E deficiency <u>in vivo</u> increases lipid peroxidation in erythrocytes, adipose and adrenals exposed to hyperoxia (129).

Ubiquinone, from the mitochondrial respiratory chain, acts to terminate free radical reactions. Like many of the quinones, it acts as an antioxidant and, when administered to rats, protects against ethanol induced fatty livers (130). Ubiquinol-6 is as effective as α tocopherol at inhibiting free radical reactions (131).

Carotenes also protect against radical mediated reactions. Forbes and Taliaferro (132) demonstrated that rats maintained on diets rich in carotenes were protected against carbon tetrachloride-induced liver injury, which is mediated by lipid peroxidation. β Carotene has been used to inhibit <u>in vitro</u>, enzymatic lipid peroxidation in microsomes (88).

Exogenous antioxidants are commonly ingested as additives to food stuffs. BHT, BHA, propyl gallate, ethoxyquin, and NDHG are commonly used as food preservatives to prevent oxidative deterioration in lipidrich foods (6). Some foods are particularly susceptible to changes in flavor, color and odor due to peroxidation, because of the high fat and chelated metal content (133).

Drug antioxidants like chloropromazine are very effective lipid radical scavengers, since they are lipid soluble and likely to penetrate lipid membranes (134, 135).

The inhibition of lipid peroxidation by the previously mentioned antioxidants is generally accomplished through the antioxidants' ability to form stable, non-reactive radicals or by hydrogen donation by one of the following pathways (6).

$$L00 \cdot + AH_2 \longrightarrow L00H + AH \cdot$$

$$2AH \cdot \longrightarrow AH_2 + A$$

$$Or$$

$$L00 \cdot + AH \cdot \longrightarrow A + L00H$$

Lipid hydroperoxides are intermediate products of lipid peroxidation, and their breakdown leads to a variety of secondary products, such as volatiles, polymers, and oxygenated compounds (136). Hydroperoxide breakdown can proceed by either homolytic or heterolytic mechanisms. Metal-catalyzed homolytic cleavage of hydroperoxides is common in foods, where transition metals and metaloproteins are abundant (137). The ferrous ion induced decomposition of purified linoleic acid hydroperoxides results in the production of at least 20 detectible compounds, including alcohols, ketones, and ethers (12). When polyunsaturated fatty acids with three or more methylene interruped double bonds undergo autoxidation, a breakdown product is formed which reacts with thiobarbiture acid (TBA) to give a colored chromophore (10, 138, 139). This product has been identified as malondialdehyde and is derived from lipid endoperoxides (11, 140).

Detection of malondialdehyde via the reaction with thiobarbituric acid is a commonly used assay for lipid peroxidation. An intermediate in the formation of malondialdehyde from lipid endoperoxides is a prostaglandin-like compound. In purified lipid emulsions, this prostaglandinlike compound decomposes to yield malondialdehyde both thermally and under the mild acid conditions of the TBA assay (11).

In biologically active materials, hydroperoxides are also degraded enzymatically by mechanisms which are little understood (136). The liver cytosol and the mitrochondrial matrix in animals contain the previously mentioned hydroperoxide metabolizing enzyme, glutathione peroxidase (123, 141). Hydroperoxide isomerase in plants metabolizes hydroperoxides to α ketols (142, 143). Flour-water suspensions contain an enzyme that converts lipid hydroperoxides to epoxides (144, 145), while an enzyme found in potato tubers converts peroxides to vinyl ethers (146).

The major sites within a cell that are susceptible to lipid peroxidation are the biomembranes, especially those of the subcellular organelles. Membrane associated enzymes and proteins are particularly susceptible to oxidative damage during lipid peroxidation. Among the consequences of lipid peroxidation on membrane associated proteins are: loss of enzyme activity (147), loss of solubility due to aggregation or complex formation (148), chain scission (149), as well as loss of specific amino acids. Cysteine, lysine, histidine, and methionine are particularly susceptible (150, 151). The inactivation of sulfhydryl containing amino acids usually occurs through the formation of crosslinks (152). Polymers of cross-linked protein are formed when human serum albumin is stored (153). This is not surprising since 25% of the

fatty acids bound to human serum albumin are unsaturated and susceptible to autoxidation. The cross-linked serum albumin also exhibits a fluorescence absent in freshly prepared samples. This fluorescence has been observed in lipid-protein systems undergoing lipid peroxidation (154). When freshly prepared serum albumin was exposed to either peroxidized linoleic acid or to carbonyl compounds similar to those produced during the breakdown of lipid peroxides, the fluorescent spectra resulted. It was subsequently demonstrated that amines and imines present in lysine and histidine react with lipid peroxidation breakdown products, including malondialdehyde, to produce fluorescent chromophores. Biologically important amines like RNA, DNA, and phospholipids form cross-links with malondialdehyde and other carbonyl compounds produced during lipid peroxidation to form fluorescent chromophores with Shiff base structures (155).

R - N = CH - CH = CH - NH - R

These fluorescent lipid-protein pigments accumulate in animals and are called lipofusin, ceroid, or aging pigments (156, 157). Lipofusin pigments are especially found in heart and brain and their formation is a function of age, oxidative stress, and antioxidant deficiency (8).

Reichel studied the correlation between the appearance of lipofusin pigments and age in rat testes (158). The increased appearance of lipofusin pigments in testes was found to be proportional to age. When rats were fed a diet supplimented with vitamin E, methionine, and BHT, a 44% reduction in the appearance of lipofusin pigments was observed.

<u>In vitro</u>, factors which promote lipid peroxidation can be shown to cause damage to lipid-protein membrane preparations. When ascorbate and ferrous ions were incubated with erythrocytes a rapid breakdown of the membranes occurred (6). Ionizing radiation and the radical initiator, dialuric acid, also increased erythrocyte hemolysis (159, 160). Hemolysis paralleled the formation of malondialdyhyde. Antioxidants like α tocopherol and BHT prevented hemolysis. These findings have led others to suspect that the use of hyperoxia as a clinical treatment may increase peroxidative damage to erythrocytes, since lipid peroxidation increases in vitro with increased oxygen partial pressure (129).

Erythrocytes are also sensitive to light. When erythrocytes were incubated with small amounts of photosensitizers, like Rose Bengal, Eosin, or Neutral red, in the presence of light of a wavelength greater than 350 nm, hemolysis occurred within minutes (161).

Isolated mitochondria, like erythrocytes, are adversely effected by ferrous ions and reducing agents. Mitochondrial swelling, which parallels lipid peroxidation, produces irreversible damage under these conditions (162).

Waldschmidt <u>et al</u>. (163) demonstrated that freshly prepared mitochondria contained a large number of free radical centers, as indicated by esr signals. The number of free radical centers increased with increasing age of the animal and could be decreased in numbers by inhibitors of mitochondrial respiration. Such centers probably arise from the transfer of electrons from the respiratory chain to radical forming species. Pacer <u>et al</u>. (162) demonstrated that NADPH increased mitochondrial lipid peroxidation and that cyanide and azide inhibited lipid peroxidation.

Hyperbaric pressure also increases the appearance of malondialdehyde in mitochondria, either in organ cultures or in suspension (164).
The increase in lipid peroxidation was largely prevented by addition of EDTA to the medium.

The endoplasmic reticulum is particularly susceptible to lipid peroxidation owing to the high concentrations of $C_{20:4}$ and $C_{22:6}$ unsaturated fatty acids. Microsomes from liver, kidney, and brain all undergo lipid peroxidation at 37° C, especially in the presence of cell sap or ferrous ions (6). Microsomal peroxidation is inhibited by metal chelators, antioxidants, and inhibitors of cytochrome P-450 (75). NADPH greatly stimulates microsomal lipid peroxidation (165) and carbon tetrachloride further increases lipid peroxidation in the presence of NADPH (166).

Recent evidence indicates that paraquat (methyl viologen) induced pulmonary lesions in mammals result from paraquat mediated lipid peroxidation (167, 168). NADPH is required and both superoxide dismutase and singlet oxygen scavengers inhibit peroxidation. NADPH-cytochrome c reductase was shown to mediate the paraquat-induced peroxidation (169, 170).

When microsomal membranes are incubated with ascorbate and ferrous ions, glucose 6 phosphatase activity decreases as lipid peroxidation increases (171). The loss of activity of the enzyme results as a consequence of the loss of membrane structure essential for the enzyme's activity. Amino acid incorporation into rough endoplasmic reticulum in vitro is also inhibited concurrent with lipid peroxidation (172).

Hatefi and Hansten (173) have studied the effect of chaotrophic agents on mitochondria and microsomes. Their results indicate that the destructive processes that promote lipid peroxidation are built into the machinery of these two organelles. Under normal conditions,

molecular oxygen cannot find access to the membrane lipids to catalyze autoxidation. However, under conditions which lead to the destabilization of the membrane, such as addition of chaotrophic agents, lipid peroxidation occurs. α Tocopherol and metal chelators protect the destabilized membranes from peroxidative damage.

Desai has studied the effect of ultra violet radiation on lysosomal membranes. A correlation was observed between lipid peroxidation, free radical production, and release of lysosomal enzymes (174). A similar release of enzymes was observed with exposure of lysosomes to γ -radiation. Fong <u>et al</u>. (91) have demonstrated that incubation of lysosomes with enzyme systems known to promote lipid peroxidation results in release of acid phosphatase. The xanthine:xanthine oxidase peroxidation system and the NADPH-cytochrome c reductase system both cause peroxidation to damage to lysosomes and the release of acid phosphatase.

Lysosomes contain large amounts of lipofusin pigments. It has been proposed that lysosomes engulf lipid-rich particles and that these particles slowly peroxidize. Lysosomes particularly rich in lipofusin pigments have low levels of acid phosphatase, suggesting that hydroperoxide breakdown products cross-link with lysosomal enzymes to produce lipofusin pigments. Lysosomal lipofusin pigments stain histochemically for acid phosphatase. Goldfischer <u>et al</u>. (176) have suggested that lipid peroxidation in lysosomes is accelerated when heme-rich mitrochondria or microsomes are engulfed, owing to the prooxidant properties of hemes and chelated metals.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Material Sources:

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (225-250 g) were obtained from Spartan Research Animals, Inc., Haslett, Michigan. Rats were fasted for 24 hours before sacrifice.

Lactoperoxidase (milk), lipoxygenase (soybean), glucose oxidase (Sigma type II), and catalase (beef liver) were obtained from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, Missouri. Bromelain was obtained as a gift from the Dole Company, Honolulu, Hawaii. Lipase (pancreatic) was obtained from Nutritional Biochemistry Company, Cleveland, Ohio.

A stock culture of <u>Escherichia coli</u> was obtained from Mr. William Litchfield, Department of Biochemistry, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan.

ADP (Sigma fermentation grade), cytochrome c (Sigma type IV), ascorbate, butylated hydroxytoluene, o-dianisidine (dihydrochloride), EDTA, Coomassie blue, dithiothieitol, heparin (Grade I), Y-linolenic acid, D-mannitol, NADPH, sodium dodecyl sulfate, phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride, trypsin inhibitor (soybean), thiobarbituric acid, Tween 20, and Tris base were obtained from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, Missouri. 1,3-Diphenylisobenzofuran was obtained from Aldrich Chemical Company, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Freund's adjuvant (complete) and agar (special Noble grade) were obtained from Difco Laboratories, Detroit, Michigan. Trypticase soy broth and trypticase soy agar were obtained

from BBL, Division of Becton-Dickerson Company, Cockeysville, Maryland. Phenobarbitol was obtained from Merck and Company, Inc., Rahway, New Jersey. Aminopyrine and cumene hydroperoxide were obtained from K and K Laboratories, Plainview, New York. Casein (Hammersten) was obtained from Schwartz Bioresearch Inc., Orangeburg, New York. Phenol reagent was obtained from Harleco, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

Preparation of Rat Liver and Lung Microsomes:

Liver microsomes were isolated from perfused rat livers as previously described (177). Lung microsomes from the same animals were obtained by a similar procedure with slight modifications. Lung from male rats (225-250 g) were removed, blotted dry, and weighed. The weighed lung tissue was cut into fine pieces with scissors and homogenized in 4 volumes of 1.15% KCl, 0.2% nicotinamide, using 9 passes of a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer with Teflon pestle. The homogenate was centrifuged at 9,000 x g for 20 minutes. The supernatant was carefully decanted and centrifuged at $105,000 \times q$ for 90 minutes. The microsomal pellets from both liver and lung were washed by resuspending the pellets in 0.3 M sucrose, 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate, pH 7.5 and recentrifuging at 105,000 x g for 90 minutes. Microsomes thus obtained were resuspended by homogenization and stored at -20° C under N₂ in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, containing 50% glycerol. The average yield of microsomal protein per 250 g rat was 128 mg for liver tissue and 4 mg for lung tissue.

Lipase Solubilization of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase:

A crude pancreatic lipase preparation has previously been used to release NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from the microsomal membrane surface (178). Crude pancreatic lipase was subjected to gel filtration and the eluting fractions tested for their ability to solubilize NADPHcytochrome c reductase. Lipase was dissolved in 0.1 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.5 at a concentration of 20 mg/ml. One ml of the lipase was applied to a Sephadex G-100 column (20 x 250 mm) and 1.2 ml fractions were collected. Aliquots (0.05 mls) from each column fraction were mixed with 10 mg microsomal protein in 1.95 ml of 0.05 M Tris-HCl, then diluted with ice-cold 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and centrifuged at 105,000 x g for 90 minutes. The supernatant was decanted and the pellet resuspended in Tris buffer. NADPH-cytochrome c reductase activity was assayed in both supernatant and microsomal fractions and the percent of the enzyme solubilized was calculated. NADPH-cytochrome c reductase was assayed as described under "Methods."

Assay of Protease Activity:

Protease activity was measured by following the increase in TCAsoluble peptides released from casein. Casein (3.0 mg) in 1.0 ml of 0.1 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.5, was mixed with enzyme (in 0.05 ml) and incubated for six minutes in a 37° C water bath. The reaction was terminated by the addition of an equal volume of 10% TCA. The mixture was mixed and centrifuged for 20 minutes at 1,000 x g. One ml of the supernatant was neutralized by the addition of 2.0 ml of 0.5 N NaOH followed by 0.6 ml of 1 N phenol reagent. The solution was mixed well and allowed to stand for 30 minutes at room temperature. The absorbance of the solution at 750 nm was determined against a blank containing all the reagents except enzyme. Protease activity was expressed as μ moles of TCA-soluble tyrosine equivalents released per mg casein per minute.

Assay of Lipase Activity:

Lipase activity was assayed by monitoring the enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis and release of fatty acids from a solution of Tween 20. Five ml of a solution of 2.0% Tween 20 in 0.05 M sodium acetate, pH 7.7 at 25° C, was placed in the reaction vessel of a Radiometer, Type III titrigraph with mechanical stirrer. Enzyme (0.05 ml) was added to the Tween 20 and the release of fatty acids recorded by titrating the solution automatically with 0.02 N NaOH. Lipase activity was expressed as μ equivalents of free fatty acids released per minutes.

NADPH-Dependent Peroxidation of Membrane Lipids:

NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation of microsomal membranes was assayed as follows. Microsomes (1.0 mg protein/ml) were incubated in a Dubnoff shaker at 37° C with 0.1 mM ADP, 0.1 mM FeCl₃, and 0.2 mM NADPH in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4. The reaction was initiated by the addition of NADPH. The extent of lipid peroxidation was determined by removing 1.0 aliquots at various time intervals and measuring either the amount of hydroperoxides present of the amount of malondialdehyde formed.

NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in liposomes was determined as follows. Liposomes, prepared from extracted microsomal lipids, were prepared as previously described (87). The amount of lipid phosphate present was determined according to Bartlett (179). Liposomes (0.5 μ moles lipid phosphate/ml) were incubated in a Dubnoff shaker at 37° C with 0.1 mM ADP, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.2 mM FeCl₃, purified NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, and 0.2 mM NADPH in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4. The reaction was initiated by the addition of NADPH.

Malondialdehyde formation in both microsomes and liposomes was determined as previously described (86). The malondialdehyde

concentration of the sample was calculated using an extinction coefficient of 1.56 x $10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$. Lipid hydroperoxide concentrations were determined as described below.

Measurement of Lipid Hydroperoxides by the Iodometric Assay:

Reduction of hydroperoxides by iodide is a useful tool in determining the amount of lipid hydroperoxides present in a membrane sample. The procedure is based on the ability of I^{-} to reduce peroxides by the following reaction (23):

 $ROOH + 3I^{-} + 2H^{+} \longrightarrow ROH + H_2O + I_3^{-}$

Under the conditions of the assay used here, only lipid hydroperoxides react with I^{-} , thus excluding from the reaction the endoperoxides that break down to form malondialdehyde. The amount of hydroperoxides present in a membrane sample was determined by extracting the membrane lipids from the aqueous reaction mixture followed by reacting the lipids with iodide. One ml of reaction mixture was added to 5.0 ml of chloroform: methanol (2:1) and vortexed for one minute. The mixture was centrifuged in a clinical centrifuge for one minute to accelerate the separation of the two layers. Most of the upper, aqueous layer was aspirated, and 3.0 ml of the lower, chloroform layer was removed using a syringe and placed in a small test tube. The chloroform was evaporated off under a stream of N_2 . While still under a stream of N_2 , 1.0 ml of acetic acid: chloroform (3:2) was added to the dried lipid residue, followed immediately by 0.05 ml of KI (1.2 g/ml H_2 0). The solution was stoppered and quickly mixed and placed in the dark for exactly five minutes. At the end of this time, 3.0 ml of 0.5% cadmium

acetate was added and mixed, followed by centrifugation at 1,000 x g for ten minutes. The absorbance at 353 nm of the upper layer was determined against a reagent blank obtained in the same manner but minus lipid. Standardization of the reaction was accomplished by the use of known quantities of cumene hydroperoxide. The standard curve is shown in Figure 1. At hydroperoxide concentrations less than 150 nmoles per assay, the standard curve is linear with a slope of 0.0076 absorbance units per nmole hydroperoxide in the sample.

<u>Isolation and Measurement of Liver and Lung Microsomal NADPH-Cytochrome</u> <u>c Reductase</u>:

Liver and lung microsomes were isolated as described under "Methods." The microsomal NADPH-cytochrome c reductase activity was isolated and purified by a method employing bromelain digestion of the microsomes, followed by gel filtration on Sephadex G-100 and affinity chromatography on DEAE cellulose (87). Both liver and lung reductase were assayed for their ability to reduce cytochrome c as follows. The reaction mixture contained 0.075 mM cytochrome c, 0.1 mM NADPH, and purified liver or lung NADPH-cytochrome c reductase in 0.3 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.5 at 25° C. Absorbance measurements at 550 nm were made on a Perkin-Elmer model 124 spectrophotometer using a reagent blank missing only the reductase. The rate is expressed as nmoles of cytochrome c reduced per minute using an extinction coefficient of 2.10 x $10^4 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ (180). One unit of activity is defined as one nmole of cytochrome c reduced per minute.

STANDARD CURVE FOR MEASURING LIPID HYDROPEROXIDES BY THE IODOMETRIC ASSAY. Figure 1.

The absorbance at 353 nm was determined using known quantities of cumene hydroperoxide and the method described under "Methods".



Absorbance, 353 nm

Preparation of Antibody to Liver NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase:

An adult, male rabbit was immunized with purified reductase in the following manner. Three, weekly, cutaneous injections of 0.85 mg reductase were administered to the rabbit in the abdomen and footpads. The reductase, in 50% Freund's complete adjuvant, was injected in 6.0, 2.0, and 1.0 ml volumes in the first, second and third weeks, respectively. A booster injection (1.0 mg) was administered one month after the third injection. Ten days after the last injection, blood was obtained by making a one-quarter inch cut into an ear vein and collecting 40 ml of blood. The rabbit was bled every five days (40 ml) for the next two weeks.

Serum was separated from whole blood by allowing the blood to clot at room temperature for four hours. The serum was collected by centrifuging the clotted blood at 1,000 x g for 20 minutes and decanting the serum.

The immunoglobulin G (IgG) fraction from both immune and preimmune serum was prepared as follows. The serum was made 1.75 M ammonium sulfate by slowly adding finely ground ammonium sulfate over a period of 30 minutes to the serum while stirring on ice. The mixture was centrifuged at 27,000 x g for ten minutes and the supernatant decanted. The pellet was resuspended to its original volume in 0.015 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.85 and the ammonium sulfate precipitation repeated. The resulting precipitate was resuspended in 0.015 M sodium phosphate pH 7.85 and dialyzed against the same buffer at 4° C for 24 hours. The dialyzed IgG fraction was applied to a DEAE affinity column (20 x 250 mm) equilibrated with 0.015 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.85 at 25° C and washed with five volumes of the same buffer. The IgG fraction elutes

from the column without being retained. The purified IgG was concentrated on a Diaflow (PM-30) filter at 4° C and dialyzed against deionized water. The IgG was lyophilyzed and stored as a powder at -20° C. The recovered IgG protein represented about 20% of the amount of starting serum protein.

Ouchterlony Double Diffusion Analysis of the Antibody-Antigen Reaction:

Ouchterlony double diffusion analysis (181) was performed in disposable plastic Petri dishes (100 x 15 mm) containing 7.0 ml of agar. The agar contained 1% special Noble agar, 5.0% glycine, and 0.45% sodium chloride in water. The agar was liquified by heating in a water bath followed by resolidification after pipetting into the Petri dish. A punch was used to make well patterns in the agar and agar was removed from the wells by suction. Each well held 0.14 ml of solution. Antibody was placed in the center well and antigen in the peripheral wells. Ouchterlony plates were developed at 4° C for 24-48 hours.

Immunoprecipitation of Liver and Lung Microsomal NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase by Antibody:

Immunoprecipitation of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from detergentsolubilized liver and lung microsomes was accomplished by a modification of a method used by Welton <u>et al</u>. (182). Lung microsomes contain less reductase than do liver microsomes. Therefore, various ratios of reductase activity to mg of IgG were tested to determine the best conditions for immunoprecipitation. The optimum ratio for the immunoprecipitation of reductase from detergent-solubilized microsomes was found to be 150 units of reductase activity per mg of IgG. Microsomes (5 mg/ml) solubilized in 1.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.05 Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, were diluted with IgG and 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, to a final sodium deoxycholate concentration of 0.75%. Immunoprecipitation occurred within 24 h at 0-4° C. Control IgG did not form precipitates with either liver or lung microsomes. The resulting immunoprecipitates were centrifuged at 500 x g for ten minutes and washed twice in 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.5. After the final wash in distilled water, the precipitates were centrifuged and the pellet dried under a stream of air. The immunoprecipitates were prepared for sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis by resuspending the dried pellets in 1% sodium dodecylsulfate containing 7% sucrose, 1 mM EDTA, 40 mM dithiothreitol, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1, and 10 µg per ml pyronin B. The immunoprecipitates prepared for electrophoresis were then heated to 100° C for 15 minutes.

Sodium Dodecylsulfate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis:

1% Sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was performed according to the methods of Fairbanks <u>et al</u>. (183). After electrophoresis, gels were stained with Coomassie blue (184) and scanned for protein at 550 nm using a Gilford spectrophotometer. The molecular weight markers run in parallel with all membrane protein samples included phosphorylase a, bovine serum albumin, carbonic anhydrase, alcohol dehydrogenase and ribonuclease-A.

Assay of Lactoperoxidase Activity:

Lactoperoxidase catalyzes the reduction of H_2O_2 through the oxidation of a variety of electron donors, including o-dianisidine (185). The assay for lactoperoxidase activity used here employs the spectrophotometric detection of the oxidized product formed from o-dianisidine

by the action of lactoperoxidase and H_2O_2 . The reaction mixture contained 1.0 mM H_2O_2 and 3.3 mM o-dianisidine in 0.01 M sodium phosphate, pH 6.0 at 25° C. The reaction was started by the addition of lactoperoxidase and the absorbance change recorded at 460 nm. The rate is expressed as the change in absorbance at 460 nm per minute. One o-dianisidine unit of activity equals a change of 0.001 0.D. per minute, according to Klebanoff <u>et al</u>. (186). One µg per ml of commercial lactoperoxidase equaled 152 units.

Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Peroxidation of Membrane Lipids:

Lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation of membrane lipids was assayed in the following manner. Unless otherwise specified, the reaction mixture, totaling 5.0 ml, contained 10 μ g lactoperoxidase, 1.0 mM KI, 2.5 mg microsomal protein (or 2.5 μ mole lipid phosphate when liposomes were used) 0.1 mM ADP, 0.1 mM FeCl₃, and 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 37° C. All peroxidation reactions were performed in a 37° C shaking water bath. Peroxidation was initiated by the addition of H₂O₂. Four additions of 176 μ M H₂O₂ were made at one minute intervals for the first three minutes of the reaction. Zero time peroxidation values were obtained by measuring malondialdehyde or hydroperoxide levels before H₂O₂ additions and subtracting these values from subsequent measurements. Malondialdehyde and hydroperoxide formation were measured at various time intervals during the reaction as previously described under "Methods."

Purification of Superoxide Dismutase:

Superoxide dismutase was purified from bovine erythrocytes essentially according to McCord and Fridovich (187). One liter of bovine

blood was drawn from the carotid artery into a flask containing 1.75 g of heparin. The blood was centrifuged at $4,000 \times q$ for ten minutes and the plasma (supernatant) discarded. The pellet (red blood cells) was resuspended to the original volume in 0.9% sodium chloride and recentrifuged. The red blood cells were collected and lysed by adding 2 volumes of distilled water. Ice-cold ethanol (0.25 volumes) and icecold chloroform (0.1 volume) were added and the solution was mixed at 4° C for 15 minutes, followed by addition of 0.1 volume of distilled water. The mixture was centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 15 minutes and warmed to room temperature. Dibasic potassium phosphate (300 g/l) was added and mixed. The solution was allowed to stand for 15 minutes and the upper phase collected and centrifuged at $2,000 \times q$ for 15 minutes. The resulting supernatant was mixed with 0.75 volumes of ice-cold acetone and recentrifuged at 2,000 x g for 15 minutes. The light red precipitate was resuspended in distilled water (20 ml) and dialyzed at 4° C against 2.5 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4 for 24 hours. The dialyzed enzyme preparation was applied to a DEAE affinity column (20 \times 110 mm) equilibrated in the same buffer. The enzyme eluted from the column by washing with the same buffer, followed by dialysis against distilled water at 4° C for 24 hours. The enzyme preparation was lyophilized and stored as a powder at -20° C. Superoxide dismutase activity was assayed as the enzyme's ability to inhibit the xanthine: xanthine oxidasecatalyzed reduction of cytochrome c (187).

Preparation of Bacteria:

Trypticase soy broth (30 g/l) and trypticase soy agar (50 g/l) were prepared by mild heating of the corresponding dehydrated mixes in deionized water to facilitate dissolution. Trypticase soy agar slants were prepared by adding 5.0 ml of agar to culture tubes sealed with cotton plugs, followed by autoclaving at 121° C for 20 minutes at 15 pound/square inch. Stock cultures of bacteria were maintained by streaking the agar slants with <u>E. coli</u> and storing the cotton sealed tubes at room temperature. The inoculating loop and the mouth of the culture tubes were fired over a bunsen burner before and after each inoculation.

<u>E. coli</u> were grown in trypticase soy broth by inoculating culture tubes containing 5.0 ml of autoclaved broth, followed by continuous shaking of the tubes in a 37° C bacteria culture room. Twenty hour broth cultures were centrifuged, washed twice with water, and the bacteria suspended in water to an absorbance at 540 nm of approximately 0.05. Bacterial growth inhibition experiments using this stock suspension of bacteria were performed as described below.

Determination of Bacterial Growth:

One ml of double strength trypticase broth and 0.1 ml of the stock suspension of bacteria were added to a small culture tube (10 x 75 mm). The bacteria killing agents to be tested were added and the volume made up to 2.0 ml with water. The tubes were sealed with cotton and incubated with continuous shaking at 37° C for four hours in an atmosphere of air. The growth of bacteria was determined turbidometrically by the increase in absorbance at 540 nm using the Elmer-Perkins model 124 spectrophotometer.

Lipid Peroxidation Catalyzed by Lipoxygenase:

Lipid peroxidation catalyzed by lipoxygenase was performed in the following manner. Lipid, either in the form of γ -linolenic acid

micelles, liposomal membranes, or microsomes, was incubated in a 25° C shaking water bath in 0.05 M sodium borate, pH 9.0, in the presence of 1.0 mM EDTA. When indicated in the text, sodium deoxycholate was included in the reaction mixtures to solubilize the membrane preparations. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 20 µg/ml lipoxygenase. Both malondialdehyde and hydroperoxide levels were determined as described earlier under "Methods."

Microsomal Drug Metabolism Assay:

The drug metabolizing activity of microsomal cytochrome P-450 was assayed as the demethylation of aminopyrine. An end product of this reaction is formaldehyde, which can be determined quantitatively by the method of Nash (188). The reaction mixture, totaling 5.0 ml, contained 10 mg microsomal protein, 20 mM aminopyrine, 1.0 mM EDTA, and 0.05 M sodium borate, pH 9.0. The reaction occurred in beakers in a 30° C shaking water bath. The reaction was initiated, as indicated in the text, by the addition of one of the following: 0.2 mM NADPH, 220 μ M cumene hydroperoxide, or $100 \mu q/ml$ lipoxygenase. The reaction was terminated by the addition of 1.0 ml of 10% TCA. After mixing with TCA the solutions were allowed to stand for ten minutes to facilitate precipitation of the protein. Two ml of Nash reagent (2 M ammonium acetate, 0.05 M acetic acid, and 0.02 M 2,4 pentanedione) were added and mixed with the membrane samples, which were subsequently placed in a 60° C hot water bath for ten minutes. After cooling, the mixtures were centrifuged at 1,000 x g for ten minutes. The supernatant was recovered and the absorbance determined at 412 nm. The blank consisted of 1.0 ml 10% TCA, 1.0 ml buffer, and 2.0 ml Nash reagent. The formaldehyde

content was calculated using an extinction coefficient of 7.08 x 10^3 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹ and a dilution factor of 4 (177).

Other Methods:

Protein concentration was determined by the method of Lowry <u>et al</u>. (189).

CHAPTER I

CHARACTERIZATION OF NADPH-DEPENDENT MICROSOMAL LIPID PEROXIDATION

The Solubilization of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase:

The enzyme induced peroxidation of microsomal membrane lipids was first demonstrated when microsomes were incubated aerobically with NADPH (75). Later, it was observed that Fe^{+++} in the presence of nucleotide di-or triphosphate or pyrophosphate greatly enhanced the reaction (190). It was suggested that the peroxidative cleavage of microsomal phospholipids during NADPH oxidation was a consequence of a limited chain reaction catalyzed by a radical-like factor produced during the transport of electrons from NADPH by the membrane-bound mixed-function oxidase system (191). Masters et al. (192) demonstrated the involvement of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase in the mixed-function oxidase catalyzed hydroxylation of drugs and foreign compounds and it was suggested that NADPH-cytochrome c reductase might also be involved in NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation (193, 194). Work had begun on the purification of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase by Dr. Thomas Pederson in an attempt to demonstrate this enzyme's involvement in NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation.

Various surface-bound protein components of the microsomal membrane had been purified using a solubilizing technique that involved treatment of the membrane with proteolytic enzymes (195, 196). The membrane

bound NADPH-cytochrome c reductase had been solubilized from the microsomal membrane by brief incubation with trypsin (197-200), chymotrypsin (201). a Bacillus subtilis protease (201), bromelain (202) and a crude preparation of pancreatic lipase (178, 203). It was believed that NADPH-cytochrome c reductase solubilized by the action of proteases was a cleavage product of a larger protein which was anchored to the membrane surface by means of a hydrophobic peptide "tail." Such a model had been proposed for two other microsomal membrane bound proteins; cytochrome b_{5} (195) and NADH-cytochrome b_{5} reductase (204). The lipasesolubilized NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, however, may have represented the intact, native* enzyme which could have been released from the membrane through the lipolytic disruption of the membrane lipids catalyzed by the lipase preparation. However, the properties and reactions of the lipase-solubilized enzyme were very similar, if not identical to the protease-solubilized enzyme (86, 202). Therefore, it was necessary to determine if the lipase-solubilized enzyme was truly the native, intact enzyme potentially involved in microsomal NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation, or a product of solubilization by a protease contaminant present in the crude pancreatic lipase preparation. Experiments with lipase 448 (Nutritional Biochemistry Co., Cleveland, OH) a crude pancreatic lipase preparation, were designed to test this possibility.

Soybean trypsin inhibitor and phenylmethylsufonylfluoride (PMSF) were tested for their ability to inhibit lipase solubilization of

^{*} Native NADPH-cytochrome c reductase refers to the enzyme that has not been hydrolyzed by proteolytic digestion.

NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from microsomes isolated from the livers of phenobarbital-pretreated rats. The enzyme was considered solubilized when it remains in the supernatant after centrifugation at 105,000 x g for 90 min. NADPH-cytochrome c reductase was assayed before and after centrifugation to determine the percent solubilized. Soybean trypsin inhibitor was capable of partially preventing solubilization while PMSF completely inhibit solubilization (Table 1). PMSF was found to have no effect on the ability of the lipase preparation to release fatty acids from Tween 20, and at the concentration used, had no effect on NADPHcytochrome c reductase (PMSF was mixed with the lipase before incubation with microsomes).

The crude pancreatic lipase was subjected to gel filtration chromatography on Sephadex G-100 and each fraction was assayed for lipase and protease activity and for its ability to solubilize NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from rat liver microsomes. The lipase and protease activities separated upon exclusion chromatography and solubilization activity correlated with protease activity (Figure 2). Recovery of lipase activity was 98% while the recovery of protease activity was 70%. Some protease activity eluted with the lipase and there was a corresponding small peak of solubilization activity.

These results indicate that the ability of crude pancreatic steapsin to solubilize NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from rat liver microsomes is the result of a protease contaminant in the preparation and not the lipase. No solubilization activity could be correlated with lipase activity. Therefore, the solubilization of the catalytic portion of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, when using both proteases and the lipase preparation, probably result in the degradation of the native, membrane bound enzyme.

TABLE 1.

THE EFFECT OF SOYBEAN TRYPSIN INHIBITOR (STI) AND PHENYLMETHYLSULFONYL-FLUORIDE (PMSF) ON THE SOLUBILIZATION OF NADPH-CYTOCHROME c REDUCTASE BY CRUDE PANCREATIC LIPASE

Crude pancreatic lipase was incubated with rat liver microsomes (5 mg/ml in 0.05 M Tris buffer, pH 7.5) for 12 h at 5° C under nitrogen. Following incubation the preparation was diluted with ice-cold Tris buffer and centrifuged at 105 000 X g for 90 min at 0-5° C. NADPH-cytochrome c reductase was assayed as described under "Materials and Methods" before and after centrifugation to determine the per cent of the enzyme solubilized.

Lipase 448 (µg)	STI (µg)	PMSF (µg)	$% % \mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z}$ solubilization	% of non-inhibited
0	-	_	0.0	-
45	-	-	22.6	100.0
45	25	-	16.3	72.2
45	12.5	-	18.1	80.0
45	5	-	19.5	86.4
45	-	33	0.0	0.0
45	-	17	1.8	8.0

GEL FILTRATION OF CRUDE PANCREATIC LIPASE ON A SEPHEDEX G-100 COLUMN. Figure 2. Each fraction was assayed for protein (——), lipase (\bullet —— \bullet) and protease (\bullet —— \bullet) activities and ability to solubilize NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from rat liver microsomes (\bullet —— \bullet) as described under "Methods".



Preparation of an Antibody to NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase:

Subsequently, NADPH-cytochrome c reductase was solubilized and purified to homogeneity by Dr. Thomas Pederson (87). Through the use of the purified enzyme, it was demonstrated that NADPH-cytochrome c reductase was involved in the catalysis of lipid peroxidation in a model membrane system composed of liposomes, NADPH, NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, and Fe⁺⁺⁺ chelated by both ADP and EDTA (87). In order to establish that the peroxidation catalyzed by the purified enzyme in the model system was an accurate reflection of the NADPH-dependent peroxidation that occurs in intact microsomes, an antibody was raised to the purified, bromelain-solubilized NADPH-cytochrome c reductase. Antisera to the purified enzyme was prepared as described under "Methods." Dr. Thomas Pederson subsequently demonstrated that the antisera to the purified enzyme was a potent and specific inhibitor of the cytochrome c-reducing activity of the enzyme and that the immunoglobulin-G (IgG)fraction from the antisera inhibited over 90% of the NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation (87).

Lung Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation:

Thomas <u>et al</u>. (205) demonstrated that rats exposed to nitrogen dioxide for four hours showed evidence of lipid peroxidation in the unsaturated fatty acids extracted from their lung tissue. The changes in lung lipids <u>in vivo</u> were partially prevented by a large dose of α tocopherol. Similarly, exposure to low concentrations of ozone in air produced increased lipid peroxidation in human erythrocyte suspensions, and led to speculation that lung tissue might also be affected likewise by ozone exposure. May et al. (206) demonstrated that lipid

peroxidation coupled to NADPH oxidation in the presence of ADP and ferrous ions was increased by performing the incubations in atmospheres enriched with oxygen. At five atmospheres pressure, there were extensive changes in the lipids of the endoplasmic reticulum that were characteristic of changes occurring during lipid peroxidation (207). Since lung has the highest oxygen tension in the body, it is reasonable to believe that it may be susceptible to non-enzymatic or enzymatically-induced lipid peroxidation.

Lung microsomes have an NADPH-dependent cytochrome c reductase activity that may function in the lung mixed-function oxidase system in a manner analogous to the corresponding enzyme in the liver microsomal mixed-function oxidase system (208). If this were true, then lung tissue may demonstrate a NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation catalyzed by the lung NADPH-dependent cytochrome c reductase. In order to determine if liver and lung microsomes demonstrate similar NADPHdependent lipid peroxidation, a comparative study of liver and lung microsomes, and the flavorprotein, NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from these two tissues, was undertaken.

Rat liver and lung microsomes were isolated simultaneously without frozen storage of the tissues. The specific activities of liver and lung microsomes, in nmoles of cytochrome c reduced/min/mg protein, were 196 and 67, respectively. Table 2 demonstrates the effect of incubating both liver and lung microsomes with ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and NADPH. It is apparent that lung microsomes produce much less malondialdehyde than do liver microsomes. The fact that liver microsomal peroxidation was not reduced when equal amounts of liver and lung microsomes were mixed together indicates that a soluble inhibitor of lipid peroxidation was

NADPH-DEPENDENT LIPID PEROXIDATION IN LIVER AND LUNG MICROSOMES.

The reaction mixtures contained liver or lung microsomes in the amounts indicated. Control mixtures contained no NADPH. All other conditions are the same as described for NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation under "Methods". The reaction time equaled 15 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/ml
Liver microsomes, 0.5 mg protein/ml Control	0.15 1.51 0.09
Lung microsomes, 2.5 mg protein/ml Control	0.15 0.10 0.48
Lung microsomes, 5.0 mg protein/ml Control	0.11 0.67
U.25mg/protein/ml Plus NADPH	1.40

not present in the lung microsomes. The decreased NADPH-cytochrome c reductase specific activity in lung microsomes may be responsible for the decreased lipid peroxidation. In order to increase the amount of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase present in the lung microsomal incubation mixture, the total microsomal protein concentration had to be increased. However, increasing the concentration of lung microsomes is likely to decrease the lipid peroxidation specific activity (nmoles malondialdehyde/min/mg protein). Wills (104) determined that dilute microsomal suspensions formed much more lipid peroxide/mg of protein in the presence of ascorbate than did concentrated suspensions and that this may be a result of dispersal of the reticulum in an aqueous phase so that the membranes become extended and the unsaturated lipids lie in close proximity to radicals formed in the aqueous phase. A similar effect was observed in studies of the peroxidation of emulsified tissue lipids exposed to ionizing radiation (209). This fact is demonstrated in Table 3, using liver microsomes. Increased microsomal protein concentrations decreases the amount of malondialdehyde produced/mg protein. The lower amount of malondialdehyde produced in lung microsomes may also be a function of the lipid composition of the membrane. Since only lipids possessing three methylene interrupted double bonds will produce malondialdehyde, variation in the amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids will effect malondialdehyde production. It was also possible that NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from lung microsomes was substantially different from the liver microsomal enzyme and was not capable of supporting peroxidation at the same rate or by the same mechanism as the liver enzyme. In order to determine if the reduced rate of peroxidation in lung microsomes was a function of the membrane or of a different

TABLE 3.

EFFECT OF MICROSOMAL PROTEIN CONCENTRATION OF LIPID PEROXIDATION.

The reaction mixtures contained liver microsomal protein in the amounts indicated. Reaction time equaled 8 minutes. The conditions are the same as described for NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation under "Methods".

Description	Malondialdehyde formed	
	nmoles/min/ml	nmoles/min/mg protein
5.0 mg/ml microsomal protein	4.10	0.82
2.0 mg/ml microsomal protein	3.04	1.52
1.0 mg/ml microsomal protein	1.67	1.67
0.5 mg/ml microsomal protein	0.91	1.82
0.2 mg/ml microsomal protein	0.49	2.43

NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, the lung enzyme was isolated and compared to the corresponding liver enzyme.

Isolation and Characterization of Lung Microsomal NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase:

NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from rat lung microsomes was solubilized by bromelain digestion in a manner identical to that already used for the liver reductase. Both liver and lung enzymes displayed a 20% enhancement of cytochrome c reducing activity following bromelain solubilization. A similar activity enhancement of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase solubilized by trypsin has been observed (198). The lung enzyme chromatographed on Sephadex G-100 and DEAE-cellulose in a manner identical to that of the liver enzyme. The specific activity of the purified liver reductase was 51,000. The corresponding lung enzyme was purified to a slightly lower specific activity of 31,000. No additional purification techniques were applied to the lung enzyme. The slightly lower specific activity of the lung enzyme may have been due to contaminating proteins found in lung microsomes that were not present in liver microsomes.

Previous reports concerning rabbit lung tissue fractionation suggested that increased microsomal protein yield was obtained by increased homogenization of the lung tissue (210). In rat lung tissue, initial microsome isolations using extensive homogenization conditions revealed a cytochrome-c reducing activity in the 105,000 x g supernatant. However, subsequent investigations showed that the appearance of this activity was not a consequence of the more extensive homogenization. The possibility that NADPH-cytochrome c reductase was being released during microsome isolation by an endogenous protease was deemed unlikely after it was determined that time, temperature, or the addition of PMSF had no effect on the appearance of the soluble cytochrome c reducing activity. This activity which appeared to be labile during storage of the 105,000 x g supernatant, was not dependent on NADPH nor was it inhibited by the antibody directed against the purified NADPH-cytochrome c reductase. The soluble cytochrome c reducing activity therefore appears to be unrelated to the activity of microsomal NADPH-cytochrome c reductase.

Figure 3 illustrates the nearly identical activity profiles of the purified liver and lung reductases towards the reduction of cytochrome c over a wide range of ionic strengths. The optimum molar concentration of KCl appears to be 0.8 M. Both reductases undergo better than a five fold increase in activity after increasing the assay buffer from 0.01 M phosphate ($\mu = 0.025$) to 0.8 M KCl, 0.01 M phosphate ($\mu = 0.825$). The variation in reductase activity caused by changing the ionic strength of the assay buffer explains the discrepancies between previously published values for the specific activity of purified rat liver reductase. The molar concentrations of phosphate buffer used to assay NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from liver microsomes have varied, in the literature, from 0.05 phosphate ($\mu = 0.15$) (203) to 0.3 M phosphate ($\mu = 0.85$) (87). Optimal activities are achieved for both the liver and lung reductases by using 0.3 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.5 ($\mu = 0.85$) in the assay mixture.

Figures 4 and 5 represent the resulting inhibition of both reductases upon incubation with an antibody raised against the liver microsomal enzyme. No inhibition was observed when preimmuned IgG was added

EFFECT OF IONIC STRENGTH ON THE ACTIVITY OF PURIFIED NADPH-CYTOCHROME C REDUCTASE FROM RAT LIVER AND LUNG MICROSOMES. Figure 3.

Assays for the liver (• — •) and lung (• — •) purified reductases were performed in 0.01 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.5 (25[°] C), 2 mM EDTA. The ionic strength was established by the addition of various amounts of 4 M KCl.



CYTO-C REDUCTASE ACTIVITY

INHIBITION OF NADPH-CYTOCHROME C REDUCTASE BY ANTIBODY TO THE BROMELAIN-SOLUBILIZED LIVER REDUCTASE. Figure 4.

Liver (\bullet —— \bullet) or lung (\blacksquare —— \blacksquare) purified reductase (0.1 μ g/ml) was pre-incubated at 4° C with IgG for 10 minutes and assayed for the reduction of cytochrome c as described under "Methods".



INHIBITION OF NADPH-CYTOCHROME C REDUCTASE BY ANTIBODY TO THE BROMELAIN-SOLUBILIZED LIVER REDUCTASE. Figure 4.

Liver (\bullet ----- \bullet) or lung (\bullet ---- \bullet) purified reductase (0.1 μ g/ml) was pre-incubated at 4° C with IgG for 10 minutes and assayed for the reduction of cytochrome c as described under "Methods".


INHIBITION BY ANTIBODY OF THE ACTIVITY OF NADPH-CYTOCHROME C REDUCTASE WITH FERRICYANIDE AS THE TERMINAL ELECTRON ACCEPTOR. Figure 5.

All assays mixtures contained 0.1 μ g/ml of purified liver (= ---- =) or lung (\bullet ----- \bullet) reductase and 0.1 mM K₃Fe(CN) . Reduction of ferricy-anide was observed as the change in absorbance af 420 nm. Enzyme and antibody were incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C before assaying ferricyanide reduction.



to either reductase. The antibody inhibits the reduction of cytochrome c by both reductases by up to 93%. The antibody is not as effective in inhibiting the reduction of ferricyanide by either enzyme, as seen in Figure 5. However, both liver and lung reductases are inhibited to the same extent.

Figure 6 shows the precipitin lines obtained after double diffusion immunoprecipitation was performed on Ouchterlony plates using both bromelain-solubilized, purified reductase and detergent-solubilized, native reductase from liver and lung microsomes. All wells containing reductase form precipitin lines that merge without forming spurs, suggesting that the antigenic sites on both liver and lung enzymes are the same.

The gel scans in Figure 7 are the protein profiles observed by scanning Coomassie blue stained sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gels containing immunoprecipitates from detergent-solubilized liver and lung microsomes. We have previously shown that the antibody directed against the bromelain-solubilized liver reductase could precipitate the native enzyme from sodium deoxycholate-solubilized microsomes (182). When ¹²⁵I-labeled microsomes were solubilized in detergent and incubated with antibody, only a single protein containing radioactivity (79,000 dalton) was observed after subjecting the immunoprecipitate to sodium dodecylsulfate-polyscrylamide gel electrophoresis (182). Figure 7 (b) shows the protein profile of a gel that contained the immunoprecipitate from detergent-solubilized lung microsomes incubated with antibody. The two major bands are the heavy (52,000 dalton) and the light (25,000 dalton) chains of the reduced IgG molecules (211). The highest molecular weight band corresponds to a protein of 79,000 daltons. Only a

NADPH-CYTOCHROME C REDUCTASE FROM RAT LIVER MICROSOMES WITH THE PURIFIED REDUCTASE AND WITH DETERGENT-SOLUBILIZED MICROSOMES FROM BOTH RAT LIVER AND LUNG ON AN OUCHTERLONY DOUBLE DIFFUSION AGAR PLATE. IMMUNOPRECIPITATION OF THE ANTIBODY TO PURIFIED, BROMELAIN-SOLUBILIZED Figure 6.

(1.4 mg protein). The outer wells are numbered counter clockwise from the top (No. 1). Well No. 1 contains 0.4 mg of liver microsomal protein (5 mg/ml in 1% sodium deoxycholate). Well No. 2 contains 1.2 mg of liver micro-somal protein (15 mg/ml in 1% sodium deoxycholate). Well No. 3 contains $2~\mu g$ of purified lung reductase. Well No. 4 contains $2~\mu g$ of liver reductase. Immunoprecipitation occured in 24 h at $25^0 C$. Ouchterlony plates The center well contains anti-NADPH-cytochrome c reductase IgG were made as described under "Methods".



Figure 7.

SODIUM DODECYLSULFATE-POLYACRYLAMIDE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS PROTEIN PROFILES OF IMMUNOPRECIPITATES FORMED FROM SODIUM DEOXYCHOLATE-SOLUBILIZED RAT LIVER AND LUNG MICROSOMES AND THE REDUCTASE ANTIBODY.

(a) Protein scan of liver microsomal immunoprecipitate; (b) protein scan of lung microsomal immunoprecipitate; (c) protein scan of combined immunoprecipitates from both liver and lung microsomes; (d) protein scan of combined immunoprecipitates from lung microsomes and from bromelain-solubilized, purified lung reductase. Molecular weights were determined from molecular weight marker proteins run independently for each gel. Immunoprecipitation and sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis were performed as described under "Methods".



single lung microsomal protein is precipitated by the antibody to the liver reductase. The gel scanned in Figure 7 (c) contained equal amounts of both liver and lung microsome immunoprecipitates. Only a single high molecular weight band appears, signifying that both reductases migrate together. When the immunoprecipitate from detergent-solubilized lung microsomes was combined with an immunoprecipitate of the bromelainsolubilized purified lung enzyme, two reductase bands are observed (Figure 7d). Identical results were reported for the liver reductase (182). The 71,000 dalton bromelain-solubilized lung reductase is a cleavage product of the intact, native enzyme as has been shown for the liver reductase.

The preceding evidence strongly suggests that the flavoprotein, NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, from both rat liver and lung are extremely similar, if not identical. Therefore, the lung enzyme was tested for its ability to promote lipid peroxidation in the model peroxidation system composed of liposomes, NADPH, and Fe⁺⁺⁺ chelated by both ADP and EDTA. As seen in Table 4, both liver and lung NADPH-cytochrome c reductase are equally effective at promoting lipid peroxidation. This evidence would indicate that NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in both liver and lung microsomes is catalyzed by the same enzyme and probably by the same mechanism. The lower rate of malondialdehyde production in lung microsomes is probably a function of the membrane itself. This would prove advantageous to lung tissue since the high oxygen tension in this organ is more likely to accelerate lipid peroxidation and cause damage to the microsomal membrane.

TABLE 4.

LIPID PEROXIDATION IN LIPOSOMES CATALYZED BY PURIFIED LIVER AND LUNG NADPH-CYTOCHROME c REDUCTASE.

The reaction mixtures contained 0.5 μ moles lipid phosphate/ml, 0.2 mM NADPH and both ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ as described for NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in liposomes under "Methods". 0.2 μ g of either liver or lung purified NADPH-cytochrome c reductase were added as indicated. Control sample contained no reductase. Reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/µmoles lipid Pi
Control	0.19
Plus liver reductase	2.04
Plus lung reductase	1.98

The Mechanisms Involved in NADPH-Dependent Lipid Peroxidation

Among the various biological compounds most susceptible to oxidation by molecular oxygen are the unsaturated fatty acyl residues of phospholipids. This type of lipid oxidation is generally believed to involve the production and propagation of lipid radicals, which may be produced by high frequency radiation or by some naturally occurring metabolic reactions (6-9). Although some metals, including iron, have been shown to increase the amount of malondialdehyde produced by extracted biological lipids or membrane samples, it has been difficult to determine whether their effect has been to actually initiate the formation of lipid hydroperoxides or to propagate more lipid peroxides by reacting with pre-existing peroxides to form lipid radicals (101-103). It is believed that freshly isolated membrane samples may contain low levels of lipid hydroperoxides (151). The enzymatic mechanism by which lipid peroxides could be formed from peroxide-free lipid has not yet been determined. It was therefore of importance to determine exactly how the process of microsomal lipid peroxidation catalyzed by NADPH was initiated.

McCay and co-workers have studied microsomal lipid peroxidation by measuring lysis of lysosomes by radical-like agents products in microsomes during the oxidation of NADPH (91). They have suggested that $0\frac{1}{2}$ formed from the interaction of reduced NADPH-cytochrome c reductase with molecular oxygen might be involved in microsomal lipid peroxidation via the formation of hydroxy radicals:

$$0\frac{1}{2} + 0\frac{1}{2} + 2H^{+} \longrightarrow H_{2}0_{2} + 0_{2}$$

$$H_{2}0_{2} + 0\frac{1}{2} \longrightarrow 0_{2} + 0H^{+} + 0H^{-}$$

$$0\frac{1}{2} + Fe^{+++} \longrightarrow 0_{2} + Fe^{++}$$

$$3)$$

 $Fe^{++} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow OH + OH^- + Fe^{+++} = 4$

NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, found either in microsomes or in its purified (bromalain digestion) state, has been shown to produce $0\frac{1}{2}$ upon oxidation of NADPH (212-214). Their scheme called for the peroxidation of polyunsaturated lipids by the abstraction of a hydrogen from a methylene carbon atom of the lipid by the OH. The direct extraction of a hydrogen by $0\frac{1}{2}$ was not considered feasible since superoxide dismutase cause no inhibition of lysozomal lysis. In addition to being partially inhibited by OH. trappers, the reaction was also inhibited by catalase. However, recent studies (215) have demonstrated that catalase does not inhibit NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation. The discrepancy between these findings is probably due to the presence of thymol, a potent antioxidant, in commercial preparation of catalase. When catalase free of thymol is added to the NADPH-dependent peroxidizing system, lipid peroxidation is no longer inhibited.

The inability of superoxide dismutase and catalase to inhibit NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation has led to the proposal of a different reaction mechanism to explain microsomal lipid peroxidation. Pederson and Aust (215) have suggested that reduced NADPH-cytochrome c reductase acts on Fe⁺⁺⁺ to produce Fe⁺⁺. Fe⁺⁺ could either act on preexisting hydroperoxides present in the membrane to produce more lipid radicals, or could combine with molecular oxygen to form the perferryl ion (Fe0₂)⁺⁺. Oxygen is known to combine with Fe⁺⁺ to form the perferryl ion as an intermediate in the oxidation of Fe⁺⁺ (216, 217). This species may be able to produce a peroxy radical or extract an electron from the lipid, yielding a lipid radical and H_2O_2 . The possibility that NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation is mediated by a reduced form of iron and molecular oxygen will now be examined.

The detectable events that occur during NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation include an uptake of oxygen (75), the oxidation of NADPH (138), the appearance of lipid hydroperoxides (218), a perturbation of the surface structure of microsomes resulting in a change in turbidity (218), a loss of unsaturated fatty acids (1), and the appearance of lipid peroxide breakdown products, including malondialdehyde (138). Figure 8 illustrates two of these observable changes in peroxidizing microsomes over a period of time. In the presence of NADPH and ADPchelated Fe⁺⁺⁺, microsomes produce an increasing amount of malondialdehyde over the 60 minute incubation period. May and McCay (138), have demonstrated that the continued increase in malondialdehyde depend on the availability of reducing equivalents from NADPH. When NADPH is exhausted, lipid peroxidation ceases. Subsequent additions of NADPH cause further peroxidation, as judged by oxygen uptake and malondialdehyde formation.

In addition to measuring malondialdehyde production, lipid hydroperoxide levels can also be measured through the use of the iodometric assay (6, 219) which is specific for easily reduced peroxides (peroxy acids, diacyl peroxides, and all hydroperoxides). This assay has been used extensively by nutritionist and oil and soap chemists to detect the presence of hydroperoxides in purified lipid samples (220-224). Recknagel and Ghoshal (225) have used a similar procedure on extracted

TIME COURSE OF HYDROPEROXIDE AND MALONDIALDEHYDE FORMATION DURING NADPH-DEPENDENT MICROSOMAL LIPID PEROXIDATION Figure 8.

, and 0 lipid peroxidation under "Methods". The control reaction mixture con-tained 0.005% BHT. (● ----- ●) Hydroperoxide formation and (■ ----- ■) control reaction mixture. Malondialdehyde and hydroperoxide formation were assayed as described under "Methods". l mg/ml microsomal protein as described for NADPH-dependent microsomal malondialdehyde formation in experimental reaction mixture. (o ----Hydroperoxide formation and (o ----- o) malondialdehyde formation in The experimental reaction mixture contained NADPH, ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺



nMoles Malondialdehyde / mg Protein

lipids from the microsomal fractions of rats exposed to $CC1_4$ to demonstrate an increase in membrane lipid hydroperoxides during liver necrosis. Its use in detecting the appearance of hydroperoxides formed during in vitro enzymatically induced membrane lipid peroxidation is a comparatively new one. Tam and McCay (218) used a similar procedure to suggest that lipid hydroperoxides were transient species formed in the early stages of NADPH induced lipid peroxidation and that the hydroperoxides fell to low levels as their breakdown began to occur. Slater (6) demonstrated that microsomes allowed to autoxidize at 4° C had high levels of lipid hydroperoxides, but low levels of malondialdehyde. When identical microsomal samples were incubated at 37°C instead, hydroperoxide levels fell to a low level as malondialdehyde levels increased, indicating that malondialdehyde is derived from the breakdown of previously formed lipid peroxides. In the present study, it can be seen that lipid hydroperoxide and malondialdehyde levels increase simultaneously during the early phase of NADPH-catalyzed lipid peroxidation (Figure 8). However, after reaching a peak at about 20 minutes, hydroperoxide levels begin to decrease. This would suggest that the formation of lipid hydroperoxides and the breakdown of lipid peroxides to form malondialdehyde may be two consecutive and separate events. It can also be seen that the free radical trapper, BHT, abolishes both hydroperoxide and malondialdehyde formation. Therefore, at least the formation of hydroperoxides, and perhaps the breakdown of lipid peroxides to yield malondialdehyde, are dependent on the production of free radicals.

The involvement of Fe^{+++} chelated by ADP in NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation is demonstrated in Table 5. The presence of ADP in this system is thought to prevent Fe^{+++} from precipitating from solution as

TABLE 5

NADPH-DEPENDENT MICROSOMAL LIPID PEROXIDATION AS A FUNCTION OF ADDED ADP-Fe .

The reaction mixtures contained 1.0 mg/ml microsomal protein and 0.2 mM NADPH as described for NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation under "Methods". ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ or EDTA were added as indicated. NADPH was delected from the reaction mixture containing ascorbate. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/mg protein	
Microsomes and NADPH		
Plus O.1 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	2.50	
Plus 0.01 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	2.41	
Plus 0.001 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	1.60	
Minus ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	1.07	
Plus 0.1 mM EDTA	.03	
Microsomes		
Plus 0.5 mM ascorbate	1.60	

 $Fe(OH)_3$ and to prevent Fe^{+++} from binding to components on the microsomal surface (105, 218). It is apparent that small amounts of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ assist in NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation as indicated by malondialdehyde production. In the absence of added ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺, the addition of EDTA decreased the level of lipid peroxidation below the level observed when no ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is present. This would indicate that some metal is associated with the microsomal membrane and can be used to promote lipid peroxidation. This was confirmed by adding ascorbate to the microsomal incubation mixtures. The non-enzymatic oxidation of unsaturated membrane lipids catalyzed by ascorbate is known to be accelerated by inorganic or organic iron (226, 227). However, Table 6 demonstrates that ascorbate-catalyzed lipid peroxidation is completely dependent upon added iron in a purified liposomal system. Therefore, the peroxidation observed when microsomes and ascorbate are incubated together without exogenous Fe^{+++} , must depend on iron associated with the microsomal membrane.

If NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation proceeds via the reduction of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺, then ADP-Fe⁺⁺ must be shown to catalyze lipid peroxidation. Table 7 demonstrates the results of incubating microsomes with either ADP-Fe⁺⁺ or ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ in the absence of NADPH. The concentration of chelated iron is high (0.7mM) to better illustrate the enhanced catalytic activity of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ over ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ in promoting lipid peroxidation. In peroxidation experiments using either purified NADPH-cytochrome c reductase or ascorbate, 10μ molar Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ is sufficient to promote some lipid peroxidation. However, in these systems, the reduction of Fe⁺⁺⁺ is continuous, thus replenishing the supply of Fe⁺⁺.

TABLE 6.

THE EFFECT OF ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ ON ASCORBATE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN LIPOSOMES.

The reaction mixtures contained 1.0 $\mu moles$ lipid phosphate/ml, 0.1 mM ascorbate and 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 37° C. ADP-Fe $\,$ or EDTA were added as indicated. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed 	
Liposomes and ascorbate plus;		
10 µM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	3.2	
5 μ M ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	3.2	
1 μM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	3.1	
0.5 μ M ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	2.8	
0.1 μ M ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	2.2	
No ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	0.06	
0.1 mM EDTA	0.00	

TABLE 7.

MICROSOMAL LIPID PEROXIDATION PROMOTED BY ADP-Fe⁺⁺ OR ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺.

The reaction mixtures contained 0.5 mg microsomal protein in 0.05 M Tris-Hc1, pH7.4 at 37° C. Iron was added as indicated. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/mg protein	
Microsomes	7.05	
Plus 0.7 mm ADP-Fe''	7.05	
Plus 0.7 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	1.90	
No additions	0.15	

When a model peroxidizing system composed of NADPH, purified NADPHcytochrome c reductase, and ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was first used to promote lipid peroxidation in liposomes derived from purified microsomal lipid, it became apparent that an additional component was required for peroxidation activity (87, 215). Subsequently, others have confirmed that EDTAchelated Fe⁺⁺⁺, in addition to ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺, is required for peroxidation to occur in both liposomes and hemoprotein free lipoprotein particles (88, 111). Figure 9 demonstrates that both malondialdehyde and hydroperoxides are produced in the model system in the presence of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺. As in microsomes, the hydroperoxide concentration rises early in the reaction and subsequently declines as hydroperoxides are apparently broken down.

However, upon close examination of the iron requirements in the model peroxidizing system, it became evident that small amounts of both malondialdehyde and hydroperoxides were being produced when EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was absent from the complete reaction mixture. This led to a re-examination of the iron requirement in the model peroxidizing system. In microsomes, where ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ alone is sufficient to catalyze NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation, addition of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ along with ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ in equal amounts results in no more malondialdehyde production than an amount of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ equal to the total of the two chelated forms of iron. Yet in liposomes, deletion of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ results in 60-70% decrease in malondialdehyde production. Various concentrations of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ were added to liposomes and incubated with NADPH and NADPH-cytochrome c reductase in chelex-treated 0.05m Tris-HC1 buffer. Chelex treatment of 0.05 M potassium phosphate buffer reduces total iron contamination to below 10 n molar (228). As demonstrated

TIME COURSE OF HYDROPEROXIDE AND MALONDIALDEHYDE FORMATION DURING NADPH-DEPENDENT LIPOSOMAL LIPID PEROXIDATION. Figure 9.

ADP-Fe The experimental reaction mixture contained 0.2 mM NADPH, 0.1 mM ADP-Fe . 0.1 mM EDTA-Fe . 0.5 μ mole lipid phosphate/ml. 0.35 μ g/ml purified NADPH-cytochrome c reductase in 0.05 M Tris-HCl at 37^o C. Hydroperoxide formation (\bullet ----- \bullet) and malondialdehyde formation (\bullet ----- \bullet) and malondialdehyde formation (\bullet ----- \bullet)



n Moles Malondialdehyde / u Mole Lipid Pi

in Table 8, EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ alone is not capable of supporting any lipid peroxidation in the model system, while $ADP-Fe^{+++}$ alone will catalyze decreased levels of peroxidation. The greatest peroxidation occurs when both $ADP-Fe^{+++}$ and $EDTA-Fe^{+++}$ are present together. Even when the concentration of $ADP-Fe^{+++}$ is 100 times the total iron concentration of the two combined forms of iron, less peroxidation is evidenced.

In order to verify that EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ undergoing reduction was not capable of supporting lipid peroxidation, ascorbate and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ were incubated with liposomes. The ability of ascorbate to reduce EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was tested by observing the reduction of cytochrome c by ascorbate in the absence and presence of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺. A fourfold increase in the rate of cytochrome c reduction was observed in the presence of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺. It appears that ascorbate reduces EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ which in turn reduces cytochrome c. Table 9 demonstrates that ascorbate and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ do not promote lipid peroxidation, whereas ascorbate plus ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ or the combination of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ do. If reduced EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ does not promote lipid peroxidation, then why does it assist so dramatically the peroxidation catalyzed by ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ in the NADPH-dependent liposomal system (Table 8)?

Chelation by EDTA greatly effects the reduction potential of Fe^{+++} (229). The NADPH oxidase activity of the bromelain-solubilized NADPH-cytochrome c reductase with no iron, 0.1 mM ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺, or 0.1 mM EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ are 0.09, 0.5, and 25,0 μ equivalents of NADPH/min/mg enzyme, respectively (230). The oxidase activity of the enzyme in the presence of the combination of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is not appreciably different from that observed with EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ alone (111). The effect of EDTA chelation of Fe⁺⁺⁺, therefore, appears to be to reduce the reduction

TABLE 8.

THE EFFECT OF EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ ON NADPH-DEPENDENT LIPID PEROXIDATION IN LIPOSOMES.

All the reaction mixtures contained 1.0 μ moles lipid phosphate/ml, 0.2 mM NADPH, 0.12 μ g/ml NADPH-cytochrome c reductase in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 370 C. ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ were added in the amounts indicated. The reaction time equaled 15 minutes.

Description Reaction mixture plus:		Malondialdehvde formed	
mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ mM EDTA-Fe ⁺⁺⁺		nmoles/min/µmoles lipid Pi	
0.2	-	1.70	
0.01	-	1.60	
0.005	-	1.21	
0.001	-	0.65	
-	0.2	0.05	
-	0.01	0.05	
-	0.005	0.05	
0.1	0.1	4.33	
0.005	0.005	3.43	
0.001	0.001	1.92	

TABLE 9.

THE EFFECT OF ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ ON ASCORBATE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN LIPOSOMES.

The reaction mixtures contained 1.0 $\mu moles$ lipid Pi/ml and 0.1 mM_+++ ascorbate in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 37° C. ADP-Fe^+++ and EDTA-Fe were added as indicated. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehde formed nmoles/min/µmoles lipid Pi	
Liposomes and ascorbate Plus 0.1 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ Plus 0.1 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ and	1.94	
0.1 mM EDTA-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	2.14	
Plus 0.1 mM EDTA-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	0.03	

potential of Fe⁺⁺⁺. The NADPH oxidase activity of o-phenanthrolinechelated iron catalyzed by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase has been shown to be about four times greater than EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ (111). When o-phenanthroline-chelated Fe⁺⁺⁺ was tested for its ability to peroxidize liposomes in the presence of NADPH, it was able to support about 30% of the peroxidation catalyzed by ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ alone (Table 10). Therefore, it would appear that the ability to promote lipid peroxidation is directly proportional to the reduction potential of Fe⁺⁺⁺. When used alone, the more difficult to reduce forms of chelated iron initiate the greatest amount of peroxidation. Combining two forms of Fe⁺⁺⁺, one with a higher (ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺) and one with a lower (EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺) reduction potential appears to be the most effective way of promoting NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation.

Since ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ alone is capable of initiating lipid peroxidation in the NADPH-dependent liposomal system as judged by malondialdehyde production, then the enhanced peroxidation observed in the presence of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ may be due to its ability to facilitate the breakdown of hydroperoxides to further propagate more lipid radicals. Earlier work in this section indicated that there were two phases in the lifetime of lipid hydroperoxides in membranes undergoing peroxidation. The early phase was characterized by a net build-up of lipid hydroperoxides while the latter phase showed a net breakdown of hydroperoxides. If the formation of hydroperoxides and their subsequent breakdown are catalyzed in two separate events, then it seems plausible that each of the two forms of chelated iron required in liposoaml peroxidation may play a predominant role in only one of the two reactions. EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ may facilitate the breakdown and propagation of lipid peroxides by a mechanism similar

TABLE 10.

EFFECT OF VARIOUS Fe⁺⁺⁺ CHELATORS ON NADPH-DEPENDENT LIPID PEROXIDATION IN LIPOSOMES.

The reaction mixtures contained 1.0 μ mole lipid Pi/ml, 0.02 mM NADPH, 0.35 μ g/ml NADPH-cytochrome c reductase in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 37° C. Chelated Fe was added as indicated. The reaction time equaled 15 minutes.

Description		Malondialdehyde formed	
Reaction mixture plus:		nmoles/min µmole lipid Pi	
ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	EDTA-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	o-phenanthroline-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	
0.1 mM	-	-	0.59
0.1 mM	0.1 mM	-	2.58
-	0.1 mM	-	0.03
-	0.1 mM	0.1 mM	0.33
-	-	0.1 mM	0.19

to that proposed for the autoxidation of lipids. Lipid autoxidation is known to be facilitated by Fe^{+++} and Fe^{+++} as seen below (6-9):

 $ROOH + Fe^{+++} \longrightarrow ROO \cdot + Fe^{++} + H^{+}$ $ROOH + Fe^{++} \longrightarrow RO \cdot + OH^{-} + Fe^{+++}$

Cumene hydroperoxide was used to assess the ability of both ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ to breakdown hydroperoxides. NADPH, NADPHcytochrome c reductase, and cumene hydroperoxide were incubated in the presence of either ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ or EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺. As seen in Figure 10, the ability to catalyze the breakdown of the functional group of cumene hydroperoxide is inversely proportional to the reduction potential of Fe⁺⁺⁺. EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was found to be almost six times more effective than ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ in the breakdown of cumene hydroperoxide. If the disappearance of the hydroperoxide function of cumene hydroperoxide proceeds as suggested above in the reaction of Fe⁺⁺ with ROOH, then in membranes more lipid radicals would be formed, some leading to the formation of more lipid peroxides while others would lead to non-peroxide termination products (6-9):

 $(R \cdot, RO \cdot, ROO \cdot) + (R \cdot, RO \cdot, ROO \cdot) \longrightarrow breakdown products$

Since EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is not required in the NADPH-dependent peroxidation of microsomal membranes, it has been proposed that microsomes possess an electron transport component that is replaced by EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ in the model peroxidation system. This proposed component would only be reduced by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase. If NADH was used in place of NADPH, no peroxidation of microsomes was observed unless EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was present in addition to ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺. Pederson et al. (87) demonstrated THE NADPH-DEPENDENT DECOMPOSITION OF CUMENE HYDROPEROXIDE IN THE PRESENCE OF CHELATED Fe . Figure 10.

Experimental reaction mixtures (solid symbols) contained approximately 165 n moles cumene hydroperoxide/ml, 0.15 μg NADPH-cyto-chrome c reductase, and 0.2 mM NADPH in 0.05 m Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 37_{-} C. Control reaction mixtures (open_symbols) lacked NADPH, Chelated Fe was, present as follows: p_{0} Fe (\bigstar), 0.1 mMADPH, (\circlearrowright), 0.1 mMADPH, (\circlearrowright), 0.1 mMADPH, (), 0.1 mMADPH, fe (), 0.1 mM EDTA-Fe and 0.1 mM EDTA-Fe (\bigstar), 0.1 mMADPF (), 0.1 mMADF (), 0.1 Fe (\bullet), 0.1 mM ADP-Fe⁺⁺ and 0.1 mM EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ (\bullet). Hydroperoxide levels were assayed by the iodometric assay as described under "Methods".



n Moles Cumene Hydroperoxide / ml

that NADH-cytochrome b_5 reductase reduces ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺, but not the proposed microsomal electron transport component mimiced by EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ in the liposomal system. Therefore, EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is required in NADH-dependent peroxidation of microsomal membranes.

Table 11 demonstrates the results of washing microsomes repeatedly to remove or alter the proposed electron transport component that appears to be replaced by EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ in the liposomal system. Although substantial changes in the concentrations of either hydroperoxides or malondialdehyde are not observed, a trend is seen when the ratios of hydroperoxides/malondialdehyde are calculated. With each washing of the microsomes in 1.15% KC1, 1.0 mm EDTA, the ratios of hydroperoxides formed to malondialdehyde produced increases. This may indicate a shift away from the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides. If a microsomal electron transport component similar in action to EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ were being removed or altered, such a shift would be reasonable.

The fact that EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ alone in the NADPH-dependent microsomal peroxidation system results in neither a build-up of hydroperoxides nor the appearance of the breakdown product, malondialdehyde, indicates that NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation does not occur via the propagation of chain autoxidation from pre-existing lipid hydroperoxides. If this were true, EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and NADPH would be sufficient to promote lipid peroxy and oxy radicals formation in microsomes thereby leading to both increased hydroperoxide formation and malondialdehyde production. The dependence on ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ in both NADPH-dependent microsomal and liposomal peroxidation suggests that this species is involved in the initiation of hydroperoxide formation, probably through the formation of a perferryl iron. EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺, upon reduction, could both

TABLE 11.

EFFECT OF WASHING MICROSOMES ON THE FORMATION OF MALONDIALDEHYDE AND HYDROPEROXIDES IN NADPH-DEPENDENT LIPID PEROXIDATION.

Fresh rat liver microsomes were isolated by centrifuging the postmitochondrial supernatant at 105,000 x g for 90 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in 1.15% KCl, 1.0 mM, EDTA and either used immediately (unwashes) or recentrifuged (washed). The reaction mixture contained 1.0 mg microsomal protein/ml, 0.1 mM NADPH, 0.1 mM ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 at 37° C. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes. Malondialdehyde and hydroperoxides were measured as described under "Methods".

Description	Malondialdehyde formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein	Hydroperoxides formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein	Hydroperoxides Malondialdehyde
Microsomes:			
Unwashed	2.7	11.2	4.1
Washed one time	2.6	13.6	5.2
Washed two times	2.4	13.6	5.7
Washed three times	2.1	15.2	7.2

propagate more lipid radicals from the hydroperoxides formed through the action of reduced ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and 0_2 , and could facilitate the breakdown of lipid peroxides to yield malondialdehyde in a manner analogous to the EDTA-Fe⁺⁺ catalyzed breakdown of cumene hydroperoxide (Figure 10).

CHAPTER II

CHARACTERIZATION OF LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION

Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation During Iodination of Membrane Protein:

While work was continuing on NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation, new information became available suggesting the existence of another enzyme system capable of promoting malondialdehyde formation in microsomal membranes. The enzyme involved, lactoperoxidase, has been isolated from the salivary, lacrimal and Harderian glands as well as from bovine milk (231-233). By all parameters tested, the bovine enzyme from the lacrimal and salivary glands is identical to the enzyme isolated from milk. The enzyme is a hemoprotein and has a molecular weight of 78,000 daltons. In the presence of H_2O_2 and I⁻, the enzyme catalyzes the incorporation of iodine atoms into tyrosine residues of proteins (234). Lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination of protein is a widely used probe for membrane surface macromolecules. This procedure has been used to investigate the arrangement of surface proteins of plasmamembranes (235), mitochondria (236), sarcoplasmic reticulum (237), chloroplasts (238), as well as the endoplasmic reticulum (239).

Previous investigations have indicated that mitochondrial membranes iodinated with this procedure undergo swelling and lysis after extensive iodine incorporation (240). Mitochondrial swelling also

results from exposure of the membrane to substances which modify sulfhydryl groups (241), fatty acids (242), phospholipase (243), lysolecthin (244), staphylococcal aphlatoxin (245), iodine-containing compounds such as thyroxine (246), and from agents that promote lipid peroxidation (247). Therefore, it was of great interest when a preliminary report was published suggesting that lipid peroxidation of microsomal membrane lipids occurred during the enzymatic iodination of microsomal surface proteins using lactoperoxidase, ${\rm H_2O_2}$ and $^{215}{\rm I}$ (248). Lipid peroxidation promoted during the enzymatic iodination of the microsomal surface proteins paralleled the loss of the CO-reduced difference spectra of the microsomal election transport protein, cytochrome P-450. The inactivation of enzymes and the destruction of cytochromes has previously been correlated with the occurrence of membrane lipid peroxidation (249). During iodination of the microsomal membrane using the lactoperoxidase system, both lipid peroxidation and the loss of cytochrome P-450 could be prevented by the inclusion of BHT in the reaction mixture (248). It was interesting to note that when BHT was present to inhibit lipid peroxidation, the amount of 125I labeling of the surface proteins was doubled. Similar results were subsequently obtained in the 125I labeling of myelin surface proteins (250). This might suggest a possible competition between lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination of protein and peroxidation of membrane lipids.

The peroxidation observed during lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination of membrane proteins raises serious questions regarding the interpretation of experimental results obtained through the use of this method. Since only surface proteins are thought to be labeled with ¹²⁵I during lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination, disruption of the membrane
integrity through peroxide formation and distruction of the lipid moieties could result in artifactual labeling of sub-surface proteins. Tsai <u>et al</u>. (251), reported that proteins located at various depths of red blood cell membranes could be labeled with the lactoperoxidase system, depending on the conditions used during iodination. At increased cell concentrations or with a greater degree of enzymatic iodination, additional membrane components were labeled. It is not unreasonable to suggest that alterations of the red blood cell membrane through the formation of lipid peroxides may have been involved in the observed additional labeling of proteins. It was therefore of interest to investigate the reaction of lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 and I^- with membrane lipids in order to establish that lipid peroxidation was indeed a consequence of the reaction. The lactoperoxidase system could then be used to further investigate membrane lipid peroxidation with particular attention to comparing it with peroxidation dependent on NADPH.

Optimum Condition for Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Peroxidation of Microsomal Membranes:

Lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 and I^- -catalyzed peroxidation of microsomal membranes in the presence of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is illustrated in Figure 11. The reaction is enzyme mediated since peroxidation drops to low levels in the absence of lactoperoxidase. Originally, additions of H_2O_2 were made at one minute intervals over the first three minutes of the incubation period in order to duplicate the reaction conditions used previously for the enzyme mediated iodination of microsomal surface proteins (240, 248). Subsequently it could be demonstrated that multiple additions of H_2O_2 were advantageous when using microsomal membranes because of contamination of the microsomes with catalase, which competes for the exogenous Figure 11. LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN MICROSOMES.

The reaction mixtures contained microsomes KI, ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and H₂O₂ as described under "Methods". The reaction mixtures either contained 2 μ g/ml lactoperoxidase (\bullet —— \bullet) or no lactoperoxidase (\bullet —— \bullet) or no



niətorg gm\sbydehyde/mg Protein

 H_2O_2 . It can also be shown that high concentration of H_2O_2 inhibit the peroxidation reaction. However, this problem could be circumvented by repeated addition of lower concentrations of H_2O_2 to the incubation mixture. When eight additions of H_2O_2 at one minute intervals were made instead of four additions, malondialdehyde production increased by 70%. No change was observed in controls (minus enzyme) receiving additional H_2O_2 .

The use of H_2O_2 generating system is also effective in minimizing the early depletion of H_2O_2 by catalase. Table 12 demonstrates the effect of substituting a H_2O_2 generating system for exogenous H_2O_2 . The aerobic oxidation of glucose by glucose oxidase results in the formation of H_2O_2 (252). As the concentration of glucose oxidase above 5 µg/ml is increased, lipid peroxidation also increases over the 15 minute time period assayed.

Optimum conditions and requirements for lactoperoxidase-catalyzed peroxidation of microsomal membrane lipids were determined assaying for malondialdehyde production as described under "Methods." Figure 12 illustrates the correlation between lactoperoxidase concentration and the amount of malondialdehyde formed over a five minute period. At lower enzyme concentrations, malondialdehyde production increased relatively linearily with lactoperoxidase.

Figure 13 and Figure 14 illustrate the effects of varying I⁻ and H_2O_2 concentrations, respectively, on peroxidation of microsomal lipids. Both of these substrates for the enzyme show unusual kinetic curves in that inhibition of peroxidation activity occurs at high substrate concentrations. When taken together, Figures 12-14 demonstrate that all

TABLE 12.

THE EFFECT OF H2O2 GENERATION ON LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN MICROSOMES

The reaction mixtures contained KI, lactoperoxidase, microsomes, and ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ as described under "Methods", plus 1.0 mM glucose. Glucose oxidase was added in the amounts indicated. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/mg protein	
No glucose oxidase	0.12	
5 μg/ml glucose oxidase	0.12	
25 µg/ml glucose oxidase	0.43	
50 µg/ml glucose oxidase	0.85	
100 µg/ml glucose oxidase	1.01	

LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION OF MICROSOMAL LIPID AS A FUNCTION OF ENZYME CONCENTRATION. Figure 12.

The reaction mixtures contained microsomes, KI, ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and H₂0₂ as described under "Methods". Lactoperoxidase was added in the indicated amounts. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

)

I

) 1



n Moles Malondialdehyde/min/mg Protein

LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION OF MICROSOMAL LIPIDS AS A FUNCTION OF KI CONCENTRATION. Figure 13.

The reaction mixtures contained microsomes, H_2O_2 , ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and 2 µg/ml lactoperoxidase as described under "Methods". KI was added in the indicated amounts. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.



n Males Malondialdehyde/min/mg Protein

LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN MICROSOMES AS A FUNCTION OF ADDED H_2O_2 . Figure 14.

The reaction mixtures contained microsomes KI, ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and 2 $\mu g/m$ l lactoperoxidase as described under "Methods". The concentration of H₂O₂ plotted in the graph refers to the concentration of the reaction mixture upon addition of the first of 4 equal aliquots of H₂O₂. The reaction



nietory pm \ nim \ ebv/deblaidehvde \ min \ mg

three components of the lactoperoxidase peroxidizing system are required for activity.

The unusual kinetics demonstrated at higher concentrations of both I and H_2O_2 may be evidence of inhibition of lactoperoxidase activity via denaturation of the enzyme. Most peroxidases are sensitive to high concentrations of H_2O_2 . Morrell (253) demonstrated that lactoperoxidase has an optimum activity in the oxidation of pyrogallol at about 6.0 mM H_2O_2 . Above 6.0 mM, inhibition of this reaction occurred. This value corresponds well with the present findings of an optimum H_20_2 concentration of 8.8 mM in the microsomal lipid peroxidizing system. Previous investigations of lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination of L-tyrosine demonstrated that an optimum iodinating activity occurred at an I⁻ concentration of about 0.4 mM, using 0.1 mM H_2O_2 at pH 7.4 (254). This agrees well with an optimum of 0.5 mM I $\overline{}$ using 0.176 mM $\mathrm{H_{2}O_{2}}$, found in this investigation. Inactivation of lactoperoxidase at high I⁻ concentrations would be understandable if highly reactive iodide oxidation intermediates capable of iodination proteins were being generated and destroying the enzyme.

Chloroperoxidase is similar in physical properties to the other peroxidases, including lactoperoxidase (255). In the presence of H_2O_2 , chloroperoxidase is capable of catalyzing halogenation reactions using Cl⁻, Br⁻ or I⁻ as the halogen anion (256). Since the lactoperoxidasecatalyzed lipid peroxidation reactions were performed in 0.05 M Tris buffer containing Cl⁻ anion, it was necessary to determine if Cl⁻ anion was involved in the peroxidation reaction. Triplicate peroxidation experiments using lactoperoxidase were performed in potassium phosphate, Tris-maleate, and Tris-HCl buffers. No change in the amount of malondialdehyde formed was observed in buffers free of Cl⁻ anion. Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation in the Model System:

Since the optimum substrate concentrations for lactoperoxidasecatalyzed lipid peroxidation are very similar to the optimum condition required for enzyme-catalyzed iodination of protein, two general reaction mechanisms for lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation are suggested. First, the iodinated proteins or a product of protein iodination may be interacting with membrane lipids or components of the membrane which subsequently promote lipid peroxide formation in micro-Nakano et al. (257) has demonstrated that a relationship exists somes. between iodinated protein (thyroxine) and microsomal lipid peroxidation. The study employed Fe⁺⁺ or ascorbate to initiate lipid peroxidation in microsomes. When thyroxine was added to the peroxidizing microsomes, deiodination of thyroxine occurred. Although this study suggests that lipid peroxidation causes deiodination rather than the converse, it does suggest that a relationship exists in microsomes between lipid peroxidation and iodinated protein.

The second possible mechanism involved in lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation involves the enzymatic generation of a peroxide forming intermediate from the oxidation of I⁻. The overall reaction of lactoperoxidase with H_2O_2 and I⁻ can be described as follows (258):

 $2H^+ + H_2O_2 + 2I^- \longrightarrow 2H_2O + I_2$

The exact identity of the intermediates formed from the oxidation of I^- have not been clearly established. Both the iodide radical, resulting from a one electron oxidation (259, 260) and the iodonium cation, resulting from a two electron oxidation (261) have been implicated as initial, transitory reaction products of iodide oxidation. Either of

these reactive species could be involved in the initiation of membrane lipid peroxidation.

Since the first proposed reaction mechanism requires either the iodination of protein or the presence of factors in microsomes, while the second possible mechanism would be independent of microsomal protein, lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 , and I⁻ were incubated with liposomes derived from purified microsomal lipid in the presence of ADP Fe⁺⁺⁺. Figure 15 represents the results of this experiment. The resulting peroxidation indicates that proteins or other non-lipid material from intact microsomal membranes are not required for lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidate produced through the oxidation of I⁻ is involved in lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation. This possibility will be considered later.

The pH optimum of the reaction was determined using liposomes as the lipid source. As demonstrated in Figure 16, the pH optimum occurs around pH 7.4 and decreases rapidly at lower pH. Morrison <u>et al</u>. (240) demonstrated that glutamic acid dehydrogenase, a soluble enzyme located in the inner matrix space of mitochondria, was released from within the mitochondria by 72% during the enzymatic iodination of the membrane at pH 7.4. At pH 6.5, only 2% of the enzyme was released. The increased ability of the lactoperoxidase system to form lipid peroxides in the mitochondrial membrane at pH 7.4 would easily account for this result.

The use of liposomes in the lactoperoxidase system also affords an opportunity to access the amount of competition for H_2O_2 caused by the catalase contaminant present in microsomes but absent in the liposomal system. It was previously demonstrated that multiple additions

Figure 15. LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN LIPOSOMES.

The reaction mixture contained liposomes (0.5 μ mole lipid Pi/m]), lactoperoxidase, ADP-Fe $\,$, and KI as described under "Methods". The reaction mixtures contained H_2O_2 (\bullet —— \bullet) or lacked H_2O_2 (\bullet —— \bullet).



n Moles Malondialdehyde/w Mole Lipid Pi

LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION OF LIPOSOMES AS A FUNCTION OF pH. Figure 16.

The reaction mixtures contained 0.5 µmoles lipid Pi/ml, KI, H₂0₂, ADP-Fe and lactoperoxidase as described under "Methods". The pH was established with 0.05 M Tris-HCl, at 37⁰ C. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.



iA biqid slomu / nim / sbydsblaidalaM sslomn

of H_2O_2 , bringing the reaction mixture to 8.8 mM (assuming complete consumption of the previous aliquot) produced the greatest amount of lipid peroxidation in the lactoperoxidase-catalyzed microsomal system. If microsomal catalase was reducing the effective concentration of H_2O_2 , then liposomes free of catalase should require less H_2O_2 . Figure 17 demonstrates that lower concentration of H_2O_2 are required for maximum peroxidation in the liposomal system. In liposomes, a single addition of H_2O_2 bringing the reaction mixture to 0.176 mM produces the greatest amount of enzymatic lipid peroxidation.

The Effect of Fe⁺⁺⁺ on Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation

During the course of the study of lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation in liposomes, it became evident that H_2O_2 might be contributing to the net production of lipid peroxides via a non-enzymatic reaction with Fe⁺⁺⁺. Both Fe⁺⁺⁺ and Fe⁺⁺⁺ may react with H_2O_2 to generate radicals (98-100):

$$Fe^{+++} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow Fe^{++} + HOO + H^+$$

 $Fe^{++} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow Fe^{+++} + OH^- + OH^-$

Since the reaction mixtures contain both ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and H_2O_2 , it is possible that a radical-generating reaction of this type may be occurring. When liposomes were incubated with ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺, KI⁻, and H_2O_2 (no lactoperoxidase) a significant amount of malondialdehyde was produced (Table 13). It was evident that the non-enzymatic production of lipid peroxidation was dependent on the presence of H_2O_2 , since the complete reaction mixture minus H_2O_2 produced little malondialdehyde. When the time course of the non-enzymatic reaction was accessed, it was evident that preincubation of lipid, H_2O_2 , and Fe⁺⁺⁺ was not necessary. It would LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION INLIPOSOMES AS A FUNCTION OF H₂02 CONCENTRATION. Figure 17.

The reaction mixtures contained 0.5 μ mole lipid Pi/ml, KI, ADP-Fe and lactoperoxidase as described under "Methods". The reaction mixtures received a single addition of ${\rm H}_2{\rm O}_2$. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.



ig bigid slowulandehyde/min/uMole Lipid Pi

TABLE 13.

THE EFFECT OF ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ AND H₂O₂ ON LIPOSOMES.

The complete reaction mixture contained liposomes (0.5 $\mu moles$ lipid Pi/ml), lactoperoxidase, KI, ADP-Fe^+++, and H2O2 as described under "Methods". The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/µmoles lipid Pi	
Complete Minus lactoperoxidase Minus H2O2	1.04 0.53 0.19	
Minus H2O2	0.19	

therefore appear that the production of lipid peroxides and subsequently malondialdehyde was occurring during the heating of the lipid with the trichloroacetic acid-thiobarbituric acid (TCA-TBA) reagent used to develop the chromophore produced by malondialdehyde. Since this non-enzymatic production of lipid peroxidation had not been observed to this extent in microsomes, the possibility that the catalase contaminant present in microsomes was reducing the concentration of H_2O_2 to a level too low to effectively promote non-enzymatic lipid peroxidation during the heating step was tested. Table 14 demonstrates the effect of adding thymol-free catalase to both microsomal and liposomal membrane samples that have been incubated with lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 , and I⁻. 50 μ g of catalase was mixed with 1 ml aliquots from the reaction mixtures for 30 seconds prior to inactivation of the reactions with TCA-TBA reagent. It can be seen that in microsomes, addition of catalase at the end of the incubation period had little effect on either the complete reaction mixture or on the sample missing lactoperoxidase. It would appear that the catalase contaminant of microsomes was reducing the H_2O_2 concentrations to levels too low to promote non-enzymatic peroxidation. In liposomes, addition of catalase to the sample missing lactoperoxidase greatly reduced the amount of apparent lipid peroxidation. The complete liposome reaction mixture containing lactoperoxidase was not significantly effected by the addition of catalase. Therefore, lactoperoxidase and I in the complete liposomal reaction mixture must be reducing the $\mathrm{H_2O_2}$ concentration during the course of the reaction to a level too low to contribute non-enzymatically to the overall production of malondialdehyde. This fact was confirmed by incubating lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 , and I in the absence of liposomes and assaying the

.

TABLE 14.

EFFECT OF CATALASE ON NON-ENZYMATIC LIPID PEROXIDATION IN MICROSOMES AND LIPOSOMES.

The complete reactions contain either 1.0 mg microsomal protein/ml or 1 µmole lipid Pi/ml as indicated. Both microsomal and liposomal systems contained 1.0 mM KI, 0.1 mM ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and 4 additions of 0.176 mM H₂O₂. 2 µg/ml lactoperoxidase was present in the complete reaction mixtures. When indicated, 1 ml aliquots of the reaction mixture were incubated with 50 µg thymol-free catalase for 30 seconds before adding TCA-TBA reagent. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Decomintion	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/ml	
Description	no catalase	50 µg/ml catalase
Complete microsomal system	1.30	1.18
Minus lactoperoxidase	0.13	0.00
Complete liposomal system	1.41	1.31
minus lactoperoxidase	0.72	0.02

disappearance of H_2O_2 by the iodometric assay. In a five minute incubation period, the H_2O_2 (0.176 mM) concentration fell below the detectable limit of the assay (5 µmolar). Only when liposomes were incubated with H_2O_2 in the absence of lactoperoxidase did H_2O_2 levels remain high enough to catalyze non-enzymatic lipid peroxidation. Peroxidation induced in liposomes in the absence of lactoperoxidase is therefore an artifact not related to the enzymatic reaction.

The appearance of the non-enzymatically induced lipid peroxidation in the liposomal samples proved to be of significant important in characterizing the peroxidation reaction catalyzed by lactoperoxidase. Since H_2O_2 and ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ were shown to catalyze lipid peroxidation during the heating of lipid with TCA-TBA reagent, it was possible that ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was catalyzing the same reaction in the heating step of the malondialdehyde assay with lipid peroxides forming through the action of lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 , and I⁻ on membrane lipids.

In lipid peroxidation catalyzed by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, peroxidation depends upon the enzymatic reduction of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺. In the absence of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ in the liposomal system, no NADPH-dependent peroxidation is observed. Therefore, it was not surprising that lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation appeared to require ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺. However, the discovery of artifactual, ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ mediated lipid peroxidation in the liposomal control (non-enzymatic) samples in the lactoperoxidase system led to a reevaluation of the ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ requirement. Since the reduction of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ by lactoperoxidase would not be a normal reaction for this enzyme, ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ might be functioning only during the heating of the lactoperoxidase-treated membrane sample, to form radicals by a mechanism analogous to the reaction of Fe⁺⁺⁺ with H_2O_2 . Table 15 verifies this conclusion. In liposomes, addition of $ADP-Fe^{+++}$ (or FeCl₃), either during or after the incubation of the lipid with lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 and I^- , had the same net result on the formation of malondialdehyde. The fact that ADP-Fe $^{+++}$ assists in the production of malondialdehyde becomes evident when EDTA is present throughout the reaction. In liposomes, EDTA decreases malondialdehyde production by 73%, while its effect in microsomes is somewhat less. This is probably true owing to the presence of Fe^{+++} in microsomes not accessible to EDTA or already complex with membrane components. When EDTA is present during the incubation of lipid with the lactoperoxidase system, followed by the addition of excess Fe^{+++} at the end of the incubation, malondialdehyde levels are returned to high levels. This data clearly indicates that Fe⁺⁺⁺ is not involved in the initiation of lactoperoxidasecatalyzed lipid peroxidation, but does assist in the production of malondialdehyde during the heating step, probably by reacting with a peroxide or peroxide-like product formed by the lactoperoxidase system during the incubation phase to propagate more lipid peroxidation.

The Effect of BHT on Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation:

BHT is a potent inhibitor of lipid peroxidation owing to its ability to trap free radicals (6-9). In the present study, it was used to determine if the production of malondialdehyde during the heating of lactoperoxidase treated membranes with TCA-TBA reagent was radical mediated. The breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides to yield malondialdehyde is likely to be mediated by radical intermediates and accelerated by Fe^{+++} :

TABLE 15.

THE EFFECT OF ADDING ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ DURING OR AFTER INCUBATION OF MEMBRANES WITH THE LACTOPEROXIDASE LIPID PEROXIDATION SYSTEM.

The reaction mixtures contained microsomes (1.0 mg protein/ml) or liposomes (1.0 μ mole lipid Pi/ml), KI, H₂O₂ and lactoperoxidase as described in the legend for Table 14. ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ or EDTA, in the amounts indicated, were added to the reaction mixture either before initiation of the reaction (during) or immediately prior to termination of the reaction by addition of TCA-TBA reagent (after). The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

	Malondialdehyde formed	
Description	nmoles/min/ml	% Control
Microsomes;		
Plus 0.1 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ during	1.34	100
Plus 0.1 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ after	1.27	95
Plus 0.1 mM EDTA during	0.72	53
Plus 0.1 mM EDTA during and 0.2 mM ADP-Fe after	1.26	94
Liposomes;		
Plus 0.1 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ during	1.19	100
Plus 0.1 mM ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ after	1.18	99
Plus 0.1 mM EDTA during	0.33	27
Plus O.1 mM EDTA during and O.2 mM ADP-Fe after	1.30	109

Therefore, BHT would be likely to trap the radical intermediate formed during the conversion of lipid hydroperoxides to malondialdehyde.

BHT was added to the TCA-TBA reagent used to terminate the lactoperoxidase-catalyzed peroxidation reaction. Table 16 demonstrates that when BHT is mixed with the membrane samples at the end of the incubation period, malondialdehyde production in liposomes is completely abolished and is significantly decreased in microsomes. It is apparent that in liposomes, all of the malondialdehyde production is occurring during the heating of the membrane sample with the TCA-TBA reagent. Since malondialdehyde production in liposomes has been shown to depend on the incubation of the membrane with the complete lactoperoxidase system, it appears that a species capable of promoting lipid peroxidation when exposed to heat is being produced during the incubation of the membrane with the complete enzyme system. ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ probably accelerates the formation of malondialdehyde from this species during the heating step. In microsomes, however, about 60% of the total malondialdehyde produced from the reaction of microsomal membrane with the lactoperoxidase system must be produced prior to the heating of the membrane with TCA-TBA reagent, since BHT added at the end of the reaction does not block the formation of this amount of malondialdehyde. The apparent difference between liposomes and microsomes in their ability to produce malondialdehyde during the incubation period with the lactoperoxidase system may be related to either iron or some other peroxide reacting factor present in microsomes but absent in liposomes. The endogenous iron previously demonstrated to be present in microsomes may react with the peroxide forming species produced by the lactoperoxidase system during the incubation period to begin the production of malondialdehyde prior to the

TABLE 16.

THE EFFECT OF BHT ON MEMBRANE LIPID PEROXIDATION CATALYZED BY LACTOPEROXIDASE WHEN ADDED AFTER THE REACTION PERIOD.

The reaction mixture contained microsomes (or liposomes) KI, H₂O₂ and lactoperoxidase as described in the legend for Table 14. ADP=Fe⁺⁺⁺ were present in the reaction mixtures as indicated. The TCA-TBA reagent either contained no BHT or 0.005% BHT as indicated. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Decemintion	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/ml	
Description	no BHT	0.005% BHT
Microsomes; Plus ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	1.07	0.64
Liposomes; Plus ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ Plus EDTA-Fe ⁺⁺⁺	2.14 1.98	0.00 0.00

.

heating stage. This microsomal factor is not duplicated in liposomes by either ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ or EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ (Table 16).

It was of interest to note that lipid hydroperoxide formation (iodometric assay) catalyzed by the lactoperoxidase system paralleled the apparent production of malondialdehyde during the incubation period but prior to heating with TCA-TBA (Table 16). When no malondialdehyde was produced in liposomes prior to heating, no hydroperoxides were detected. In microsomes, where 60% of the total malondialdehyde was produced before heating, lipid hydroperoxides were detected in the incubation mixture. Therefore, the lactoperoxidase system may be forming a "pre-peroxide" species that subsequently reacts with Fe⁺⁺⁺ during heating (or a microsomal component before heating) to produce lipid hydroperoxides and ultimately, malondialdehyde. Alternately, the lactoperoxidase system may be forming levels of lipid hydroperoxides below the detectible limit of the iodometric assay, that react with Fe⁺⁺⁺ during heating (or a microsomal component before heating) to promote more lipid peroxides and malondialdehyde via a rapid, radical mediated chain autoxidation. These two possibilities will be considered further in the Discussion.

<u>Reaction Mechanisms Capable of Promoting Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid</u> <u>Peroxidation:</u>

Although it has been demonstrated that malondialdehyde production in the lactoperoxidase system occurs entirely during the heating stage in liposomes, it is apparent that initiation of lipid peroxidation occurs during the incubation of membrane with lactoperoxidase, I⁻, and H_2O_2 . Several lines of evidence argue in favor of a build-up of a

species in microsomes or liposomes that produces part or all of the lipid peroxidation breakdown product, malondialdehyde, during the heating step. The appearance of both malondialdehyde and hydroperoxides in microsomes before heating with TCA-TBA reagent strongly suggest that initiation of peroxidation occurs during incubation of the membrane with the lactoperoxidase system. The initiating of peroxidation is not a non-enzymatic reaction between H_2O_2 and microsomal endogenous iron since lactoperoxidase and I^- are both required in addition to H_2O_2 . Also, the addition of BHT to microsomes undergoing lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination blocked the destruction of cytochrome P-450, indicating that peroxidation is occurring as a consequence of treatment with lactoperoxidase, $\mathrm{H_2O_2}$ and I^- (248). Finally, the time-dependent increase in malondial dehyde production in liposomes exposed to the lactoperoxidase system suggests a build-up of the peroxide producing species. Therefore, a study was undertaken to determine the mechanism of initiation of peroxidation by the lactoperoxidase system.

Crude preparations of lactoperoxidase from bovine milk are contaminated with a protein known as "red protein" or lactoferrin (262). This iron containing protein has a molecular weight of 93,000 daltons and has proved difficult to separate from lactoperoxidase during purification (262). Since Fe⁺⁺ catalyzes non-enzymatic peroxidation and Fe⁺⁺⁺ has been shown to be involved in peroxidation catalyzed by NADPHcytochrome c reductase, ascorbate, and now lactoperoxidase, it was necessary to demonstrate whether the iron containing "red protein" was present as a contaminant of commercially obtained lactoperoxidase. Therefore, SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was performed on samples of the commercial preparation of lactoperoxidase. Figure 18 SODIUM DODECYLSULFATE-POLYACRYLAMIDE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS OF COMMERCIAL LACTOPEROXIDASE. Figure 18.

The sample (25 μg) in 1% sodium dodecylsulfate, was heated in a boiling water bath for 15 minutes prior to electrophoresis. The scan of the Coomaaise blue stained gel was made at 550 nm.



MBSORBANCE 550 nm

demonstrates that a single, Coomassie blue stained band was detected. This band corresponded to a molecular weight of 79,000 daltons. Lactoperoxidase has a reported molecular weight of 78,000 daltons (234). The iron containing "red protein" does not appear to be a detectible contaminant of the lactoperoxidase sample and therefore does not play a role in lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation.

Various inhibitors of lipid peroxidation catalyzed by other peroxidizing systems were tested in order to determine the mechanism involved in lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation. The possibility that hydroxyl radicals were involved in peroxidation catalyzed by lactoperoxidase was considered. Superoxide, produced by either the lactoperoxidase system or by microsomes may interact with H_2O_2 to produce hydroxyl radicals. Hydroxyl radicals produced by such a mechanism have been suggested as the killing agent in leukocytes of phagocytized bacteria (264). Therefore, hydroxyl radical trappers were tested for their ability to inhibit lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation. The effects of t-butyl alcohol, mannitol, and sodium formate, all known scavengers of hydroxyl radicals (265-267), were investigated. Table 17 demonstrates that none of these hydroxyl radical scavengers were effective in inhibiting lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation.

Singlet oxygen was also considered as a potential initiator of lipid peroxidation. The reaction of singlet oxygen with unsaturated fatty acids to form hydroperoxides has been demonstrated directly using both singlet oxygen generated by a radiofrequency gas discharge source and by photoactivation using sensitizers known to generate singlet oxygen (268). Recent findings by Allen (269) and Krinsky (270) indicate that myeloperoxidase is capable of producing singlet oxygen via the

TABLE 17.

THE EFFECTS OF HYDROXYL RADICAL SCAVENGERS ON LACTOPEROXIDASE-CALTALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION.

The reaction mixture contained microsomes, KI, H_2O_2 , and ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ as described under "Methods". Inhibitors of hydroxyl radicals were added as indicated. The reaction time equaled 6 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein	% Control
Control	1.01	100
Plus 0.1 M t-butyl alcohol	1.01	100
Plus 0.25 M mannitol	1.01	100
Plus 0.5 M sodium formate	1.14	112
Minus lactoperoxidase	0.12	12
oxidation of chloride anion. The resulting chemiluminescence can also be obtained when iodide is substituted for chloride (269). Therefore, efforts were made to determine if singlet oxygen functioned in lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation. 1, 3-Diphenylisobenzofuran (DPIF) reacts readily with singlet oxygen to form o-dibenzoylbenzene (DBB) (271). Table 18 represents the results obtained when microsomes were incubated with the lactoperoxidase system in the presence of this singlet oxygen trapper. The addition of DPIF had no effect on the appearance of malondialdehyde. The reactions were performed in a dark room under a safe light to prevent the generation of singlet oxygen by photosensitization and to rule out the possible effect of photoexcited DPIF. Since acetone was used as a vehicle for added DPIF, an equivalent amount of acetone was added to one incubation mixture to determine its effect on lipid peroxidation. Acetone, in the amount added, had no effect on lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation.

In order to determine whether the lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 , I^- system was producing superoxide or using superoxide produced elsewhere, superoxide dismutase was included in the reaction mixtures. Superoxide dismutase catalyzes the dismutation of O_2^- , yielding H_2O_2 and molecular oxygen (187). Previous studies with horseradish peroxidase (272) and myeloperoxidase (273) regarding the aerobic oxidation of indoleacetic acid and NADH, respectively, have implicated O_2^- formation in these reactions, probably resulting from the interaction of molecular oxygen and the substrate's free radical form. Therefore, the possible production of O_2^- by the lactoperoxidase system was tested by the addition of superoxide dismutase to the peroxidizing system. When superoxide

TABLE 18

THE EFFECT OF SINGLET OXYGEN SCAVENGERS ON LACTOPEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION.

The reaction mixtures contained microsomes, KI, H_2O_2 and $ADP-Fe^{+++}$ as described under Methods". DPIF, in acetone, was added² as indicated. The reaction time equaled 10 minutes.

Description	Malondialdehyde formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein	% Control
Control	1.00	100%
Plus 0.2 µmoles DPIF/mg microsomal protein	0.98	98
Plus 1.0 µmoles DPIF/mg microsomal protein	0.99	9 9
Plus 50 µl acetone	1.01	101
Minus lactoperoxidase	0.12	12

dismutase was added at concentrations ranging from $30-150 \ \mu g/ml$ of the reaction mixture essentially no inhibition of lipid peroxidation was observed. Therefore, superoxide does not appear to be involved in lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation.

Cadmium acetate was added to the reaction mixture in order to determine if I_3^- may be involved in any way with peroxidation catalyzed by lactoperoxidase. I_3^- can be formed from the combination of molecular iodine and iodide and was routinely observed (as a species absorbing at 353 nm) in the initial (up to 3 min) phase of lipid peroxidation in this system. Cadmium acetate forms a complex with I_3^- and stabilizes the anion (274). No inhibition was observed when cadmium acetate was added to the peroxidizing microsomes. In addition, an equimolar solution of I_2 and I^- was added to microsomes not containing lactoperoxidase. No additional peroxidation was observed over the non-enzymatic control level. Morrison and Bayse (254) have also demonstrated that at neutral pH, neither I_2 nor I_3^- function with lactoperoxidase in the absence of H_2O_2 to iodinate tyrosine. Therefore, I_3^- does not appear to participate in lipid peroxidation catalyzed by lactoperoxidase.

The possibility that a transitory intermediate of I^- oxidation may be involved in initiating peroxidation cannot be ignored. Either the one electron or two electron oxidation of I^- could result in the formation of a species capable of initiating lipid peroxidation. The mechanism of lactoperoxidase-catalyzed protein iodination is thought to involve the two electron oxidation of I^- to yield I^+ (259-261). This electrophilic species may be capable of extracting an electron from a membrane lipid resulting in a lipid radical which would readily react with molecular oxygen to form a peroxy radical. If oxidation of I^- were to proceed via a one electron oxidation, an iodide radical would result. This reactive species could readily react with an unsaturated lipid to form a lipid radical. In the case of phenol oxidation by lactoperoxidase and H_2O_2 , the existing evidence indicates that such a one electron oxidation occurs, resulting in a phenoxy radical (261). Additional evidence implicating a transitory state of iodide oxidation as a reactive species responsible for peroxidation comes from the fact that SCN⁻, which can replace I⁻ as an oxidizable anion for lactoperoxidase and H_2O_2 , is not apparently capable of supporting lipid peroxidation in this system. SCN⁻ has also been shown to inhibit iodination of protein by lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 and I⁻.

The Antimicrobial Activity of the Lactoperoxidase Lipid Peroxidation System:

Previous investigations have shown that cow's milk inhibits the growth of certain bacteria (275, 276). Hansen (277) first suggested that the antimicrobial activity of milk might be due in part to "oxidizing enzymes" since both the peroxidase activity and the antimicrobial activity of milk were inhibited by identical heat treatment. This was confirmed and extended by Wright and Tramen (278), who found a high correlation between the inhibition of the peroxidase activity and the inhibition of the antimicrobial activity of milk by variations in temperature, pH, sodium azide concentration and H_2O_2 concentrations. Portmann and Auclair (279) observed during the purification of lactoperoxidase that there is a direct relationship between the peroxidase activity of the fractions obtained and their antimicrobial activity. Stadhouder and Veninga (280) and Jago and Morrison (281) confirmed that a highly purified preparation of lactoperoxidase had antimicrobial activity. Reiter <u>et al</u>. (282) reported that the antimicrobial system of milk requires halide ions in addition to lactoperoxidase and suggested that the milk and saliva antimicrobial systems may be similar. Subsequently, Klebanoff <u>et al</u>. (186) showed that the addition of H_2O_2 greatly increases the spectrum of organisms inhibited by the peroxidase-halide antimicrobial system.

Myeloperoxidase from polymorphonuclear leukocytes also possesses antimicrobial activity in the presence of halide and H_2O_2 (283). This potent antimicrobial system is effective against bacteria (284), fungi (285), viruses (285), and mycoplasma (286). It has been demonstrated that a chemiluminescent signal is produced by the myeloperoxidase, halide, H_2O_2 system and that the pH optimum for the enzyme mediated chemiluminescence is identical to the pH optimum observed for antimicrobial activity (269). It was noted earlier that chemiluminescence is also associated with peroxidizing membrane lipids, probably through the interaction of lipid hydroperoxides during their breakdown (111-113). The fact that both the antimicrobial peroxidase system and peroxidizing membranes produce chemiluminescence suggest a potential correlation.

The mechanism by which milk kills bacteria has not yet been resolved. However, the present finding that lactoperoxidase is associated with lipid peroxidation suggests that lipid peroxidation of bacterial membranes may be responsible for the antibacterial activity of milk.

In order to test the possible relationship between lactoerpxoidasecatalyzed bacterial killing and peroxidation of membrane lipids, a stock Escherichia coli culture was obtained and maintained as described under "Methods." Optimum growth of bacteria was found to occur in tryptocase soy broth. Thioglycolate broth was unacceptable for growth inhibition studies since lactoperoxidase is inhibited by some sulfur containing compounds including thiourea, glutathione, and thioglycolate (186).

Table 19 demonstrates the antibacterial activity of the complete lactoperoxidase system. Catalase inhibits the reaction by reducing the H_2O_2 concentration. Glucose and glucose oxidase will substitute for exogenous H_2O_2 . All three components of the lactoperoxidase system are required for bacterial killing.

If bacterial killing is mediated by lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation, then the antioxidant BHT should prevent bacterial killing by this system. Table 19 demonstrates that addition of BHT to the bacterial growth system was unable to reverse the killing of bacteria by lactoperoxidase. This would indicate that lactoperoxidasecatalyzing killing of bacteria was not mediated by lipid peroxidation.

In order to verify that lipid peroxidation was not causing bacterial killing, bacteria were grown with two other lipid peroxide forming systems. Table 20 demonstrates the effect of the NADPH-cytochrome c reductase and ascorbate peroxide forming systems of bacterial growth. Not only were these two peroxidizing systems unable to prevent bacterial growth, but growth enhancement occurred. The growth enhancement appeared to be caused by the iron suppliments required by these two peroxidizing systems, since ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ caused growth enhancement by themselves.

Bacterial lipids were extracted with chloroform: methanol and sonicated to make liposomes by the same methods used for microsomal

TABLE 19.

INHIBITION OF BACTERIAL GROWTH BY LACTOPEROXIDASE, KI, AND H₂O₂.

The reaction mixture contained tryptocase broth, <u>E. coli</u>. and the suppliments as follows: lactoperoxidase, 240 o-dianisidine units; KI, 1.25 mM, H_2O_2 , 0.45 mM; glucose 1.25 mM; glucose oxidase, l µg/ml; BHT, 0.005%. Growth conditions and determination of growth are described under "Methods".

Suppliments	Increase in absorbance at 540 nm in 4 hours
None	0.59
Lactoperoxidase	0.61
H ₂ 0 ₂	0.47
КІ	0.59
Lactoperoxidase + KI + $H_2 O_2 \dots \dots \dots \dots$	0.00
Lactoperoxidase + KI + H_20_2 + catalase	0.59
Lactoperoxidase + KI + glucose + glucose oxidase .	0.01
Lactoperoxidase + KI + glucose + glucose oxidase + BHT	0.01

TABLE 20.

THE EFFECT OF PEROXIDE FORMING SYSTEMS ON BACTERIAL GROWTH.

The reaction mixtures contained tryptocase broth, <u>E. coli</u>, and the following suppliments: lactoperoxidase, 120 o_Tdjanisidine upits; glucose, 1.25 mM; glucose oxidase, 1 µg/ml; ADP-Fe⁺ or EDTA-Fe⁺, 0.1 mM; NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, 0.2 µg/ml; ascorbate, 0.1 mM; NADPH, 0.2 mM. Growth conditions and determination of growth are described under "Methods".

Increase in absorbance at 540 nm in 4 hours	
0.55	
0.01	
1.10	
1.03	
0.56	
1.01	
1.10	

lipid. When the liposomes from bacteria were incubated with the lactoperoxidase and ascorbate lipid peroxidation systems, no hydroperoxides or malondialdehyde were produced. It appears that lipids from <u>E. coli</u> are not susceptible to lipid peroxidation. The presence of a lipid associated antioxidant in bacterial membranes may account for this finding.

Since BHT does not inhibit lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination of protein, while it does inhibit lipid peroxidation, the lactoperoxidase system is catalyzing the production of at least two reaction intermediates at the same time. Therefore, the reaction intermediate involved in bacterial killing (and perhaps iodination of protein) is not the same as the one promoting lipid peroxidation.

CHAPTER III

CHARACTERIZATION OF LIPID PEROXIDATION CATALYZED BY LIPOXYGENASE

Lipid Peroxidation Catalyzed by Lipoxygenase:

The results presented in Chapters I and II concerning enzymecatalyzed lipid peroxidation in liposomes indicate that NADPH-dependent peroxidation results in a build up and subsequent breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides during the incubation phase of the reaction. The lactoperoxidase system, however, does not appear to build up hydroperoxides during the incubation phase when liposomes are used as the lipid source. It was suggested that a peroxide forming species was produced by the lactoperoxidase system. This species, in the presence of Fe^{+++} and heat, catalyzed the production of malondialdehyde. Much could be contributed to resolving the differences between these two peroxide forming enzyme systems if a method were available that would permit the build up of lipid hydroperoxides in membranes without their subsequent breakdown to yield malondialdehyde. This would permit the separate analysis of the factors responsible for the build up of hydroperoxides versus those factors catalyzing the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides. Lipid hydroperoxide formation catalyzed by the plant dioxygenase, lipoxygenase, was considered as a potential means to accomplishing this goal.

Soybean lipoxygenase catalyzes the aerobic formation of conjugated cis, trans diene hydroperoxides in emulsions of purified, unsaturated

fatty acids containing methylene interrupted, cis double bonds (287). Suitable substrates for this enzyme include linoleic, linolenic, and arachidonic fatty acids (287). Lipid peroxidation catalyzed by lipoxygenase differs from all other peroxides forming systems discussed so far, in that lipoxygenase has a high degree of specificity with respect to the type of lipid substrate utilized, as well as the position within the lipid chain where the hydroperoxide group is introduced (289). It has been demonstrated that soybean lipoxygenase-catalyzed oxygenation of lipids occurs only at the w-6 position of the lipid substrate. Although the factors unique to the enzyme that determine this specificity are yet unresolved, it is now believed that lipoxygenase forms a complex with both the lipid substrate and molecular oxygen. The proposed mechanism of action for this non-heme, iron containing dioxygenase is shown below (136):

Lipid-H Lipid
Lipid-H + Enz-Fe⁺⁺⁺
$$\longrightarrow$$
 Enz-Fe⁺⁺⁺ \longrightarrow Enz-Fe⁺⁺⁺ + H⁺
 $\downarrow 0_2$
Lipid Lipid
Lipid-00H \leftarrow Enz-Fe⁺⁺⁺ \xleftarrow Enz-Fe⁺⁺⁺
 $+$
Enz-Fe⁺⁺⁺ $0_{\overline{2}}$

The reaction proceeds in the presence of EDTA. Therefore, metalcatalyzed autoxidation and breakdown of hydroperoxides is not expected to occur. Experiments were designed that would permit analysis of the conditions required for the breakdown or autoxidation of the enzyme formed hydroperoxides.

Soybean lipoxygenase was obtained commercially and used without further purification. Porter et al. (93) reported that high yields of

hydroperoxides from γ -linolenic and arachidonic acids were achieved with the commercial preparation of soybean lipoxygenase. Table 21 represents the results obtained from incubating sonicated, γ -linolenic acid with lipoyxgenase. When the enzyme was omitted or heat treated at 100° C for five minutes, no build up of hydroperoxides was observed. However, the native enzyme produced a substantial amount of hydroperoxides within a five minute period. The appearance of malondialdehyde was unexpected since EDTA had been included in the reaction mixture to prevent metal catalyzed decomposition of the hydroperoxides. However, the amount of malondialdehyde produced was only 3% of the amount of hydroperoxides present. Since γ -linolenic acid possesses the three methylene-interrupted double bonds necessary for the formation of malondialdehyde, very little of the potential amount of malondialdehyde was formed.

Initial attempts to peroxidize both liposomal and microsomal membrane lipids using lipoxygenase failed. This was not unexpected since the proposed reaction mechanism for lipoxygenase requires the binding of the lipid substrate to the enzyme. Both liposomal and microsomal membranes should be impermeable to the enzyme. Therefore, the membranes were partially solubilized by treatment with the detergent, sodium deoxycholate (DOC). Table 22 represents the results of treating both microsomes and liposomes with DOC in the presence of lipoxygenase. In both liposomes and microsomes, increasing the concentration of DOC causes a corresponding increase in the enzyme catalyzed production of lipid hydroperoxides. The effect of the detergent is to disrupt the integrety of the membrane, thus exposing lipid molecules to attack by lipoxygenase.

Detergent-solubilized microsomes were incubated with lipoxygenase under varying conditions. Table 23 demonstrates the correlation between

TABLE 21.

LIPOXYGENASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION OF LINOLENIC ACID

The complete reaction mixture contained 0.5 mM sonicated γ -linolenic acid, 1.0 mM EDTA, 20 μ g/ml lipoxygenase and 0.05 M Sodium borate, pH 9.0 at 25° C. Malondialdehyde and hydroperoxide formation were assayed as described under "Methods". The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Hydroperoxides formed nmoles/min/ml	Malondialdehyde formed nmoles/min/ml
Complete reaction mixture	24.0	0.74
Minus lipoxygenase	0.0	0.00
Heat killed lipoxygenase	0.0	0.00

TABLE 22.

THE EFFECT OF DETERGENT OF LIPOXYGENASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN MICROSOMES AND LIPOSOMES.

The reaction mixtures contained microsomes (1 mg protein/ml) or liposomes (1 μ mole lipid Pi/ml), 1.0 mM EDTA, 20 μ g/ml lipoxygenase in 0.05 M sodium borate pH 9.0 at 25° C. DOC was present as indicated. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Hydroperoxides formed nmoles/min/ml	
Micorosmes:		
Minus enzyme	2.0	
Plus enzyme	4.0	
Plus enzyme + 0.04% DOC	4.6	
Plus enzyme + 0.16% DOC	5.4	
Plus enzyme + 0.32% DOC	11.3	
Plus enzyme + 0.64% DOC	14.0	
Liposomes:		
Minus enzyme	2.0	
Plus enzyme	2.0	
Plus enzyme + 0.16% DOC	2.2	
Plus enzyme + 0.32% DOC	8.4	
Plus enzyme + 0.64% DOC	11.2	

TABLE 23.

CONDITIONS FOR LIPOXYGENASE-CATALYZED LIPID PEROXIDATION IN MICROSOMES.

The reaction mixture contained microsomes (1.0 mg protein/ml), 1.0 mM EDTA, and the indicated buffer at 25°C. Lipoxygenase was included as indicated. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Hydroperoxide formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein	Malondialdehyde formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein
Microsomes in 0.05 M sodium borate, pH 9.0:		
Minus enzyme	1.6	0.00
Plus heat killed enzyme	1.4	0.00
Plus 20 µg/ml enzyme	12.3	0.73
Plus 80 µg/ml enzyme	40.0	1.20
Plus 200 µg/ml enzyme	84.0	1.90
Microsomes, in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4:		
Plus 20 μg/ml enzyme	1.9	0.00

enzyme concentration and the amount of hydroperoxides formed. The reaction is dependent on pH and does not produce hydroperoxides in 0.05 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4. Some breakdown of lipids hydroperoxides to yield malondialdehyde was observed in microsomes. The breakdown of hydroperoxides to yield malondialdehyde in microsomes was occurring to a greater extent than in γ -linolenic acid, since only about 24% of the lipids present in microsomes have the necessary double bonds required to produce malondialdehyde (1).

When ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was added to the reaction mixture, no change in the amount of hydroperoxides produced was observed (Table 24). This may indicate that Fe⁺⁺⁺ does not interact with lipid hydroperoxides during the incubation period to catalyze breakdown of the hydroperoxides. This is consistent with the fact that ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ and EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺, in the absence of reducing agents or heat, were unable to catalyze the decomposition of cumene hydroperoxide at 37° C (Figure 10). The 25% enhancement of malondialdehyde production observed when ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was present in the reaction mixture probably represents the interaction of Fe⁺⁺⁺ with lipid hydroperoxides during heating with TCA-TBA reagent, in a manner analogous to the reaction of Fe⁺⁺⁺ and H₂O₂ (Table 13).

BHT was added to the reaction mixture both during and after the incubation period. The presence of BHT during the incubation period completely blocks lipid peroxidation. This is consistent with the proposed, radical mediated reaction mechanism for lipoxygenase (136), and the inhibition of peroxidation observed by others when the antioxidant, nordihydroquaiaretic acid, was added to the lipoxygenase system (289). When BHT was added after the completion of the incubation of enzyme with microsomes, malondialdehyde production was inhibited by only 7%. It is

140

THE EFFECT OF Fe⁺⁺⁺ AND BHT ON THE BREAKDOWN OF LIPID HYDROPEROXIDES FORMED BY LIPOXYGENASE IN MICROSOMES.

The complete reaction mixtures contained microsomes (1.0 mg protein/ml) 20 μ g/ml lipoxygenase, and 0.05 M sodium borate. EDTA, ADP-Fe , and BHT were added as indicated. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Hydroperoxides formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein	Malondialdehyde formed <u>nmoles/min</u> mg protein
Complete reaction mixture:		
Plus 1.0 mM EDTA	12.3	0.73
Plus 0.1 mM ADP-FE ⁺⁺⁺ during the reaction	12.2	0.97
Plus 0.005% BHT during the reaction	1.6	0.00
Plus 0.005% BHT after the reaction	12.3	0.68

apparent that the conversion of lipid hydroperoxides to malondialdehyde is occurring during the incubation period. This is consistent with the proposal of a microsomal component responsible for the breakdown of lipid peroxides. This component has functioned in both the NADPHdependent and lactoperoxidase-dependent microsomal peroxidation systems.

Lipoxygenase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation of detergent-solubilized liposomes provides additional evidence supporting the existence of this microsomal component (Table 25). Although lipid hydroperoxides build up during the incubation period, very little malondialdehyde production is observed. When BHT is added after the reaction period, malondialdehyde production is completely abolished. When Fe^{+++} is included in the incubation mixture, malondialdehyde values increase. Therefore, it appears evident that in liposomes, malondialdehyde production from the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides occurs only after the reaction period is ended. Both Fe^{+++} and heat assist in the conversion of hydroperoxides to malondialdehyde.

The results presented in this section indicate that lipoxygenase acts on detergent solubilized membrane lipids to produce lipid hydroperoxides. In microsomes, a proposed membrane component catalyzes the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides to yield malondialdehyde. In liposomes, breakdown of hydroperoxides occurs only during the heating of membrane with TCA-TBA reagent and is accelerated by the presence of Fe^{+++} .

Lipid Hydroperoxide Mediated Drug Metabolism:

The liver mixed-function oxidase system metabolizes a variety of drugs, steroids, fatty acids, alkanes, and other foreign compounds (290). This system has been resolved into three components, including

TABLE 25.

THE EFFECT OF Fe⁺⁺⁺ AND BHT ON THE BREAKDOWN OF HYDROPEROXIDES FORMED BY LIPOXYGENASE IN LIPOSOMES.

The complete reaction mixture contained liposomes, (1.0 μ mole lipid Pi/ml), 20 μ g lipoxygenase, 1.0 mM EDTA, and 0.05 M sodium borate, pH 9.0 at 25° C. ADP-Fe⁻⁺ and BHT were added as indicated. The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Hydroperoxides formed <u>nmoles/min</u> µmole lipid Pi	Malondialdehyde formed <u>nmoles/min</u> µmole lipid Pi
Complete reaction mixture	11.0	0.19
Minus enzyme	2.0	0.00
Plus ADP-Fe ⁺⁺⁺ (without EDTA)	11.2	0.87
Plus BHT after the incubation period	11.0	0.00
the incubation period	11.0	0.00

NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, cytochrome P-450, and a lipid component (291). Rahimtula and O'Brien (292) demonstrated that cumene hydroperoxide will support P-450 catalyzed aromatic hydroxylations in the absence of NADPH and molecular oxygen. Recently, others have increased the list of drugs metabolized by the cumene hydroperoxide-cytochrome P-450 system (293, 294). This may not be difficult to accept since the reduced, oxygen containing active site of P-450 would, in theory, be very similar to peroxidase Compound I (295). Peroxidase Compound I results from the interaction of H_2O_2 with the Fe⁺⁺⁺ form of the enzyme. A major question left unanswered concerning peroxide supported drug metabolism was whether endogenous microsomal lipid hydroperoxides could support cytochrome P-450 catalyzed drug metabolism. If this were true, then membrane lipid hydroperoxides may act as a reserve source of energy to metabolize foreign compounds in the absence of NADPH. The present use of lipoxygenase on detergent-solubilized microsomes indicates that lipid hydroperoxides can be produced in microsomes without the use of NADPH. It was therefore of interest to determine whether endogenous, microsomal lipid hydroperoxides, resulting from the action of lipoxygenase, could support cytochrome P-450-catalyzed drug metabolism.

Since detergent solubilization of microsomes is necessary for lipoxygenase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation to occur, it was necessary to determine if cumene hydroperoxide supported drug metabolism was affected by treatment of the microsomes with DOC (Table 26). Although NADPHdependent drug metabolism is almost entirely abolished by 0.16% DOC, cumene hydroperoxide supported drug metabolism still retains some drug metabolizing activity at 0.32% DOC. Therefore, lipoxygenase was incubated with aminopyrine in the presence of detergent-solubilized

TABLE 26.

THE EFFECT OF DETERGENT-SOLUBILIZATION OF MICROSOMES ON BOTH NADPH AND HYDROPEROXIDE-DEPENDENT DRUG METABOLISM.

The control reaction mixture contained microsomes, aminopyrine, EDTA, and buffer as described under "Methods". 0.2 mM NADPH or 220 nmoles/ml cumene hydroperoxide (CHP) were included as indicated. DOC was present in the amounts indicated. Formaldehyde production was assayed as described under "Methods". The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Formaldehyde formed nmoles/min/ml
Control	0.5
Plus NADPH	7.6
Plus NADPH + 0.16% DOC	0.6
P1us CHP	8.8
Plus CHP + 0.04% DOC	7.0
Plus CHP + 0.08% DOC	4.9
Plus CHP + 0.16% DOC	3.0
Plus CHP + 0.32% DOC	2.9

microsomes to determine if microsomal lipid hydroperoxides would support cytochrome P-450 catalyzed drug metabolism. The demethylation of aminopyrine is a reaction catalyzed by cytochrome P-450 (188). Table 27 demonstrates that lipid hydroperoxides, formed through the action of lipoxygenase on microsomal lipid, support the cytochrome P-450 linked demethylation of aminopyrine. It was of particular interest to note that the specific activity of lipid hydroperoxide-catalyzed drug metabolism was 0.028 nmoles formaldehyde formed per nmole lipid hydroperoxide formed versus 0.013 nmoles formaldehyde formed per nmole cumene hydroperoxide. The amount of lipid hydroperoxide present in the reaction mixture was based on the lipoxidase catalyzed yield of hydroperoxide during a five minute incubation in microsomes solubilized in 0.32% DOC. This would indicate that endogenous lipid hydroperoxides may be more effective in catalyzing cytochrome P-450 linked drug metabolism than exogenous, artificial organic peroxides.

The significance of peroxide-catalyzed drug metabolism has not been established at this time. However, the fact that microsomal membrane lipid hydroperoxides are suitable substrates for this reaction has been established. Whether this bears any significance to the <u>in vivo</u> reactions of cytochrome P-450 remains unanswered.

A CALENDARY CONTRACTOR OF A CALENDARY OF

TABLE 27

MICROSOMAL DRUG METABOLISM CATALYZED BY MEMBRANE LIPID HYDROPEROXIDES.

The control reaction mixture contained microsomes, aminopyrine, EDTA, and buffer as described under "Methods". Lipoxygenase (100 μ g/ml) was present or absent as indicated. DOC was included in the amounts indicated. Formaldehyde production was assayed as described under "Methods". The reaction time equaled 5 minutes.

Description	Formaldehyde formed nmoles/min/ml	
	- lipoxygenase	+ lipoxygenase
Control + 0.08% DOC	0.6	2.7
Control + 0.16% DOC	0.6	3.6
Control + 0.32% DOC	0.6	7.3

DISCUSSION

The Prooxidant Activity of Cytochrome P-450:

Results presented in Chapters I, II, and III show that enzymemediated lipid peroxidation in intact microsomes differs in one important respect from peroxidation catalyzed in liposomes. Lipid peroxidation in liposomes that is catalyzed by either the lipoxygenase or the lactoperoxidase systems does not appear to produce the hydroperoxide breakdown product, malondialdehyde, until the membrane lipids are heated with TCA-TBA reagent in the presence of Fe^{+++} . This fact is indicated by the studies in which the free radical trapper, BHT, was added to the reaction mixture upon completion of the incubation period. BHT abolished the appearance of malondialdehyde when present during the heating of the membrane with TCA-TBA reagent. In microsomes, however, addition of BHT to the reaction mixture after the incubation period did not substantially decrease the appearance of malondialdehyde. This fact suggested the existence of a factor in microsomes which facilitates the breakdown of enzymatically produced lipid hydroperoxides. Since hydroperoxide breakdown usually occurs through a radical producing mechanism, it is likely that the factor responsible for hydroperoxide breakdown also increases the production of lipid free radicals.

Results obtained from the study of NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in microsomes and liposomes further supports the concept of a microsomal factor which functions to facilitate the breakdown of lipid

hydroperoxides. It was demonstrated that EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ was required, in addition to ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺, for maximum NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in liposomes, while microsomal peroxidation required only ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺. Subsequently, it was demonstrated that EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺, in the presence of NADPH and NADPH-cytochrome c reductase, greatly facilitated the breakdown of cumene hydroperoxide. The iron catalyzed breakdown of cumene hydroperoxide paralleled the ability of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase to reduce chelated forms of Fe⁺⁺⁺. It was suggested that enzymatically reduced EDTA-chelated iron replaces the factor present in microsmes which facilitates hydroperoxide breakdown. Since neither the lactoperoxidase nor the lipoxygenase lipid peroxidation systems are capable of reducing EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺, addition of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ to liposomes during incubation with either of these two enzyme systems did not appear to facilitate the breakdown of hydroperoxides, as judged by malondialdehyde production.

Recent reports indicate that cytochrome P-450 may be the component present in microsomes that catalyzes the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides. O'Brien and Rahimtula (296) have demonstrated that the addition of cumene hydroperoxide to microsomes results in the rapid uptake of oxygen by the microsomes. A rancid odor characteristic of peroxidized lipid was detected concurrent with the production of the lipid hydroperoxide breakdown product, malondialdehyde. The rate of oxygen uptake with 1.5 mM cumene hydroperoxide was 150 nmoles of 0_2 per minute per mg microsomal protein. Since cumene hydroperoxide is not structurally similar to unsaturated fatty acids and lacks the molecular configuration necessary for the breakdown formation of endoperoxides and subsequently, malondialdehyde, cumene hydroperoxide must be promoting the peroxidation of endogenous, microsomal lipids, which subsequently breakdown to

produce malondialdehyde. Inhibitors of cytochrome P-450 abolished the cumene hydroperoxide promoted peroxidation of endogenous microsomal lipids. When purified cytochrome P-450 was incubated with egg yolk lecithin in the presence of cumene hydroperoxide, oxygen uptake was again observed, indicating the peroxidation of lecithin was occurring. This fact clearly indicates that cytochrome P-450 interacts with hydroperoxide to promote the peroxidation of unsaturated lipid substrates.

Previous studies concerning the metal catalyzed breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides at 60° C indicated that hemoproteins like cytochrome P-450 were the most effective metal containing compounds tested (20, 136). The order of effectiveness was: hemoproteins and hematin > $Fe^{++} > Fe^{+++}$ > Cu⁺⁺. Decomposition of hydroperoxides by metals in their higher valence state was greatly facilitated by reducing agents, such as ascorbate and cysteine. Therefore, the reduction of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ by NADPHcytochrome c reductase in the liposomal peroxidation system must duplicate the decomposition of hydroperoxides and the propagation of lipid radicals promoted by cytochrome P-450 in intact microsomes.

It has previously been reported that the decomposition of lipid hydroperoxides catalyzed by heme containing compounds results in the destruction of the heme group (102). The incubation of hydroperoxides with microsomes also resulted in the destruction of cytochrome P-450, as indicated by the loss of drug metabolizing activity in microsomes (297). It is interesting to note that peroxidation of microsomal lipid catalyzed by NADPH (298, 299) and the lactoperoxidase protein iodinating system (248) both result in the destruction of cytochrome P-450. Therefore, the destruction of cytochrome P-450 during enzyme mediated lipid

peroxidation probably results from the catalytic interaction of cytochrome P-450 with lipid hydroperoxides during hydroperoxide breakdown.

The Peroxidase Activity of Cytochrome P-450:

In a second series of papers, Hrycay and O'Brien (297, 300), observed another cytochrome P-450 catalyzed reaction with lipid hydroperoxides. In the presence of a hydrogen donor, such as N, N, N', N'tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine, (TMPD), cytochrome P-450 acts as a peroxidase to decompose linoleic acid hydroperoxide. A peroxidase reaction results in the reduction of a peroxide with the simultaneous oxidation of a hydrogen donor (295). When microsomal "P-450 particles," containing cytochrome P-450 as the sole protoheme containing constituent, were incubated with linoleic acid hydroperoxide, in the presence of TMPD, TMPD was oxidized as the linoleic acid hydroperoxide disappeared. During the course of the reaction, cytochrome P-450 was not destroyed. Therefore, in the presence of an oxidizable substrate and a lipid hydroperoxide, cytochrome P-450 acts as a peroxidase without undergoing destruction. If the interaction of lipid hydroperoxides with cytochrome P-450 results in the formation of a peroxidase Compound I type species, (295), then the peroxidase activity of cytochrome P-450 is chemically reasonable. A peroxidase Compound I type species was also proposed for cytochrome P-450 as an intermediate in the lipid hydroperoxidedependent hydroxylation of drugs. Of particular interest was the finding that linoleic acid hydroperoxide was three times more effective than cumene hydroperoxide in the cytochrome P-450 mediated oxidation of TMPD. It was demonstrated in Chapter III that endogenous, microsomal lipid hydroperoxides formed by lipoxygenase were more effective in promoting cytochrome P-450 mediated drug metabolism than cumene hydroperoxide.

It may be true that drug substrates, like peroxidase hydrogen donors, protect cytochrome P-450 from destruction. If lipid hydroperoxides do not destroy cytochrome P-450 in the presence of hydrogen donors, then drug substrates may also afford protection. If this were not true, then lipid hydroperoxides would destroy cytochrome P-450 and hydroperoxide-dependent drug metabolism would not be possible.

Mixed type reactions in which monooxygenases, peroxidases, and oxidases interchange activities under defined conditions have been observed (295). If peroxides are intermediate products of oxygen reduction, then it may be said in many cases that peroxide metabolism is involved as a part of the overall metabolism of oxygen.

Based on the evidence presented here, the following three reactions can be proposed for cytochrome P-450 in the presence of lipid hydroperoxides.

$$LOOH + AH_2 \xrightarrow{Cyt. P-450} LOH + H_20 + A$$
 1)

LOOH + drug substrate $\xrightarrow{Cyt. P-450}$ drug-OH + lipid products 2) LOOH $\xrightarrow{Cyt. P-450}$ lipid radicals 3) (degraded Cyt. P-450)

Reactions 1) and 2) probably do not result in the degradation of cytochrome P-450 and may not be radical producing. Reaction 3) is of interest in the present study, and available evidence indicates that both breakdown of hydroperoxides and promotion of lipid peroxidation occur via this reaction (297, 300).

A Model for the Enzyme-Catalyzed Peroxidation of Membrane Lipids:

Based on reaction 3), the following model can be proposed for the mechanisms involved in lipid peroxidation catalyzed by the NADPH-

cytochrome c reductase, lactoperoxidase, and lipoxygenase systems (Figure 19).

NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation is probably initiated by the interaction of reduced, ADP-chelated iron with molecular oxygen to produce the perferryl ion. This species probably acts very much like the superoxide anion to abstract a hydrogen from unsaturated lipids. Lipid hydroperoxides subsequently result from the interaction of molecular oxygen with newly formed lipid radical. In microsomes, cytochrome P-450 acts to further propagate more free radicals via the catalytic breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides. Cytochrome P-450 is destroyed in the process. In liposomes, enzymatically reduced EDTA-chelated iron replaces cytochrome P-450 to catalyze the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides and to propagate more free radicals. In both microsomes and liposomes, lipid endoperoxides (precursors to malondialdehyde) are formed during the incubation period.

Lipoxygenase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation results in the formation of lipid hydroperoxides without the intermediate production of free, lipid radicals. In microsomes, cytochrome P-450 catalyzes the breakdown of hydroperoxides and the propagation of more lipid radicals. Lipid endoperoxides (and malondialdehyde) are formed during the incubation period. In liposomes, hydroperoxides are produced by the enzyme without their subsequent breakdown to form malondialdehyde. Only when lipid hydroperoxides are heated under mild acid conditions with Fe^{+++} , do the hydroperoxides undergo breakdown. Malondialdehyde is formed only during the heating step.

In lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation, initiation of peroxidation probably occurs via the formation of intermediate oxidation

Figure 19.

REACTION MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN MICROSOMAL AND LIPOSOMAL LIPID PEROXIDATION CATALYZED BY THE NADPH-CYTOCHROME c REDUCTASE, LIPOXYGENASE, AND LACTOPER-OXIDASE SYSTEMS.



products of I⁻. Either I \cdot or I⁺ would be capable of interacting with unsaturated lipids to effect lipid radical formation. Lactoperoxidasecatalyzed lipid peroxidation in microsomes is facilitated by lipid radicals produced through the interaction of lipid hydroperoxides with cytochrome P-450. In liposomes, neither lipid hydroperoxides nor malondialdehyde are detected during the incubation period. This probably indicates that the rate of initiation of hydroperoxide formation is slow in the lactoperoxidase system. Without a catalyst like cytochrome P-450 or reduced iron, peroxidation does not proceed very fast. Only under the influence of heat and mild acid does Fe⁺⁺⁺ act catalytically to promote increased hydroperoxide formation and breakdown.

The involvement of cytochrome P-450 in the metabolism of membrane lipid hydroperoxides has some important implications on the regulation and control of the destructive processes associated with lipid peroxidation. If cytochrome P-450 acts as a true peroxidase in the presence of hydrogen donors, then lipid hydroperoxides should be reduced to lipid hydroxides and water. If this reaction does not proceed via the production of free lipid radicals, then lipid hydroperoxides would effectively be neutralized. Therefore, if suitable hydrogen donors are present in the endoplasmic reticulum, lipid peroxidation (either NADPH-dependent or non-enzymatically induced) would be inhibited by the peroxidase catalyzed reduction of hydroperoxides by cytochrome P-450. O'Brien has demonstrated that suitable hydrogen donors for the peroxidase activity of cytochrome P-450 include ascorbate, cysteine, ubiquinol, α tocopherol, reduced glutathione, tyrosine, and tryptophan (301). In the absence of suitable hydrogen donors, however, cytochrome P-450 would act as a prooxidant, resulting in increased peroxidation and its own destruction.

SUMMARY

1) The solubilization of NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from the microsomal membrane by either crude pancreatic lipase or protease results in the proteolytic cleavage and release of a catalytically active protion of the native enzyme. Antibody to the purified, liver microsomal reductase inhibits the cytochrome c and ferricyanide reducing activity of both liver and lung microsomal NADPH-cytochrome c reductase equally. Ouchterlony analysis and SDS-gel electrophoresis of the immunoprecipitates obtained from detergent-solubilized liver and lung microsomes indicate that the liver and lung NADPH-cytochrome c reductase are extremely similar, if not identical.

2) Purified NADPH-cytochrome c reductase from lung microsomes is as effective as the corresponding liver enzyme in catalyzing lipid peroxidation in model liposomal system. NADPH-dependent peroxidation in lung microsomes, however, occurs much slower than NADPH-dependent peroxidation in liver microsomes. The decreased rate of malondialdehyde production in lung microsomes is probably a function of the structure and composition of the lung microsomal membrane.

3) NADPH-dependent peroxidation of microsomes and liposomes requires ADP-chelated ferric ions. ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is more effective in catalyzing lipid peroxidation than ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺. Therefore, the enzymatic reduction of ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ by NADPH-cytochrome c reductase is probably responsible for the initiation of lipid peroxidation, presumably through

the interaction of a perferryl ion with unsaturated microsomal lipid. Neither the enzymatic nor non-enzymatic reduction of EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ results in the lipid peroxidation of microsomal lipid.

4) NADPH-dependent peroxidation in microsomes and liposomes results in an early build-up of lipid hydroperoxides followed by a net breakdown of hydroperoxides. Enzymatically reduced EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ is very effective in catalyzing the breakdown of cumene hydroperoxide and probably functions in the model, liposomal system to breakdown lipid hydroperoxide. The breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides by EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺ probably results in the production of peroxide forming lipid radicals. Neither ADP-Fe⁺⁺⁺ nor EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺, in their oxidized states, catalyze lipid peroxide breakdown at 37° C. Since intact microsomes do not require EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ in NADPHdependent peroxidation, EDTA-Fe⁺⁺⁺⁺ probably functions in the model liposomal system to replace a component of the microsomal membrane which catalyzes lipid hydroperoxide breakdown and radical propagation.

5) Lactoperoxidase, H_2O_2 and I⁻ catalyze both the iodination of protein and the peroxidation of microsomal and liposomal lipid membranes. Optimum concentrations of I⁻ and H_2O_2 for lactoperoxidase-catalyzed peroxidation of microsomes are 0.4 mM and 8.8 mM, respectively. The optimum concentration of H_2O_2 decreases for peroxidation of liposomes owing to elimination of the catalase contaminant present in microsomes.

6) Fe⁺⁺⁺ is not required for the initiation of lactoperoxidasecatalyzed lipid peroxidation, but does assist in the propagation of lipid radicals via the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides during heating of the membrane with TCA-TBA reagent. BHT added at the completion of the incubation period completely abolishes malondialdehyde production in liposomes and causes a small decrease in malondialdehyde production in

microsomes. Therefore, in liposomes, malondialdehyde produced from the breakdown of lipid peroxides, does not occur in appreciable amounts until the membrane lipids are heated in the presence of Fe⁺⁺⁺.

7) Initiation of lipid peroxidation by the lactoperoxidase system is probably catalyzed by an oxidation product of I⁻. Singlet oxygen, superoxide, hydroxyl radicals and I_3^- are not involved in initiation of lactoperoxidase-catalyzed lipid peroxidation.

8) The antimicrobial activity of the lactoperoxidase, H₂O₂, I⁻ system is not apparently mediated by the peroxidation of bacterial membrane lipids. BHT does not block lactoperoxidase-catalyzed bacterial killing. Other peroxide forming systems do not cause killing of bacteria.

9) Lipoxygenase catalyzes the production of lipid hydroperoxides in γ -linolenic micelles and in detergent-solubilized microsomes and liposomes. The reaction is dependent on pH and enzyme concentration.

10) Hydroperoxides formed by lipoxygenase undergo breakdown to produce malondialdehyde in microsomes during the incubation period. In liposomes, breakdown of membrane lipid hydroperoxides occurs only upon heating of the membranes with Fe⁺⁺⁺ and is radical mediated.

11) Lipoxygenase-catalyzed hydroperoxide formation in detergentsolubilized microsomes supports the cytochrome P-450 mediated metabolism of aminopyrine. Endogenous microsomal lipid hydroperoxides are more effective in cytochrome P-450 mediated drug metabolishm than exogenous cumene hydroperoxide.

12) Recent evidence suggests that cytochrome P-450 in microsomes is the factor responsible for the radical mediated breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides.
ł

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. May, H.E., and McCay, P.B. (1968) J. Biol. Chem., <u>243</u>, 2288.
- 2. Khon, H.I., and Liversedge, M. (1944) J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therap. <u>82</u>, 292.
- 3. Bernheim, F., Bernheim, M.L.C., and Wilbur, K.M. (1948) J. Biol. Chem., <u>174</u>, 257.
- 4. Tappel, A.L., and Zalkin, H. (1959) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>80</u>, 333.
- 5. McCay, P.B. (1966) J. Biol. Chem., 241, 2333.
- Slater, T.F. (1972) in Free Radical Mechanisms in Tissue Injury,
 p. 4, Pior Limited, London, England.
- 7. Uri, N. (1961) in Autoxidations and Antioxidants, Vol. I, (Lundberg, W.O., ed.) p. 55, Interscience Publishers, New York, N.Y.
- 8. Tappel, A.L. (1975) in Pathobiology of Cell Membranes, Vol. I, (Trump, B.F., and Arstila, A.U., eds.) p. 146, Academic Press, Inc., New York, NY
- 9. Mead, J.F. (1976) in Free Radicals in Biology (Pryor, W.A., ed.) p. 51, Academic Press, Inc., New York, NY.
- Dahle, L.K., Hill, E.G., and Holman, R.T. (1962) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>98</u>, 253.
- 11. Pryor, W.A., and Stanley, J.P. (1975) J. Org. Chem., 40, 3615.
- 12. Gardner, H.W., Kleiman, R., and Weisleder, D. (1974) Lipids, 9, 696.
- Frankel, E.N., Evans, C.D., Cowan, J.C. (1960) J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., <u>37</u>, 418.
- 14. Evans, C.D., List, G.R., Dolev, A., McConnell, D.G., and Hoffman, R.L. (1967) Lipids, <u>2</u>, 432.
- 15. Hamberg, M., and Gotthammar, B. (1973) Lipids, 8, 737.
- 16. Bateman, L., and Hughes, H. (1952) J. Chem. Soc.,

- 17. Walling, C., and Heaton, L. (1965) J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87, 48.
- Walling, C., ed. (1957) in Free Radicals in Solution, p. 397, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., London, England.
- 19. Maier, V.P., and Tappel, A.L. (1959) J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., <u>36</u>, 8.
- 20. O'Brien, P.J. (1968) Can. J. Biochem., 47, 485.
- 21. Maier, V.P., and Tappel, A.L. (1959) J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., <u>36</u>, 12.
- 22. Sheng, M.N., and Zajacek, J.G. (1970) J. Org. Chem., 35, 1839.
- 23. Swern, D., ed. (1970) in Organic Peroxides, John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- Scott, G., ed. (1965) in Atmospheric Oxidations and Antioxidants, Elsevier Publ. Co., Amsterdam, Netherlands.
- Bateman, L., Gee, G., Morris, A.L. and Watson, W.F. (1951) Discuss. Faraday Soc., <u>10</u>, 250.
- 26. Bateman, L., and Morris, A. L. (1953) Trans. Faraday Soc., <u>49</u>, 1026.
- 27. Howard, J.A. (1973) in Free Radicals, (Kochi, J.K., ed.) Vol. II, p. 3, John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- 28. Reich, L., and Stivala, S.S. (1969) in Autoxidation of Hydrocarbons and Polyolefins, Dekker, New York, NY.
- 29. Schultz, H.W., Day, E.A., and Sinnhuber, R.O. (1962) in Lipids and Their Oxidations, Avi Publ., West Port, Connecticut.
- 30. Pryor, W.A. (1971) Chem. Eng. News, 49, 34.
- 31. Barber, A.A., and Bernheim, F. (1967) Advan. Gerontol. Res., <u>2</u>, 355.
- 32. Samuelsson, B. (1970) in Lipid Metabolism, (Wakil, S.J., ed.) p. 107, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Hamberg, M., Samuelsson, B., Bjørkhem, I., and Danielsson, H. (1974) in Molecular Mechanism of Oxygen Activation, (Hayaishi, O., ed.) p. 29, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- 34. Franks, F., Gent, M., and Roberts, B. (1965) J. Appl. Chem., <u>15</u>, 243.

- 35. Siakotas, A.N., and Koppang, N. (1973) Mech. Ageing Develop., <u>2</u>, 177.
- Linnett, J.W., ed. (1964) The Electronic Structure of Molecules, Methuen, London, England.
- 37. Ausloos, P. (1968) Fundamental Processes in Radiation Chemistry, John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- 38. Bacq, Z.M., and Alexander, P. (1966) Fundamentals of Radiobiology, 2nd ed., Pergamon, Oxford, England.
- 39. Errera, M., and Forssberg, eds. (1961) Mechanisms in Radiobiology, Vols. I and II, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- 40. Meyers, L.S. (1973) Fed. Proc., Fed. Amer. Soc. Exp. Biol., <u>32</u>, 1882.
- 41. Feinstein, R.N., ed. (1963) Implications of Organic Peroxides in Radiobiology, Radiat. Res., Suppl. 3, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- 42. Phillips, G.O., ed. (1968) Energetics and Mechanisms in Radiation Biology, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- 43. Pryor, W.A. (1976) in Free Radicals in Biology (Pryor, W.A., ed.) p. 1, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- 44. Turro, N.J. (1965) Molecular Photochemistry, Benjamin, New York, NY.
- 45. Labout, J.J.M. (1972) Int. J. Radiat. Biol., 21, 483.
- 46. La Bella, F.S., and Paul, G. (1965) J. Gerontol., 20, 54.
- 47. Hochschild, R. (1971) Exp. Gerontol., 6, 153.
- 48. Schenck, G.O., Decker, H.D., Schulte, K.H., and Krauch, C.H. (1963) Chem. Ber., <u>96</u>, 509.
- 49. Smith, L.L., and Hill, F.L. (1972) J. Chromatogr., <u>66</u>, 101.
- 50. Clements, A.H., Van den Engh, R.H., Frost, D.J., Hougenhout, K., and Nooi, J.R. (1973) J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., <u>50</u>, 325.
- 51. Nickon, A., and Bagli, J.F. (1959) J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 6330.
- 52. Gallo, U., and Santamaria, eds. (1972) Research Progress in Organic, Biological, and Medicinal Chemistry, Vol. III, Amer. Elsevier, New York, NY.

- 53. Spikes, J.D., and MacKnight, M.L. (1970) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., <u>171</u>, 149.
- 54. Spikes, J.D. (1967) Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem., 18, 409.
- 55. Pryor, W.A. (1973) Fed. Proc., Fed. Amer. Soc. Exp. Biol., <u>32</u>, 1862.
- 56. Goddard, W.A., Dunning, T.H., Hunt, W.J., and Hay, P.J. (1973) Accounts Chem. Res., 6, 368.
- 57. Goldstein, B.D., Balchum, O.J., Demopoulos, H.B., and Duke, P.S. (1968) Arch. Environ. Health, 17, 46.
- 58. Leighton, P.A. (1961) Photochemistry of Air Pollution, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- 59. Schuck, E.A., Ford, H.W., and Stephens, E.R. (1958) Air Pollution Effects of Irradiated Automobile Exhaust as Related to Fuel Composition, Rep. No. 26, Air Pollut. Found. San Marino, California.
- 60. Chao, S.C., and Jaffee, S. (1972) J. Chem. Phys., 56, 1987.
- 61. Roehm, J.N., Hadley, J.C., and Menzel, D.B. (1971) Arch. Environ. Health, <u>23</u>, 142.
- 62. Roehm, J.N., Hadley, J.C., and Menzel, D.B. (1971) Arch. Intern. Med., <u>128</u>, 88.
- 63. Estefan, R.M., Guase, E.M., and Rowlands, J.R. (1970) Environ. Res., <u>3</u>, 62.
- 64. Jonkman, L., Muller, H., Kiers, C., and Kommandeur, J. (1970) J. Phys. Chem., <u>74</u>, 1650.
- 65. Recknagel, R.O. (1967) Pharmacol. Rev., 19, 145.
- 66. Di Luzio, N.R. (1973) Fed. Proc., Fed. Amer. Soc. Exp. Biol., 32, 1875.
- 67. Ugazio, G., Koch, R.R., and Recknagel, R.O. (1973) Exp. Nol. Pathol., <u>18</u>, 281.
- 68. Di Luzio, N.R. (1963) Physiologist, <u>6</u>, 169.
- 69. Di Luzio, N.R. (1964) Life Sci., <u>3</u>, 113.
- 70. Di Luzio, N.R. and Costales, F. (1965) Exp. Molec. Path., <u>4</u>, 141.
- 71. Kalish, G.H., and Di Luzio, N.R. (1966) Science, <u>152</u>, 1390.

- 72. Nordenbrand, K., Hochstein, P. and Ernster, L. (1964) Sixth International Congress of Biochemistry, Vol. 3, New York.
- 73. Abramson, H. (1949) J. Biol. Chem., 178, 179.
- 74. Barber, A.A. (1966) Lipids, 1, 146.
- 75. Hochstein, P., and Ernster, L. (1963) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>12</u>, 388.
- 76. Yamazaki, I. (1971) Advan. Biophys., 2, 33.
- 77. Fisher, H.F., Conn, E.E., Vennesland, B., and Westheimer, F.H. (1953) J. Biol. Chem., <u>202</u>, 687.
- 78. Swallow, A.J. (1972) Isr. J. Chem., 10, 999.
- 79. Land, E.J., and Swallow, A.J. (1968) Biochem. Biophys. Acta, <u>162</u>, 327.
- 80. Dolphin, D. and Felton, R.H. (1974) Accounts Chem. Res., 7, 26.
- 81. Mahler, H.R., and Cordes, E.H. (1966) Biological Chemistry, Harper International Edition, p. 576.
- 82. Land, E.J., and Swallow, A.J. (1969) Biochemistry, 8, 2117.
- 83. Massey, V., and Gibson, Q.H. (1964) Fed. Proc., Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol., <u>23</u>, 18.
- 84. Malkin, R., and Rabinowitz, J.C. (1967) A. Rev. Biochem., <u>36</u>, 113.
- 85. Hemmerich, P., Devartanian, D.V., Veeger, C., and Vorst, J.D.W. (1963) Biochem. Biophys. Acta, <u>77</u>, 504.
- Pederson, T.C., and Aust, S.D. (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., <u>48</u>, 789.
- 87. Pederson, T.C., Buege, J.A., and Aust, S.D. (1973) J. Biol. Chem., <u>248</u>, 7134.
- Sugioka, K., and Nakano, M. (1975) Biochem. Biophys. Acta, <u>423</u>, 203.
- 89. King, M.M., Lai, E.K., and McCay, P.B. (1975) J. Biol. Chem., <u>250</u>, 6496.
- 90. Pederson, T.C., and Aust, S.D. (1973) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>52</u>, 1071.

- 91. Fong, K.L., McCay, P.B., and Poyer, J.L. (1973) J. Biol. Chem., <u>248</u>, 7792.
- 92. Kellogg, E.W., and Fridovich, I. (1975) J. Biol. Chem., 250, 8812.
- 93. Funk, M.O. Isaac, R., and Porter, N.A. (1976) Lipids, 11, 113.
- 94. Christopher, J.P., Pistorius, E.K., Regnier, F.E., and Axelrod, B. (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Acta, <u>289</u>, 82.
- 95. Dolev, A., Rehevedder, W.K. and Dutton, H.J. (1967) Lipids, <u>2</u>, 28.
- 96. Hodgson, E.K., and Fridovich, I. (1975) Biochemistry, 14, 5299.
- 97. Welton, A.F., and Aust, S.D. (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>49</u>, 661.
- 98. Pryor, W.A. (1966) Free Radicals, McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- 99. Sosnovsky, G., and Rawlinson, D.J., (1971) in Organic Peroxides, (Swern, D., ed.) Vol. II, p. 153, John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- 100. Tappel, A.L. (1961) in Autoxidations and Antioxidants, (Lundberg, W.O., ed.) John Wiley and Sons, p. 325, New York, NY.
- 101. Kaschnitz, R.M., and Hatefi, Y. (1975) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>171</u>, 292.
- 102. Tappel, A.L. (1955) J. Biol. Chem., <u>217</u>, 721.
- 103. Ericksson, C.E., Olsson, P.A., and Svensson, S.G., (1971) J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., <u>43</u>, 442.
- 104. Wills, E.D. (1969) Biochem. J., 113, 315.
- 105. Poyer, J.L., and McCay, P.B. (1971) J. Biol. Chem., 246, 263.
- 106. McKnight, R.C., and Hunter, F.E. (1965) Biochem. Biophys. Acta, <u>98</u>, 640.
- 107. MacDonald, R.C., and Thompson, T.E. (1972) J. Membrane Biol., <u>7</u>, 54.
- 108. Goldberg, L., Smith, J.P., and Martin, L.E. (1957) Nature (London), <u>179</u>, 734.
- 109. Goldberg, L., Martin, L.E., and Batchelor, A. (1962) Biochem. J., <u>83</u>, 291.

- 110. Vladimirov, Y.A., Sharov, A.P., and Malyugin, E.F. (1973) Biofizika, <u>18</u>, 148.
- 111. Noguchi, T., and Nakano, M. (1974) Biochem. Biophys. Acta, <u>368</u>, 446.
- 112. Marzoyev, A.I., Roshchupkin, D.I., and Vladimirov, Y.A. (1970) Biofizika, <u>18</u>, 265.
- 113. Shoaf, A.R. and Steele, R.H. (1974) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., <u>61</u>, 1363.
- 114. Foote, C.S. (1976) in Free Radicals in Solution, (Pryor, W.A., ed.) Academic Press, New York, N.Y.
- 115. Bjorksten, J. (1968) J. Am. Geriat. Soc., 16, 408.
- 116. Verzar, F. (1969) Gerontologia, 15, 233.
- 117. Schneir, M., and Buch, L. (1972) J. Gerontol., 27, 22.
- 118. Comfort, A. (1974) Mech. Ageing Develop., <u>3</u>, 1.
- 119. Glavind, J., and Faber, M. (1966) Int. J. Radiat. Biol., <u>11</u>, 445.
- 120. Melville, D.B., Horner, W.H., and Lubschez, R. (1954) J. Biol. Chem., <u>206</u>, 221.
- 121. Levandoski, N.G., Baker, E.M., and Canham, J.E. (1964) Biochemistry, <u>3</u>, 1465.
- 122. Kluge, H., Rasch, R., Brux, B., and Frunder, H. (1967) Biochem. Biophys. Acta, <u>141</u>, 260.
- 123. O'Brien, P.J., and Little, C. (1969) Can. J. Biochem. Physiol., <u>47</u>, 493.
- 124. Metzer, M.S., and Tomlinson, R.V. (1966) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>115</u>, 226.
- 125. Matsushita, S., Ibuki, F., and Aoki, A. (1963) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>102</u>, 446.
- 126. Siekevitz, P. (1955) J. Biophys. Biochem. Cybol., <u>1</u>, 477.
- 127. Tappel, A.L. (1962) in Vitamins and Hormones: Advances in Research and Applications, (Harris, R.S., ed.) Vol. 20, Academic Press, New York, NY.

- 128. Roels, O. A. (1967) Nutr. Rev. 25, 33.
- 129. Mengel, C. E., and Kann, H. E. (1966) J. Clin. Invest. 45, 1150.
- 130. DiLuzio, N. R. (1967) Prog. Biochem. Pharmacol. 3, 325.
- 131. Mellors, A., and Tappel, A. L. (1966) J. Biol. Chem., 241, 4353.
- 132. Forbes, J. Co., and Taliaferro, I. (1945) Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. <u>59</u>, 27.
- 133. Benedict, R. C., Strange, E. D., and Swift, C. E. (1975) J. Agr. Food. Chem., <u>23</u>, 126.
- 134. Piette, L. H., Bulow, G., and Yamazaki, I. (1964) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, <u>88</u>, 120.
- 135. Slater, T. F., and Riley, P. A. (1966) Nature (London), 209, 151.
- 136. Gardner, H. W. (1975) J. Agr. Food. Chem., 23, 129.
- 137. Ingold, K. U. (1962) in Symposium on Food: Lipids and Their Oxidations, (Schultz, H. W., ed.) p. 93, Avi Publ. Co., Westport, Connecticut.
- 138. May, H. E., and McCay, P. B. (1968) J. Biol. Chem., 243, 2296.
- 139. Baker, N., and Wilson, L. (1966) J. Lipid Res., 7, 341.
- 140. Witting, L. A. (1970) Prog. Chem. Fats Other Lipids, 9, 519.
- 141. Little, C., and O'Brien, P. J. (1968) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 31, 145.
- 142. Zimmerman, D. C. (1966) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. <u>23</u>, 398.
- 143. Zimmerman, D. C., and Vick, B. A. (1970) Plant Physiol.,46, 445.
- 144. Graveland, A. (1970) J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 47, 352.
- 145. Graveland, A. (1970) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 41, 427.
- 146. Galliard, T., and Phillips, D. R. (1972) Biochem. J., 129, 743.
- 147. Chio, K. S., and Tappel, A. L. (1969) Biochemistry, 8, 2827.
- 148. Pokorny, J. and Janicek, G. (1968) Nahrung, 12, 81.
- 149. Zirlin, A. and Karel, M. (1969) J. Food Sci., <u>34</u>, 160.
- 150. Roubal, W. T., and Tappel, A. L. (1966) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. <u>113</u>, 5.

- 151. Roy, R. B., and Karel, M. (1973) J. Food Sci. <u>38</u>, 876.
- 152. Wills, E. D. (1961) Biochem. Pharmacol.,7, 7.
- 153. Pederson, K. O. (1962) Arch. Biochim. Biophys., Suppl. 1, 157.
- 154. Fletcher, B., and Tappel, A. L. (1971) Lipids, 2, 47.
- 155. Chio, KS., and Tappel, A. L. (1969) Biochemistry, 8, 2821.
- 156. Strehler, B. L., Mark, D. D., Mildvan, A.S., and Gee, M. V. (1959) J. Gerontol.,<u>14</u>, 430.
- 157. Porta, E. A., and Hartroft, W. S. (1969) in Pigments in Pathology, (Wolman, M. ed.) p. 191, Academic Press, New York, N. Y.
- 158. Reichel, W. (1968) J. Gerontol., 23, 145.
- 159. Tsen, C. G., and Collier, H. B. (1960) Can. J. Biochem. Physiol., <u>38</u>, 957.
- 160. Myers, D. K., and Levy, L. (1964) Nature (London), <u>204</u>, 1324.
- 161. Blum, H. F. (1964) Photodynamic Action and Diseases Caused by Light, Hafner, New York.
- 162. Placer, Z. A., Noel, D. A., Cushman, L. L., and Johnson, B. C. (1966) Fed. Proc., Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol., <u>25</u>, 302.
- 163. Waldschmidt, M., Monig, H., and Schole, J. (1968) Z. Naturf., 23b, 798.
- 164. Coupland, R. E., MacDougall, J. D. B., Myles, W. S., and McCabe, M. (1969) J. Path. Bact., <u>97</u>, 63.
- 165. Slater, T. F. (1966) Biochem. J., <u>101</u>, 160.
- 166. Ghoshal, A. K., and Recknagel, R. O. (1965) Life Sci., <u>4</u>, 1521.
- 167. Gage, J. C. (1968) Biochem. J., 109, 757.
- 168. Fisher, H. K., Clements, J. A., and Wright, R. R. (1973) Amer. Rev. Resp. Dis., 107, 246.
- 169. Bus, J. S., Aust, S. D., and Gibson, J. E. (1974) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>58</u>, 749.
- 170. Bus, J. S., Aust, S. D., and Gibson, J. E. (1975) Res. Commun. Chem. Path. Pharmacol., <u>11</u>, 31.

- 171. Wills, E. D. (1971) Biochem. J., 123, 983.
- 172. Shires, T. K. (1975) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 171, 695.
- 173. Hatefi, Y., and Hanstein, W.G. (1970) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>138</u>, 73.
- 174. Desai, I. D., Sawant, P. L., and Tappel, A. L. (1964) Biochim. Biophys., Acta, <u>86</u>, 277.
- 175. Björkerud, S. (1963) J. Ultrastruct. Res., supplement number 5.
- 176. Goldfischer, S., Villaverde, H., and Forshirm, R. (1966) J. Histochemical Cytochem., <u>14</u>, 641.
- 177. Pederson, T. C., and Aust, S. D. (1970) Biochem. Pharmacol., <u>19</u>, 2221.
- 178. Williams, C. H., and Kamin, H. (1962) J. Biol. Chem., 237, 587.
- 179. Bartlett, G. R. (1959) J. Biol. Chem., 234, 466.
- 180. Massey, V. (1959) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 34, 255.
- [81. Claussen, J. (1969) Immunochemical Techniques for the Identification and Estimation of Macromolecules, p. 521, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam.
- 182. Welton, A. F., Pederson, T. C., Buege, J. A., and Aust, S. D. (1973) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 54, 161.
- 183. Fairbanks, G., Steck, T. L., and Wallach, D. F. H. (1971) Biochemistry, <u>10</u>, 2606.
- 184. Johnson, J. C., DeBacker, M., and Boezi, J. A. (1971) J. Biol. Chem., <u>246</u>, 1222.
- 185. Maehly, A. C., and Chance, B. (1954) in Methods of Biochemical Analysis, (Glick, D. ed.) Vol. I, p. 357, Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York, N. Y.
- 186. Klebanoff, S. J., Clem, W. H., and Luebke, R. G. (1965) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, <u>117</u>, 63.
- 187. McCord, J. M., and Fridovich, I. (1969) J. Biol. Chem., 244, 6049.
- 188. Nash, T. (1953) Biochem. J., 55, 416.

- 189. Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L., and Randall, R. J. (1967) J. Biol. Chem., <u>193</u>, 265.
- 190. Hochstein, P., Nordenbrand, K., and Ernster, L. (1964) Biochem. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>14</u>, 323.
- 191. Pfeifer, P. M., and McCay, P. B. (1971) J. Biol. Chem., <u>246</u>, 6401.
- 192. Masters, B. S. S., Baron, J., Taylor, W. E., Isaacson, E. I., and LoSpalluto, J. (1971) J. Biol. Chem., 246, 4143.
- 193. Orrennius, S., Berg, A., and Ernster, L. (1969) Eur. J. Biochem., <u>11</u>, 193.
- 194. Conney, A. H. (1967) Pharmacol. Rev., 19, 317.
- 195. Spatz, L., and Strittmatter, P. (1971) Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., U.S.A., <u>68</u>, 1042.
- 196. Mihara, K., and Sato, R. (1972) J. Biochem., 71, 725.
- 197. Phillips, H., and Langdon, R. (1962) J. Biol. Chem., 237, 2652.
- 198. Omura, T., and Takesue, S. (1970) J. Biochem., 67, 249.
- 199. Raftell, M., and Orrenius, S. (1971) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 233, 358.
- 200. Glazer, R. I., Schenleman, J. B., and Sartorelli, A. C. (1971) Mol. Pharmacol., <u>7</u>, 683.
- 201. Ito, A., and Sato, R. (1969) J. Cell. Biol., 40, 179.
- 202. Aust, S. D., Roerig, D. L., and Pederson, T. C. (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>47</u>, 1133.
- 203. Masters, B. B. S., Williams, C. H., Kamin, H. (1967) in Methods in Enzymology (Esterbrook, R.W., and Pullman, M. E., eds.) Vol. X, p. 565, Academic Press, New York, New York.
- 204. Spatz, L., and Strittmatter, P. (1973) J. Biol. Chem., 248, 793.
- 205. Thomas, H. U., Mueller, P. K., and Lyman, R. L. (1968) Science, <u>159</u>, 532.
- 206. May, H. E., Poyer, J. L., and McCay, P. B. (1965) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>19</u>, 166.
- 207. May, H. E., Poyer, J. L., and McCay, P. B. (1966) Fed. Proc., Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol., <u>25</u>, 301.

L

- 208. Fouts, J. R., and Devereux, T. R. (1972) J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., <u>183</u>, 458.
- 209. Wills, E. D., and Rotblat, J. (1964) Int. J. Radiat. Biol., <u>8</u>, 551.
- 210. Hook, G. E. R., Bend, J. R., Hoel, D., Fouts, J. R., and Gram, T. E. (1972) J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 182, 474.
- 211. Conney, A. H., and Burns, J. J. (1972) Science, 178, 576.
- 212. Coon, M. J., Strobel, H. W., and Boyer, R. G. (1973) Drug Met. Disp., <u>1</u>, 92.
- 213. Debey, P., and Balny, C. (1973) Biochemie 55, 329.
- 214. Pederson, T. C., and Aust, S. D. (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>47</u>, 1133.
- 215. Pederson, T. C., and Aust, S. D. (1975) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 385, 232.
- 216. Weiss, J. (1953) Experientia, 9, 61.
- 217. Basolo, F., and Pearson, R. C. (1958) Mechanisms of Inorganic Reactions, P. 337, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, N. Y.
- 218. Tam, B. K., and McCay, P. B. (1970) J. Biol. Chem., 245, 2295.
- 219. Kokatnur, V. R., and Jelling, M. (1941) J. Am. Chem. Soc., 63, 1432.
- 220. Wheeler, D. H. (1932) Oil and Soap, 9, 89.
- 221. Lea, C. H. (1931) Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), B108, 175.
- 222. Lea, C. H. (1946) J. Soc. Chem. Ind., 65, 286.
- 223. Paschke, R. F., and Wheeler, D. H. (1944) Oil and Soap, 21, 52.
- 224. Wagner, C. D., Smith, R. H., and Peters, E. D. (1947) Anal. Chem., <u>19</u>, 976.
- 225. Recknagel, R. O., and Ghoshal, A. K. (1966) Exp. Mol. Path., 5, 108.
- 226. Simon, F. P., Horwitt, M. K., and Gerard, R. W. (1944) J. Biol. Chem., <u>154</u>, 421.
- 227. Tappel, A. L., (1953) Arch. Biochem. Biophys.,44, 378.
- 228. Poyer, L. J., and McCay, P. B. (1971) J. Biol. Chem., 246, 263.

- 229. Garvan, F. L. (1964) in Chelating Agents and Metal Chelates (Dwyer, F. P. J., and Mellor, D. P., eds) p. 310, Academic Press, New York, N. Y.
- 230. Pederson, T. C. (1973) Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan.
- 231. Morrison, M., and Allen, P. Z. (1963) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>13</u>, 490.
- 232. Morrison, M., and Allen, P. Z. (1966) Science, 152, 1626.
- 233. Morrison, M., Allen, P. Z., Bright, J., and Jayasinghe, W. (1965) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>111</u>, 126.
- 234. Morrison, M. (1970) in Methods in Enzymology (Tabor, H. and Tabor, C. W., eds.) Vol. XVIIA, p. 653, Academic Press, New York, N. Y.
- 235. Nachman, R. J., Hubbard, A., and Ferris, B. (1973) J. Biol. Chem.,248, 2928.
- 236. Huber, C. T., and Morrison, M. (1973) Biochemistry, 12, 4274.
- 237. MacLennan, D. H. (1972) Fed. Proc., 31, 411.
- 238. Arntzen, C. J., Vernotte, C., Briantais, J. M., and Armond, P. (1974) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, <u>368</u>, 39.
- 239. Kreibich, G., Hubbard, A., and Sabatini, D. (1974) J. Cell Biol., 60, 616.
- 240. Huber, C. T., Edwards, H. H., and Morrison, M. (1975) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>168</u>, 463.
- 241. Scott, K, M., Knight, V. A., Settlemire, C. T., and Brierley, G. P. (1970) Biochemistry, 9, 714.
- 242. Zborewski, J., and Wojtczak, L. (1963) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, <u>70</u>, 596.
- 243. Saris, N., and Seppala, A. (1970) Acta Chemica Scandivavica, 24, 3697.
- 244. Estrado-O., S., Carabez, A., and Cabeza, A. (1966) Biochemistry, <u>5</u>, 3432.
- 245. Novak, E., and Seifert, J. (1970) Fed. Eur. Biochem. Soc. Lett. 7, 35.

- 246. Rall, J. E., Michel, R., Roche, J., Michel, O., and Varrone, S. (1963) J. Biol. Chem., 238, 1848.
- 247. Hunter, F. E., Scott, A., Hoffsten, P. E., Gebick, J. M., Weinstein, J. and Schneider, A. (1964) J. Biol. Chem., 239, 614.
- 248. Welton, A. F., and Aust, S. D. (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>49</u>, 661.
- 249. Tappel, A. L. (1962) Vitam. Horm., 20, 493.
- 250. Poduslo, J. F., and Braun, P. E. (1975) J. Biol. Chem., 250, 1099.
- 251. Tsai, C. M., Huang, C. C., and Canellakis, E. S. (1973) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, <u>332</u>, 47.
- 252. Kleppe, K. (1966) Biochemistry, 5, 139.
- 253. Morrell, D. B. (1954) Biochem. J., 56, 683.
- 254. Morrison, M., and Bayse, G. S. (1970) Biochemistry, 9, 2995.
- 255. Morris, D. R., and Hager, L. P. (1966) J. Biol. Chem., 241, 1763.
- 256. Nakano, M., Tsutsumi, Y., and Ushijima, Y. (1971) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, <u>252</u>, 335.
- 258. Bayse, G. S., and Morrison, M. (1969) Fed. Proc., Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol., <u>28</u>, 836.
- 259. Thomas, J. A., Morris, D. R., and Hager, L. P. (1970) J. Biol. Chem., 245, 3129.
- 260. Björkstein, F. (1970) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 212, 396.
- 261. Morrison, M., and Bayse, G. (1974) in Oxidases and Related Redox Systems (King, T. E., Mason, H. S., and Morrison, M., eds.) Vol. I, p. 375, University Park Press.
- 262. Polis, D., and Shmukler, H. W. (1957) J. Biol. Chem., 201, 475.
- 263. Groves, M. L. (1960) J. Am. Chem. Soc., 82, 3345.
- 264. Johnston, B., Keele, B. Webb, L., Kessler, D. and Rajagopalan, K. V. (1973) J. Clin. Invest., <u>52</u>, 44a.
- 265. Anabar, M., and Pecht, I. (1964) J. Phys. Chem., 68, 352.
- 266. Fridovich, I. (1972) Acct. Chem. Res., 5, 321.

- 268. Rawls, H. R., and van Santen, P. J. (1970) Anal. N. Y. Acad. Sci., <u>171</u>, 137.
- 269. Allen, R. C. (1975) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 63, 684.
- 270. Krinsky, N. I. (1974) Science, 186, 363.
- 271. Adams, D. R., and Wilkinson, F. (1972) J. Chem. Soc., Faradgy-Trans. 2, 68, 586.
- 272. Ricard, J., and Nari, J. (1967) Biochim, Biophys. Acta, <u>98</u>, 238.
- 273. Odajima, T. (1971) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 132, 321.
- 274. Wills, E. D. (1965) Biochim. Biophys. Acta, <u>98</u>, 238.
- 275. Jones, F. S., and Little, R. B. (1927) J. Exp. Med., <u>45</u>, 319.
- 276. Jones, F. S. (1928) J. Exp. Med., 47, 965.
- 277. Hansen, F. S. (1924) Brit. J. Exp. Path., 5, 271.
- 278. Wright, R. C., and Tramer, J. (1958) J. Dairy Res., 25, 104.
- 279. Portman, A., and Auclair, J. E. (1959) Lait, 39, 147.
- 280. Stadhouders, J., and Veringa, J. A. (1962) Neth. Milk Dairy J., <u>16</u>, 96.
- 281. Jago, G. R., and Morrison, M. (1962) Proc. Soc. Exptl. Biol. Med., <u>111</u>, 585.
- 282. Reiter, B., Pickering, J. D., Oram, J. D., and Pope, G. S. (1963) J. Gen. Microbiol., <u>33</u>, xii.
- 283. Klebanoff, S. J., and Hamon, C. B. (1972) J. Reticuloend. Soc., <u>12</u>, 170.
- 284. Klebanoff, S. J. (1967) J. Exp. Med., <u>126</u>, 1063.
- 285. Belding, M. E., Klebanoff, S. J., and Ray, C. G. (1970) Science, <u>167</u>, 195.
- 286. Jacobs, A. A., Low, I. E., Paul, B. B., Strauss, R. R., and Sbarra, A. J. (1972) Infect. Immun., <u>5</u>, 127.
- 287. Tappel, A. L. (1963) in The Enzymes (Boyer, P. B., Lardy, H., and Myrback, K., eds.) 2nd ed., Vol. 8, p. 275, Academic Press, New York, N. Y.

288. Hamberg, M., and Samuelsson, B. (1967) J. Biol. Chem., 242, 5329.

- 289. Tappel, A. L., Boyer, P. D., and Lundberg, W. O. (1952) J. Biol. Chem., <u>199</u>, 267.
- 290. Esterbrook, R. W., Schenkman, J. B., Cammer, W., Remmer, H., Cooper, D. Y., Narasimkulu, S., and Rosenthal, O. (1966) in Biological and Chemical Aspects of Oxygenases (Block, K., and Hayaishi, O., eds.) p. 153, Mazuzen and Co., Ltd. Tokyo.
- 291. Lu, A. Y.H., and Coon, M. J. (1968) J. Biol. Chem., 243, 1331.
- 292. Rahimtula, A. D., and O'Brien, P. J. (1974) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 60, 440.
- 293. Kadlubar, F. F., Morton, K. C., and Ziegler, D. M. (1973) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., <u>54</u>, 1255.
- 294. Rahimtula, A. D., and O'Brien, P. J. (1975) Biochem. Biophy. Res. Commun., <u>62</u>, 268.
- 295. Yamazaki, I., (1974) in Molecular Mechanism of Oxygen Activation (Hayaishi, O., ed.) p. 552, Academie Press, New York, N. Y.
- 296. O'Brien, P. J., and Rahimtula, A. (1975) J. Agr. Food Chem., <u>23</u>, 154.
- 297. Hrycay, E. G., and O'Brien, P. J. (1971) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>147</u>, 14.
- 298. Levin, W., Lu, A. Y. H. Jacobson, M., Kuntzman, R., Poyer, J. L., and McCay, P. B. (1973) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 158, 842.
- 299. Levin, W., Sernatinger, E., Jacobson, M., and Kuntzman, R. (1972) Science, <u>176</u>, 1341.
- 300. Hrycay, E. G., and O'Brien, P. J. (1971) Arch. Biochem. Biophys., <u>147</u>, 28.
- 301. O'Brien, P. J. (1968) Proceedings of the 9th Japanese Conference on the Biochemistry of Lipids, p. 49, Tokyo, Japan.

н

APPENDIX

APPENDIX

List of Publications

- Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1972) "On the Solubilization of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase from Rat Liver Microsomes with Crude Pancreatic Lipase," Biochem. Biophys. Acta, 286, 433-436.
- Pederson, T. C., Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1973) "The Role of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase in Liver Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation," J. Biol. Chem., 248, 7134-7141.
- Welton, A. F., Pederson, T. C., Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1973) "The Molecular Weight of NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase Isolated by Immunoprecipitation from Detergent-solubilized Rat Liver Microsomes," Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 54, 161-167.
- Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1975) "Comparative Studies of Rat Liver and Lung NADPH-Cytochrome c Reductase," Biochem. Biophys. Acta, 385, 371-379.
- Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1976) "Lactoperoxidase-Catalyzed Lipid Peroxidation of Microsomal and Artificial Membranes," Biochem. Biophys. Acta, 444, 192-200.
- Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1976) "Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation," in "Methods in Enzymology," Academic Press, New York, NY, in review.
- Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1976) "The Role of Iron in the Formation and Decomposition of Lipid Hydroperoxides During NADPH-Dependent Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation," Biochem. Biophys. Acta, in preparation.

Abstracts:

- Buege, J. A., Guergerich, F. P. and Aust, S. D. (1973) "Microsomal Activation of the Parasympathominetic Slaframine," The Pharmacologist, 15, 191.
- Welton, A. F., Pederson, T. C., Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1973) "The Use of Immunoprecipitation to Isolate Detergent-solubilized Microsomal Enzymes," The Pharmacologist, 15, 170.

Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1976) "Lactoperoxidase-promoted Lipid Peroxidation of Microsomal Membranes," Fed. Proc., 35, 1449.

Buege, J. A. and Aust, S. D. (1976) "The Role of Iron in Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation," Fed. Proc., in preparation.

